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Lansi ng, M chigan
Friday, August 1, 2025

9:06 a.m
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JUDGE TALBOT: We're on the record in
M chi gan Public Service case No. U-21859. It's in the
matter of the application of Consuners Energy Conpany
for ex parte approval of certain amendnents to Rate
GPD.

My name is Katherine Talbot. 1'mthe
presiding officer on behalf of the Comm ssion.
Today's date is August 1st, 2025. It's a day set
aside for cross-exam nation.

| guess, let's start with the appearances.
"Il start with the Conpany. Go ahead.

MS. U TVLUGT: Good norning, your Honor.
Anne Ui tvlugt appearing on behalf of Consuners Energy
Conpany.

JUDGE TALBOT: Thank you. And staff?

MR. SINGH: Good norning, your Honor. Amt
Si ngh and Adam Cozort on behalf of staff.

JUDGE TALBOT: Thank you. And the attorney
general ?

MR. WOLLENZI EN:  Good norni ng, your Honor.

Lucas Wbl | enzien on behalf of Attorney General Dana
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Nessel .

JUDGE TALBOT: Thank you. And Data Center
Coal ition?

MR. VI JAYKAR:  Good norning, your Honor.

Ni khil Vijaykar and Travis Murray of the law firm
Keyes & Fox on behalf of the Data Center Coalition.

JUDGE TALBOT: Thank you. And ABATE?

MR. CAMPBELL: Good norning, your Honor,
Steve Canpbell, Clark Hill, PLC, on behalf of the
Associ ati on of Businesses Advocating Tariff Equity.

JUDGE TALBOT: Thank you. And MNSC?

MR. BZDOK: Good norning, your Honor.
Chri st opher Bzdok on behalf of the firm Troposphere
Legal for M chigan Environnental Council, Natural
Resources Defense Counsel, Sierra Club, and Citizens
Utility Board of M chigan.

Al so appearing on behalf of Sierra Club are
Shannon Fi sk and Jacob El kin. Also possibly appearing
today on behalf of CUB is John Liskey, their general
counsel .

JUDGE TALBOT: Thank you. Switch?

MS. BRADER: Good norning, your Honor.

Val eri e Brader of Rivenoak Law G oup, PC, for Swtch,
Ltd. You may al so see Rachel Kent of Sw tch watching

various parts of today's testinony, but she will be
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appearing as an observer and not as counsel. Thank
you.

JUDGE TALBOT: Thank you. And the CEO?

MR. ABRAMS: Good norning, your Honor,
Dani el Abrans appearing on behalf of the Ecol ogy
Center, the Environnmental Law and Policy Center, the
Uni on of Concerned Scientists, and Vote Sol ar,
col l ectively, the Clean Energy Organizations, or CEO
And I'd also like to place an appearance on behal f of
nmy col | eague, Katie Duckworth. Thank you.

JUDGE TALBOT: Great. Thank you. And a
group | have is MEIU? M. Ooms, Ms. Chappelle,

M . Lundgren?

Al right, well, they never indicated that
they had cross, so we are proceeding.

As | just indicated, today is the tinme set
for cross-examnation. Prior to starting, the parties
agreed that they would start with the staff w tnesses.
And so | guess we'll start with David |Isakson? Are we
ready to start, M. Singh?

MR. SINGH. We are, your Honor --

JUDGE TALBOT: Go ahead.

MR. SINGH: -- thank you.

Staff calls its witness, David W |sakson.

JUDGE TALBOT: And go ahead and swear the

VERITEXT LEGAL SOLUTIONS
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W t ness.

DAVI D W | SAKSON
was thereupon called as a witness herein, and after
having first been duly sworn to testify to the truth,
the whole truth and nothing but the truth, was
exam ned and testified as foll ows:

DI RECT EXAM NATI ON

BY MR. SI NGH:

o > O »F

> O >» O > O

Good norning, M. Isakson.

Good nor ni ng.

Woul d you pl ease state your full name for the record?
My name is David W |sakson.

Thank you. For whom do you work and in what capacity?
| work for the M chigan Public Service Conm ssion
staff in the rates and tariffs section of the

regul ated energy division as a departnental analyst.
Thank you. In this case did you cause to be filed the
qualifications and direct testinony of David W

| sakson, consisting of a cover page and 30 pages of
guesti ons and answers?

Yes, | did.

Do you have any changes?

No, | do not.

| f asked those sane questions today, would you give

the same responses?
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MR. SINGH: Your Honor, at this tine,

staff -- excuse ne, let nme back up.

BY MR, SI NGH:

Q And associated with your testinony, did you al so
sponsor exhibits S-1, S-2, and S-3?
Yes, | did.
Okay. In this case did you also cause to be filed the
rebuttal testinony of David W |sakson, consisting of
a cover page and four pages of questions and answers?
Yes, | did.

Q Ckay.

MR. SINGH: Your Honor, at this time, staff
noves to bind in the qualifications and direct
testinony of its witness David W I|sakson, and the
rebuttal testinony of David W |sakson. And would
nove to admt the Exhibits S-1, S-2, S-3 at the
conclusion of this cross-exam nati on.

And at this tinme, | tender the w tness.

JUDGE TALBOT: All right, thank you. Any
obj ection to binding in the prefiled direct and
rebuttal testinony of M. I|sakson?

Ckay. Hearing none, it's bound in.

(Direct and rebuttal testinony of David
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| sakson is bound into the record.)
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In the matter of the application of
CONSUMERS ENERGY COMPANY

for Ex Parte Approval of Certain Amendments
for Rate GPD.

QUALIFICATIONS AND DIRECT TESTIMONY OF
DAVID W. ISAKSON

MICHIGAN PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

June 12, 2025

VERITEXT LEGAL SOLUTIONS



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

289
QUALIFICATIONS AND DIRECT TESTIMONY OF
DAVID W. ISAKSON
U-21859

Please state your name, address, and current position.

My name is David W. Isakson (he/him/his). My business address is 7109 West Saginaw
Hwy, Lansing, Michigan 48917. I am currently employed by the Michigan Public Service
Commission (MPSC or Commission) in the Rates and Tariff Section of the Regulated
Energy Division as a Departmental Analyst.

Would you briefly describe your educational background?

I earned a B.S. in economics from Central Michigan University in 2008. In 2011, I
completed an M.A. in economics at Central Michigan University.

Have you attended any seminars or other training courses?

Yes. In August 2012, I completed the National Association of Regulatory Utility
Commissioners (NARUC) Annual Regulatory Studies Program held at Michigan State
University. I attended the AEIC Advanced Load Research Seminar in October 2012, and
the Electric Cost of Service Study and Electric Utility Pricing courses hosted by EUCI in
July 2019.

What are your responsibilities in your current position?

I participate in rate, tariff amendment, reconciliation, integrated resource plan (IRP),
special contract, ex parte tariff, and other cases under the supervision of the Rates and
Tariff manager. My work involves performing electric rate design, gas rate design, and
tariff analysis. My duties also involve performing research in special topics such as rate
benchmarking, load research, demand response, and the economics of public utility
regulation.

Have you previously presented testimony in cases before the MPSC?

June 12, 2025 Page 1 of 30
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A. Yes, I have presented testimony in the following cases:
MPSC Case Company Work Description
U-17437 DTE Electric Company PLD Transition Plan
U-17643 Consumers Energy Company Gas Rate Design
U-17761 DTE Electric Company PLD Trans. Reconciliation
U-17767 DTE Electric Company Electric Rate Design
U-17999 DTE Gas Company Gas Cost of Service Study
U-18014 DTE Electric Company Electric Rate Design
U-18124 Consumers Energy Company Gas Cost of Service Study
U-18322 Consumers Energy Company Electric Rate Design
U-18424 Consumers Energy Company Gas Cost of Service Study
U-18999 DTE Gas Company Gas Cost of Service Study
U-20102 Consumers Energy Company Electric TCJA Credit A
U-20103 Consumers Energy Company Gas TCJA Credit A
U-20134 Consumers Energy Company Electric Rate Design
U-20165 Consumers Energy Company IRP- Demand Response (DR)
U-20287 Consumers Energy Company Gas TCJA Credit B
U-20286 Consumers Energy Company Electric TCJA Credit B
U-20309 Consumers Energy Company TCJA Calculation C
U-20322 Consumers Energy Company Gas Cost of Service Study
U-20471 DTE Electric Company IRP - DR
U-20479 SEMCO Energy Gas Company ASP Revenue
U-20561 DTE Electric Company Electric Rate Design
U-20642 DTE Gas Company Gas DR
U-20650 Consumers Energy Company Gas DR, Tariffs
U-20940 DTE Gas Company R&D Expense
U-20963 Consumers Energy Company Electric Rate Design
U-21080 Consumers Energy Company DR Reconciliation
U-21148 Consumers Energy Company Renewable Natural Gas
U-21224 Consumers Energy Company Electric Rate Design
U-21297 DTE Electric Company Electric Rate Design
U-21389 Consumers Energy Company Electric Rate Design
U-21540 Michigan Gas Utilities Corporation Gas Cost of Service Study
U-21534 DTE Electric Company Electric Rate Design
U-21585 Consumers Energy Company Electric Rate Design

What is the purpose of your testimony?

A. The purpose of my testimony is to present the Michigan Public Service Commission

(MPSC or the Commission) Staft’s (Staff’s) recommendations regarding Consumers

June 12, 2025

Page 2 of 30
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QUALIFICATIONS AND DIRECT TESTIMONY OF
DAVID W. ISAKSON
U-21859

Energy Company’s (the Company’s) proposed tariff amendments for Rate GPD.

Are you sponsoring any exhibits?

Yes, I am sponsoring the following exhibits:

Exhibits:

S-1,  “Staff’s Proposed Rate GPD Large Load Customer Tariff Provision.”

S-2,  “Electricity Rate Designs for Large Loads: Evolving Practices and
Opportunities.”

S-3,  “February 19, 2025 Order of the Commission in Indiana Cause No: 46097
(Indiana Settlement).”

How is your direct testimony organized?

I first provide background on the instant case by summarizing the Company’s application
and recommended tariff amendment provisions. Next, I discuss financial security and the
risk of stranded assets. Following that discussion I outline activity in other states and
review a recent large load customer tariff in Indiana. Finally, I provide Staff’s specific
recommendations regarding modifications of the Company’s original tariff amendment

proposal.

Background
Why does the Company propose to amend its Rate GPD tariff for data center loads in
excess of 100 MW?
The thesis statement for the Company’s proposed amendment can be found in the direct

testimony of Company witness Laura Connolly: “The Company must put tariff

June 12, 2025 Page 3 of 30
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provisions in place for data centers to protect other customers from stranded assets and
increased costs should the data center load not materialize after resources are committed
to serve them or the load is not in place for as long as expected.”® Staff agrees that
customers with such large load pose a unique risk if that load is prepared for by the
Company but not served for a period of time long enough to adequately recoup costs
from that customer.

What is the major concern with a sudden influx of large load customers?

For any single customer with a load large enough to significantly alter the costs faced by
a utility, the Commission’s concern should be with what will happen if that load
disappears before the customer can pay for its effect on the grid. Load growth, generally
speaking, can be beneficial to the utility and to other customers because it grows the
customer base and revenue generation. If that growth is moderate and diverse (i.e., it
comes from several customer classes or from a variety of economic sectors), then load
coming or going from many smaller customers is less likely to create a sudden, radical
change to the Company’s cost drivers. Diverse load growth also is a hedge against that
growth reversing. For example, in a scenario where load growth is diverse across
economic sectors, if there i1s a downturn in any one sector the entirety of the expected
load growth will not disappear necessarily. On the other hand, if the expected load growth
is both far larger than can be accommodated by the existing grid and from a single
customer or source, then there exists a single point of potential failure that could result in

significant stranded assets. Essentially, concentrating load growth into a single customer

! Direct testimony of Company witness Laura Connolly, page 4, lines 17-20.

June 12, 2025 Page 4 of 30
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or industry increases the sensitivity of that load growth to outside factors. Ultimately
however, customers with demand of the sizes contemplated by the Company’s filing must
be served as a utility customer, but that means protections should be well considered and
put in place to mitigate any resulting spillover effects of serving that load.

Could a data center customer, or any other large load customer, take service on Rate GPD
right now?

Yes. There are currently no provisions in the Company’s tariffs that would prevent a
customer requiring service at such a high level of demand from signing a contract with
the Company and taking service on Rate GPD. The only primary rate that data centers are
explicitly barred from taking service on is the Company’s economic development Rate
LED.? As the Company points out in its application, this means that a customer could
enter service and significantly increase the Company’s current peak demand, and thus
require substantial investments in generation capital, purchase power agreements,
distribution infrastructure, and/or higher transmission expense to serve that load. In this
scenario none of the Company’s proposed protections in the Rate GPD tariff amendment
would apply, potentially leaving other customers on the hook for recovery of the
incremental costs to serve a data center or other large load customer if that customer exits
service before sufficient revenue is generated to offset costs. The protections proposed by
the Company, and modifications to the proposal made by Staff, are intended to mitigate
the unique risk of large load customers by elevating the level of revenue security for

those customers. The purpose of these protections is to not burden the Company or its

2 Company Rate Book, Sheet No. D-78.10.
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customers with stranded costs by holding large load customers to a more stringent
guarantee of revenue generation.

Could the risk of creating stranded assets occur when other customers leave service
before generating revenue sufficient to cover their incremental cost of taking service?
Yes, but for large load customers the major difference is in scale. When a customer on
Rate GPD which has less load than that contemplated by the proposed modifications exits
service, one can expect that eventually the missing capacity burden will be replaced via
regular load growth. Regular load growth here would mean that, while customers may
leave, there are also new customers connecting to the system in their place. On balance,
the effects of load growth (or decline) can be absorbed in base rates gradually because no
single customer is likely to cause a significant shift in costs. Customers with a demand of
100 MW or more are much rarer and thus less likely to be replaced by the load growth of
other customers over the useful life of the assets put in place to serve those larger
customers. This is evidenced by the fact that the Company does not currently serve any
customers of that size. There is also the matter of the diversity of loads over 100 MW
when contemplating load growth that could absorb the capacity and attendant cost of
serving such customers. There are simply not many industries or individual customers
that could require that much capacity all at once, save for data centers. It is also unlikely
that enough smaller customers would desire service to require that same capacity. The
current GPD customer class is made up of customers from a variety of industries, such

that a downturn in any one would not much affect the entire class. On the other hand, if

% Direct Testimony of Company witness Laura Connolly, p 9, lines 15-16.
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interest and investment in artificial intelligence, for example, evaporates after the
necessary infrastructure has been expanded to serve energy to data centers, then there is
no obvious way in which other new customers would appear that would require the new
capacity. This would leave existing customers and/or the utility with a tremendous
amount of capacity that is no longer used and useful. So not only do large load customers
expose the Company’s system to greater costs, but also have a higher risk of stranding
those costs than the existing customer base due to their uniquely high level of demand.
What does the Company specifically propose in its proposed GPD tariff amendment?
The Company proposes to include a project proposal fee, a minimum contract term of 15
years, a minimum billing demand of 80%, a one-time discretionary reduction in contract
capacity, the ability to deny an increase to contract capacity over | MW, a financial
security requirement, an exit fee, and annual reporting made to the Commission. The
proposed tariff amendment would only be available to (or required of) data center
customers with a load of 100 MW or more, and the tariff includes the definition of a data
center customer.

How do the Company’s tariftf amendment proposals compare to the existing Rate GPD
tarift?

First, the Company proposes to set the minimum billing demand at 80% of contract
capacity. Staff notes that current Rate GPD customers are subject to a minimum on-peak
billing demand of 60% of their highest on-peak billing demand of the four preceding

summer months.* This is to say that the Company’s proposal is not entirely new, but

4 Company Rate Book, Sheet D-62.00.
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instead at a higher level than exists by default for current, non-large load customers.
Second, Rate GPD customers are currently required to have a written contract with the
Company for a minimum term of one year. Again, the Company’s proposal is similar to
existing tariff provision, but for a longer term. Third, while the current Rate GPD tariff
does not specifically mention allowing the Company to deny increases in contract
capacity or billing demand, the tariff does state: “A new contract will not be required for
existing customers who increase their demand requirements after initiating service, unless
new or additional facilities are required or service provisions deem it necessary.” > A key
difference between the Company’s proposal for data center customers and the existing
tariff is the ability to deny increases in contracted capacity under certain circumstances.
Existing GPD customers can already increase their contracted capacity (i.e. demand
requirements), but it may require a new contract with the Company if the circumstances
require it.

The remaining proposals concerning the project proposal fee, exit fee, financial
security requirements, and annual reporting are all novel compared to the existing

language for Rate GPD.

Financial Security
How does the Company’s proposed tariff amendment address financial security?

The Company’s application describes financial security as the ability of the Customer to

5 Company Rate Book, Sheet D-69.00, emphasis added.
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be “economically viable to pay the costs” of the investment required to meet their service
needs.® The Company intends to ensure that data center customers are economically
viable by including a provision in its proposed tariff amendment to authorize the
Company, at its discretion, to require additional financial security (i.e., proof of economic
viability) including collateral up to the full projected cost of providing services for the
term of the rate contract. The provision further authorizes the Company to not be limited
by the Company’s other authority to impose financial security requirements from the
customer. The Company did not elaborate on the latter sentiment as to what those other
financial security requirements may be.
What are stranded assets and what risk do they pose to customers and the Company?
Stranded assets are those which are retired or no longer used and useful before the end of
their useful life. For example, if a electric generation plant is retired before the end of its
useful life, it is deemed a stranded asset. Customers are at risk of continuing to pay the
undepreciated cost of the stranded asset in base rates when the asset is no longer used to
provide service at the originally intended level. The utility is at risk if assets become
stranded and its regulator deems the undepreciated costs are imprudent to remain in rates,
so the utility shareholders must carry those costs.

Relevant to the instant case: stranded assets may occur if a large load customer
such as a data center exits service before the assets used to serve them are fully
depreciated and also go unused by the Company or other customers. Unlike a stranded

asset deriving from a retired electric generation plant, which was likely used to serve the

6 Company Application p 5.
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many if not all power supply customers, a stranded asset resulting from a customer with
demand over 100 MW leaving service early (i.e., with remaining undepreciated costs)
may never have benefited other customers. So not only would the now stranded asset no
longer be used and useful, but it may never have been used and useful to the remaining
customer base. This is not to say that load growth from large load customers is always
detrimental just because other customers do not cause those costs. If the large load
customer continues to remain in service long enough, then their revenue contributions
will make all customers no worse off.

Assets may become stranded through no fault of the Company nor the remaining
customers. While this is possible to occur for a customer of any size, those customers
contemplated by the Company in its filing would have an enormous impact on the
customers, the Company, or both if they cause assets to become stranded. The Company
mentions the risk of stranded assets throughout its application and direct testimony, and
proposed provisions such as the exit fee and increased minimum billing demand in order
to mitigate those risks.’ Staff agrees that customers with demands greater than or equal to
100 MW pose a unique and significant risk and that additional protections in the tariff are
warranted to address the risk of stranded assets.

What financial security measures are currently in place and how do they compare to what
was proposed by the Company?
There are no specific financial security measures provisions currently in the tariff for

Rate GPD, which the Company identified as the most competitive rate available for large

! Company Application p 2. Direct testimony of Company witness Laura Connolly, p 11, lines 3-5.
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load customers and data centers. In the Extraordinary Facilities Requirements and
Charges section of the Company’s rate book it states that:

“The Company reserves the right to make special contractual arrangements as to
the provision of necessary Service Facilities, duration of contract, minimum bills,
require upfront deposit and other service conditions, including, but not limited to,
when the customer’s load requirements are of a short-term duration, temporary or
a transient nature, or if in the opinion of the Company, the customer does not have
acceptable credit history or represents an unacceptable credit risk or other reasons
within the sound discretion of the Company.”

The Company’s tariff amendment proposal, which allows the Company to require
collateral for up to the entirety of the projected cost of providing service for the term of
the rate contract, represents the maximum amount of financial security needed to offset
potential stranded assets. This means that all other customers would never be at risk of
paying for a stranded asset, because said asset has already had funds set aside to cover its
costs. Again, the Company’s proposed tariff authorizes collateral up that amount, but
allows complete discretion to the Company in how much collateral it will require for each
individual large load customer.

How should the Commission approach its decisions to approve various tariff provisions
related to financial security?

The Commission is likely to see proposals, including from Staff, between the extremes of
the currently approved tariffs and the authority requested by the Company’s proposed
tariff amendment. Staff notes that the Commission may approve whatever tariff
provisions it deems appropriate to provide a reasonable level of financial security while

balancing against the risk of a creating stranded asset. Those provisions may take the

form of collateral requirements, but may also require the large load customer to regularly
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prove its financial security in other ways, such as via letters of credit or audited financial
reports. Provisions to address financial security may put some burden on large load
customers to ensure their solvency but those provisions are reasonable in order to protect
the Company and other customers from the significant potential cost of stranded assets.
Staff also urges the Commission to consider that, even after it determines appropriate
tariff provisions to ensure financial security of large load customers (e.g., the customer
shows an adequate level of revenue on its balance sheet), market conditions may result in
these customers exiting service before the end of the useful life of assets needed to serve
them. For example, if the market for artificial intelligence in products and services never
matures into a viable, sustainable business model, then a data center customer may exit
service and create a stranded asset due to forces beyond the large load customer, the
Company, and especially all other customers.

Could giving the Company complete authority to determine the financial security and
thus collateral or other requirements to ensure that security lead to complications later?
Yes. As previously explained, the Company’s proposed tariff amendment would give the
Company total authority to require additional financial security up to the total cost to
serve the individual large load customer. This implies that the Company is solely
responsible for determining the risk that a large load customer would pose to all other
customers should the large load customer result in a stranded asset. As discussed later in
this direct testimony, the Commission, via its broad ratemaking authority, determines the
effects of setting rates or approving tariffs that would affect the rates of other customers.

By its ratemaking authority the Commission may also find that the Company’s
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determination of financial security was imprudent and thus the Company is not eligible to
recover stranded asset costs should they materialize. In other words, under the
Company’s proposal it likely desires to both be assured that the new large load customer
will not create a stranded asset and that if it does that the Commission will allow its
recovery. The Company must therefore balance the risk of creating a stranded asset with
the Commission’s likelihood of determining that risk to be prudent. This results in the
Company confronting uncertainty on two fronts: whether or not the customer will create
a stranded asset despite guarantees of financial security and whether or not the
Commission will allow recovery of the stranded asset.

How else can the Commission consider the spectrum of risk associated with guaranteeing
financial security and the risk of a stranded asset?

To restate my previous discussion: the current Rate GPD tariff represents a minimal
amount of financial security and maximal risk for creating a stranded asset. On the other
hand, the Company’s proposed tarift allows for a maximal amount of financial security
and minimal risk to create a stranded asset that would affect consumers, but only at the
discretion of the Company. Any determination by the Company that some amount less
than the full cost to serve the customer should be required as collateral would likely result
in the Company requesting to be allowed to recover that portion of the stranded asset
from other customers.

If the Commission determines that the Company should be authorized to require
additional financial security and be allowed to require collateral up to the project cost of

providing service to the large load customer, then how should current customers be
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assured that the Company will make prudent decisions?

As previously discussed, under the Company’s current tariff amendment proposal it must
balance the two distinct uncertainties of the how likely a stranded asset will be created
and the likelihood of the Commission allowing recovery of that stranded asset. Staff
proposes to simplify the Company’s calculation in exchange for the authority requested in
its tariff amendment: Staff recommends that the Commission not allow any recovery of
stranded assets resulting from a customer’s exit from service under the data center® tariff.
The Company would be free to set an appropriate financial security requirement on the
customer while knowing full well that any downside risk of the customer’s exit from
service will not be recoverable in regulated rates.

What does Staff recommend?

Staft recommends that if the Commission approves the Company’s requested authority to
determine the methods of financial security of potential large load customers (rather than
Staft’s alternative discussed later in this testimony), that such authority be conditional on
the Company taking complete cost responsibility for any resulting stranded assets. This is
appropriate because in return the Company would be given its requested broad authority
to implement to ensure financial security with complete knowledge that it would take on
all of the risk associated with determining its own financial security preferences. Second,
other customers not served under this provision are in no way responsible for the risk of
creating a stranded asset because they are independent of the decisions made by the

Company and large load customer. It is through no fault of non-large load customers for

8or any alternative name the tariff provision is given at the conclusion of this case.
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any potential failures of large load customers to estimate the future of their business
prospects in Michigan, nor the Company’s potential underestimation that the large load
customer will remain in service long enough to pay its costs. As explained in this direct
testimony, the likelihood and the potential impact of stranded assets is unique to large
load customers. As an alternative, the Commission could warn the Company that any
such impact will be subject to a presumption of imprudence if requested, notifying the
Company of the increased burden it would impose on requests for collection of such costs
from other customers that only exist as a result of the Company’s decisions. Staff’s
proposals to modify the Company’s tariff amendment, discussed later in this direct
testimony, will provide alternatives that will balance risks among existing customers,
future large load customers, and the Company, while also allowing some flexibility in
mitigating the risk for all parties. Namely, Staft’s modifications will clearly define
collateral responsibility and methods for providing that collateral, which the Company’s

proposed tariff amendment does not.

Other States
Are other jurisdictions addressing adding data center load to their service territories?
Yes, there are many ongoing regulatory proceedings and conversations occurring across
the country on the topic. Many of the Commission’s peers at other state-level public
utility regulator offices are currently considering tariff amendments and contract
provisions for serving data center load. Those cases contain similar proposals to those

made by the Company, and Staff relied in-part on the records in those cases to develop its
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proposals in the instant case. Like in Michigan, the majority of the data center tariff cases
are currently on-going and have yet to be decided by regulators. However, Staff identified
some examples of final orders or decisions made by out-of-state regulators. Staff Exhibit
S-2 is a policy brief produced by Lawrence Berkeley National Lab (LBNL) titled
“Electricity Rate Designs for Large Loads: Evolving Practices and Opportunities” which
outlines the regulatory activities concerning data center and other large load customer
tariffs across the country.? This short document provides specific examples of tariff and
contract provisions being considered by regulators to address the unique concerns posed
by serving large load customers such as data centers. Notably, two of the examples
highlighted by LBNL are from the neighboring states of Ohio and Indiana. The relevant
case in Ohio still pending before its Commission, but Indiana regulators recently
approved a large load customer tariff.

Staff would like to focus on the Indiana Utility Regulatory Commission’s
approval of a settlement agreement concerning Indiana Michigan Power Company’s
Industrial Power Tariff on February 19, 2025 (Indiana Settlement).? The Indiana
Settlement is a reasonable point of comparison because it is similar to the Company’s
proposal in many respects, is for a neighboring jurisdiction, and applies to a utility that
the MPSC also has jurisdiction over for its Michigan service territory. The Indiana Utility
Regulatory Commission’s order and approved settlement agreement are provided as Staff

Exhibit S-3. Note that the LBNL policy brief was published in January 2025. The Indiana

9 https://emp.lbl.gov/publications/electricity-rate-designs-large-loads
10 https://iurc.portal.in.gov/docketed-case-details/?1d=b8cd5780-0546-ef11-8409-001dd803817¢e
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Settlement is listed as “pending approval” in that document because it was approved
shortly after the policy brief’s publication.

Please summarize the Indiana Settlement and how it compares to the Company’s
proposals.

Unlike the Company’s proposal, the Indiana Settlement does not limit the new provisions
specifically to data centers. Instead, the new provisions of the Indiana Settlement would
apply to any large load customers with a contract capacity greater than or equal to 70MW
at a single site or 150 MW in aggregate. The Company’s proposed tariff amendment
would apply to data centers with demand of 100 MW or greater, neatly within the
minimums set in the Indiana Settlement. The Indiana Settlement requires a contract term
of 12 years, whereas the Company proposes 15 years to better coincide with typical
purchase power agreements of 15 to 25 years.!! Regarding the minimum billing demand,
the Indiana Settlement and the Company’s proposal are both set to 80% of contract
capacity. Both the Company’s proposal and the Indiana Settlement require an exit fee
consisting of the minimum bill amount for the remainder of the customer’s contract. The
Indiana Settlement allows the customer to terminate the contract or reduce its contract
capacity by up to 20% after the first 5 years of the contract term, however, and thus
reduce its exit fee by a maximum of 20%. In this scenario the customer must notify the
utility at least 42 months prior to the beginning of the PJM planning year when the
contract would be terminated. Finally, both the Indiana Settlement and the Company’s

proposal allow for up to a 5 year ramp up period for customers to use while commencing

1 Direct Testimony of Company witness Laura Connolly, p 6, line 6.
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their new service.

One major difference from the Indiana Settlement and the proposal made by the
Company is the customer’s collateral obligation. The Indiana Settlement requires the
customer to provide 2 years-worth of revenue equal to the customers non-fuel bill, which
is recalculated annually. The tariff from the Indiana Settlement allows for exemptions to
the collateral requirement if the customer meets specific credit worthiness measures also
explicitly described in the tariff. The Company’s proposed tariff authorizes the Company
to “require additional financial security from Data Center customers... including other
collateral in amounts up to the projected cost of providing service under the term of the
rate contract.”'? This, in effect, gives the Company near complete autonomy on how to
determine the creditworthiness of and collateral requirements for potential customers, as
previously discussed.

Does the Indiana Settlement include other items not reflected in the approved tariff for
Indiana Michigan Power Company?

Yes, several. The Indiana Settlement, like the Company’s proposal, includes annual
reporting requirements. There are additional components of the Indiana Settlement that
are ancillary to the approved tariff and specific to the discussions occurring in Indiana.
Therefore, Staff will leave out those additional items from this discussion for the sake of

brevity.

12 Company Exhibit A-1, page 3.
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Staff’s Modifications
Q. What does Staff recommend regarding the Company’s proposed tariff amendment?
A. Staff proposes the following revisions to the Company’s proposed amendments to the

tariff for Rate GPD, which I will explain in the remainder of my direct testimony:

1.

Remove the definition of “Data Center” from the tariff and update the availability
of the new provision to apply to all new large load customers with a load of
greater than or equal to 100 MW.

Include a more detailed, transparent definition of the collateral requirement and
acceptable forms of payment. Define the collateral amount to be equal to the exit
fee.

In the event of a large load customer’s request to increase or decrease its
contracted capacity, require the Company to make an ex parte showing of no harm
to other customers.

Require the Company to make every effort to reduce the exit fee with offsetting

revenue.

. Require the large load customer to notify the Company at least 3 years prior to an

expected capacity reduction or exit from service.

Do not allow the customer to reassign its capacity obligation to another entity
without approval by the Company.

At the conclusion of the large load customer’s contract term require the contract
to be extended for 3 years, recurring at every completion of the previous contract

term, with all the tariff provisions remaining in effect, absent action by the

June 12, 2025
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customer.

8. Require the Company to reconcile the project proposal fee to actual costs after
they have been incurred and to return or collect any difference by the end of the
ramp-up period.

9. Require the exit fee to apply during the ramp-up period.

Staff provides its recommended tariff in Exhibit S-1.

Is it appropriate to identify data center customers specifically?

No. The Company argues that data centers represent a unique load due to their size and
also lower relative barriers to entry and exit from service. The Company theorizes that it
would be easier for a data center customer to exit service compared to traditional large
load customers in industries such as manufacturing because data centers do not rely on
extensive supplier networks nor do they employee many workers despite their reliance on
significant energy resources.® Typically, rates or tariff provisions are not targeted to
specific customer end-uses, unless that end-use results in a unique nature of service from
the system, such as for metal melting or electric vehicle charging. The Company correctly
notes, as does this direct testimony, that data centers can be unique in their sheer scale
compared to other load. In this instance it is the size of the customer, rather than the
customer’s product or service produced, that is a unique factor and thus Staff
recommends removing the definition of data centers in the availability section of the
Company’s tariff amendment. Staff agrees that the 100 MW threshold is appropriate,

considering the Company’s direct testimony regarding the inquiries received for data

13 Direct Testimony of Company witness Laura Connolly, p 9, line 21 through p 10, line 12.
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center service. Staff prefers the term used in the Indiana Settlement of “large load
customers” in place of the Company’s use of “Data Center customers.” In the end, any
unexpected exit from service of a customer with 100 MW or more of demand could be
detrimental enough to existing customer rates that the protections and provisions
recommended by Staff (or those the Company proposed with which Staff agrees) should
be applied.
Is the Company’s proposed language regarding financial security appropriate?
No. As I discussed previously the Company would be solely responsible for determining
the amount of collateral and creditworthiness of the customer. That is unfair to both the
large load customer, who would not have an obvious recourse to argue against any such
collateral obligation made by the Company, and to the Company, who would bear the
entire responsibility of guaranteeing that a large load customer had the financial resources
to pay its bills or the exit fee. Staff understands that the Company currently performs
financial analysis of the creditworthiness of many customers, but again, the size of
potential large load customers necessitates further scrutiny because of their potential
impact on rates. Staff recommends that certain language used in the Indiana Settlement
for collateral requirements be used in place of the Company’s second paragraph of the
availability section of its tariff amendment proposal.

Specifically, what must be determined are the collateral amount and acceptable
forms payment of the collateral. Staff recommends that the collateral amount should be
equal to the exit fee. The exit fee as proposed by the Company is the minimum billing

demand (80% of contract capacity) times the remaining months of the customer’s

June 12, 2025 Page 21 of 30

VERITEXT LEGAL SOLUTIONS



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

310
QUALIFICATIONS AND DIRECT TESTIMONY OF
DAVID W. ISAKSON
U-21859

contract. As the customer progresses through the term of their contract the exit fee, and
thus Staff’s proposed collateral amount, will decrease. Under the Company’s proposal it
may choose to require up to the entire cost to serve the customer over the rate contract
term or any lower amount in collateral. Tying the collateral requirement to a known value
obviates the need for the Company to independently determine the financial security of
each customer in order to determine a collateral amount. Setting the collateral
requirement to less than the full expected value of the rate contract term also recognizes
that it is an actual burden born by large load customers in providing the collateral, which
would be unique among GPD customers. Finally, matching the collateral requirement to
the exit fee would match what the customer would already actually pay should they leave
service prematurely, which also represents the minimum amount they would be
responsible for as a continuing customer. Under the Company’s proposal the large load
customer could be required to submit more collateral than they would pay via the exit fee
or continuing as a customer under the minimum requirements of the proposed tariff.
According to the LBNL policy brief a pending settlement agreement for Ohio
Power’s Data Center Tariff requires collateral equal to 50% of the total minimum charges
if the customer does not meet a certain level of credit rating or cannot show an audited
balance sheet greater than 10 times the collateral requirement.* This represents a
compromise position between parties in that out-of-state case, which may appeal to the
Commission as an option for consideration. Therefore, in the alternative, the Commission

may find that a collateral requirement of 4alf the remaining exit fee (i.e., 7.5 years at the

14 Exhibit S-2, p 5.
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beginning of the initial contract term) to be a reasonable compromise between financial
security and impediment to a customer taking service on the proposed Large Load
Customer Provision.

Staff’s recommended collateral requirement would be recalculated annually as it
declines over the term of the contract, with annual repayment to the customer when
appropriate if they choose to pay the collateral in cash. This should make creating the
financial instruments necessary to provide collateral to the Company easier to create
because they would simply follow a schedule predetermined by the rate contract.

Regarding the method of providing the collateral requirement Staff recommends
the following language from the Indiana Settlement be added to the Company’s proposed
tariff amendment:

“The Collateral Requirement must be provided in one or more of the following
forms:

a. A guarantee from the ultimate parent or a corporate affiliate of the Large Load
Customer for the full Collateral Requirement, so long as the guarantor has both
(a) a credit rating of at least A- from S&P and A3 from Moody’s and (b) liquidity
greater than ten times the Collateral Requirement; or

b. A standby irrevocable letter of credit (“Letter of Credit”) for the full Collateral
Requirement. The Letter of Credit must be issued by a U.S. bank or the U.S.
branch of a foreign bank, which is not affiliated with the Large Load Customer or
its guarantor, with a Credit Rating of at least A- from S&P and A3 from Moody’s.
Such security must be issued for a minimum term of 360 days. The Large Load
Customer must cause the renewal or extension of the security for additional
consecutive terms of 360 days or more no later than 30 days prior to each
expiration date of the security. If the security is not renewed or extended as
required herein, the Company will have the right to draw immediately upon the
Letter of Credit and be entitled to hold the amounts so drawn as security. The
Letter of Credit must be in a format acceptable to and approved by the Company;
or

June 12, 2025 Page 23 of 30

VERITEXT LEGAL SOLUTIONS



N -

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

312
QUALIFICATIONS AND DIRECT TESTIMONY OF
DAVID W. ISAKSON
U-21859

c. Cash for the full Collateral Requirement.”*®

How does the language from the Indiana Settlement provide the Company and large load
customer greater transparency than the Company’s proposal?

Relying on the Indiana Settlement language for methods to meet the collateral
requirement gives the customer three options that are explicit in the tariff, and thus not
solely determined by the Company. Option B from the Indiana Settlement has the added
protection of relying on the further scrutiny of the banking system to determine the
creditworthiness of large load customers, a process with which that industry is quite
familiar. The Indiana Settlement, and other large load customer tariff proceedings across
the country, includes some exemptions from the collateral requirement for customers that
can show sufficient revenues or have specific credit ratings themselves. Staff does not
recommend including collateral exemptions such as these because they are less firm
forms of guarantee considering the amount of collateral expected, and would require
additional auditing requirements that could be burdensome to the Company and customer.
Exemptions from collateral obligations also would not treat all large load customers
equally depending on the industry, corporate make-up, or other organizational
dissimilarities. Requiring collateral from all customers under the same metrics proposed
by Staff will reasonably apply the same level of financial security for all large load
customers.

Is 1t appropriate for the Company to have sole discretion to determine when other

customers would be affected by change in a large load customers contracted capacity?

15 Staff Exhibit S-3, page 73.
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No. It is the prerogative of the Commission to make such a determination. Therefore,
Staff recommends that the Company be required to submit an ex parte filing to the
Commission seeking approval to amend a large load customer’s contracted capacity. The
Commission is solely responsible for determining the prudence of utility spending, or in
this case a reduction in revenue, in regard to the effect on customer rates. Any approved
change to contract capacity would also necessarily affect the exit fee and collateral
requirement. Further, the instant case began as an ex parte filing which the Commission
subsequently converted to a fully contested case. Any future ex parte filing regarding
changes to contract capacity of large load customers would likewise be reviewable by
intervenors, who could petition the Commission for conversion to a contested case.
What additional information should be included in the ex parte showing no harm to other
customers when a large load customer reduces its contract capacity or exit service?

The ex parte filing should confirm that other customers will not be made to pay for any
negative effects the reduction in load has on transmission expense. If a large load
customer reduces its contract capacity or exits service, then other customers should not be
burdened with paying for transmission service for the missing load. Staff is not only
concerned about remaining customers having to pay for stranded assets of the retail
utility, but also how stranded investment in the transmission system may be allocated to
the Company or other customers.

Should the Company be required to attempt to mitigate the exit fee as much as prudently
possible?

Yes. While imposing an exit fee and collateral requirement on large load customers will
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work to protect against the possibility of stranded assets or other unrecoverable costs,
there may be ways that the Company can reduce the exit fee by generating offsetting
revenue. For example, if the Company purchased capacity on the wholesale market to
supply the large load customer and that customer exits service, then the Company may be
able to sell that now unused capacity back on the market or use it to serve other new or
existing customers in need of capacity. This would generate revenue that the former large
load customer would not need to contribute and keep existing customers rates unaffected.
When combined with Staff’s next recommendation, the Company should have adequate
time to find potential offsetting revenues to reduce the exit fee.

Why should large load customers be required to notify the Company at least 3 years prior
to a capacity reduction or exit from service?

Because of the large size of the customer, as described variously throughout this direct
testimony, the Company may require significant time to incorporate such large changes to
its load. For example, the Company will have to work to reduce the exit fee for the large
load customer, as well as incorporate the reduction in load into its Integrated Resource
Plan, which is evaluated by the Commission at least every 5 years. Should the Company
recommend or agree to a shorter notification period for reductions in contract capacity
then Staff would consider the Company’s position on a reasonably appropriate timeframe.
Why should a large load customer not be allowed to defer its contract capacity to another
entity without approval by the Company?

Reassigning contract capacity by large load customers to, for example, a subsidiary

company or business partner, could potentially negate the protections offered by the
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collateral and exit fee provisions of the proposed tariff. Staff recommends that if the
Company is notified and allows for reassigning a large load customers contract capacity
that all the same provisions in the proposed tariff amendment continue to apply to the
new entity, and that the contract provisions be required to be reexamined for
appropriateness and applicability to the new assignee, with changes allowed for as
necessary.

Why should the large load customer’s contract be extended for 3 years at its conclusion
and every 3 years after absent customer action?

This is to ensure that the provisions detailed in Staft’s proposed modifications of the
Company’s proposed tariff amendment continue to provide protections to other
customers. At the conclusion of the large load customer’s initial 15 year contract any
change to contract capacity of the size contemplated by the tariff amendment would still
create significant effects on the Company’s planning process. The 3-year extension would
keep in place the aforementioned notification requirement. The truncated contract term
would also maintain a lower exit fee and collateral requirement for the customer (i.e.
maximum 3 years of the minimum bill for the exit fee and collateral requirement.)
Given that the exit fee and collateral requirement would otherwise expire by the terms of
the initial contract, and theoretically the initial costs of serving the customer would be
covered thereby, the Commission may consider the relative reasonableness of requiring
collateral and exit fees for evergreen contract extensions in that context.

Why should the Company be required to reconcile the project proposal fee to actual

costs?
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By the Company’s admission, the project proposal fee is intended to allow the Company
to “focus on those prospective customers that are most serious about investing in
Michigan.”® Given the number and type of requests received by the Company
concerning new data center load it is appropriate to create a minor barrier to entry in
order to filter down the pool of applications. Also given the Company’s testimony that the
project proposal fee would be based on estimated costs it is appropriate to reconcile to
actual costs when they become known. Staft’s recommendation ensures that the
Company, and thus its existing customers, do not pay for speculative work that would not
reasonably lead to actual customers taking service, but also that those eventual customers
are charged appropriately for the work they commissioned from the Company. Because
the project proposal fee is at least in part intended to deter spurious requests it is
reasonable to only allow the reconciliation to take place for large load customers that
eventually take service from the Company. For this reason Staff recommends that the
reconciliation of the project proposal fee to actual costs should take place after the large
load customer has signed its contract with the Company.

Why should the exit fee apply during the ramp up period?

The Company’s proposed tariff amendment does not clarify whether the exit fee would
apply during the ramp up period. However, during the ramp up period the Company will
make investments necessary to serve the customer when the contract term begins. The
purpose of the exit fee is to shelter other customers from outlays made by the Company

for load that does not materialize, so it stands to reason that the exit fee should apply any

16 Direct Testimony of Company witness Laura Connolly, p 8, lines 18-19.
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time the Company is investing to serve the large load customer in the future. If Staft’s
recommendation to require the Company to mitigate the exit fee as much as possible is
approved, then applying the exit fee to the ramp up period could prevent it from

becoming onerous to the large load customer.

Recommendations Summary

Please summarize your recommendations.

Staff recommends the Commission approve Staff’s modifications to the Company’s Rate
GPD tariff amendment as explained in this direct testimony and found in Staff Exhibit S-
1. If the Commission rejects Staff’s modifications regarding collateral requirements and
approves the Company’s provision authorizing the Company to require collateral in
amounts up to the projected total cost of providing service to the customer for the term of
the rate contract, then Staff recommends that the Company also be required to agree that
any stranded costs resulting from large load customers exiting service shall not be
requested to be recovered from other customers in rates, or strongly caution the Company
would need to overcome a presumption of imprudence to recover the costs.

Why are Staff’s recommendations appropriate?

Staft’s modifications to the Company’s proposed tariff amendment for Rate GPD would
increase the certainty of generating sufficient revenue from large load customers to keep
other customers unaffected by any potential loss of load. Many of the changes to the tariff
are simply more stringent standards than already exist, such as higher minimum billing

demand. It is important to remember that large load customers that continue to remain in
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service will not actually pay higher costs than their peers on Rate GPD due to these
proposed provisions. Rather, because those customers represent a higher level of risk and
impact on Company costs, it is appropriate to require more certainty of their revenue.
Requiring a long contract term, collateral, and exit fee would give extra assurance that the
Company could recover enough revenue to mitigate rate impacts for other customers.
Creating notification requirements allows the Company to plan for changes in service.
Allowing the large load customer to meet collateral requirements in multiple ways and
requiring the Company to keep the exit fee low provides a reasonable amount of
flexibility in taking service under the new provision.

Does this conclude your direct testimony?

A. Yes, it does.

June 12, 2025 Page 30 of 30

VERITEXT LEGAL SOLUTIONS



319

STATE OF MICHIGAN

BEFORE THE MICHIGAN PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

*kkk

Case No. U-21859

In the matter of the application of
CONSUMERS ENERGY COMPANY

for Ex Parte Approval of Certain Amendments
for Rate GPD.

REBUTTAL TESTIMONY OF
DAVID W. ISAKSON

MICHIGAN PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

July 9, 2025

VERITEXT LEGAL SOLUTIONS



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

320
REBUTTAL TESTIMONY OF
DAVID W. ISAKSON
U-21859

Are you the same David W. Isakson that filed direct testimony on behalf of the Michigan
Public Service Commission (MPSC) Staff (Staff) in the instant case?

Yes, I am.

What is the purpose of your rebuttal testimony?

My rebuttal testimony will address certain proposals made by the Data Center Coalition
(DCC), (MNSC), and the Attorney General (AG). In the following discussion I will refer
to the Company’s proposed Data Center provision, and the intervenors’ recommendations
about said provision, as the large load customer (LLC) provision, which I described in
my direct testimony.

What is Staft’s response to DCC witness Justin Bieber’s analysis of transmission revenue
and transmission revenue requirement?!

Staff appreciates that DCC took the time to analyze how revenue from customers may go
towards offsetting that individual customer’s costs by focusing on transmission.
However, like with customers on any rate it is difficult to impossible to directly tie one
customer with their specific cost to serve. The whole point of the cost of service study
exercise is to allocate system costs to customer classes, and not to individual customers.
Imprecise rates (i.e. not tailored to the individual) are a good thing, because it causes
rates to change gradually over time. This saves the customer from financing each and
every upgrade, replacement, or change to their specific service as they occur. Customers
making contributions in aid of construction (CIAC) must pay directly for their costs for

line extensions, but that is only after an allowance is applied. That allowance is also

! Direct Testimony of DCC witness Bieber, p 23, line 10 through p 32, line 4.
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imprecise because it essentially assumes that it will take some close-enough amount of
time for the customer to generate revenue to be on-par with similar customers already
paying base rates. Staff’s discussion here is to highlight that DCC’s analysis does not
imply that there is a right answer for how much revenue certainty should be required
from LLCs, but rather that there is a scale on which the Commission should judge the
riskiness of customers requiring so much investment with how much revenue they should
be guaranteed to provide. Rather than quibble with the details of DCC’s analysis, Staff
instead reminds the Commission that there are many levers on which it can lean to
increase or decrease the amount of risk faced by existing customers if LLC load fails to
remain in service. In fact, DCC witness Bieber agrees that it is not necessary for the
Company to recover the entire cost of incremental investment through minimum billing
demand.? Instead the Commission’s focus should be weighing the risk of load loss with a
reasonable amount of revenue guarantee.

Is it appropriate to limit the LLC provision based on load factor?

No. AG witness Michael Deupree® and MNSC witness Caroline Palmer* both propose to
limit the availability of the Company’s proposed tariff amendment to customers with a
load factor of at least 80% and 75%, respectively. As explained by Staff in my direct
testimony, the new tariff provision should be aimed at customers with very large, new

load, which is what makes them unique customers.’ While a data center customer may

? Direct Testimony of DCC witness Bieber, p 32, lines 5-9.

3 Direct Testimony of AG witness Deupree, p 12, line 16 through p 13, line 2.
* Direct Testimony of MNSC witness Palmer, p 9, lines 7-13.

3 Direct Testimony of Staff witness Isakson, p 20, line 8 through p 21, line 6.
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generally have a higher load factor, it is not necessarily what sets them apart as a type of
customer that requires greater financial scrutiny and revenue security. MNSC witness
Palmer was confused as to why the Company proposed a minimum billing demand of
80% but also not require a minimum load factor for the LLC provision.® The purpose of
the higher minimum billing demand is to guarantee extra revenue certainty from the LLC,
and not necessarily to match the customer’s actual load factor. Indeed, if the LLC’s load
factor is expected to be 90%’, then adding a minimum requirement to the provision is not
necessary and may disqualify LLCs that should take service on the provision, thus
enabling the customer protections desired by the Company, Staff, and intervenors. For
this reason, the availability of the Company’s proposed tariff provision should not be
limited by load factor.

AG witness Deupree recommends that the Company define its proposed ramp up period
and to include in that definition that the ramp up period conclude “when the data center
customer in question’s monthly peak demand equals or is greater than the minimum
billing demand under its contract with the Company.”® How may this proposal become
problematic?

If the LLC’s demand never fully reaches its initial contract capacity, then the customer
could remain in the ramp up period indefinitely. If the LLC never reaches its minimum
billing demand then it will never be subject to the various safeguards for other customers

advocated for by the Company, Staff, and the AG. In this hypothetical that means that the

® Direct Testimony of MNSC witness Palmer, p 12, lines 8-10.
7 Direct Testimony of MNSC witness Palmer, p 12, lines 10-12.
8 Direct Testimony of AG witness Deupree, p 14, lines 4-6.
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initial request for contract capacity was incorrect and should therefore be adjusted in
order for the Company to be able to adequately plan for the correct amount of load. For
this reason, the Commission should reject the AG’s proposal regarding the ramp-up
period and instead approve the Company’s proposal to negotiate the ramp-up period with
the customer via its rate contract for a maximum of 5 years. Staff does not take issue with
the AG’s recommendation to further define the term “ramp up period” as long as its
conclusion is not defined according to the AG’s other recommendation.

Q. Does this conclude your rebuttal testimony?

A. Yes, it does.
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JUDGE TALBOT: | guess, let's start with
the attorney general.
Go ahead, M. Wl | enzien.
MR. WOLLENZI EN:  Thank you, your Honor.
That sounded great to ne. Thank you.
CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MR. WOLLENZI EN
Q Good norning, M. Isakson.
A Good nor ni ng.
Q Nice to neet you. So | wanted to start off just
talking a little bit briefly about your background.
You worked with the M chigan Public Service
Conmm ssion, correct?
Yes.
And about how | ong have you been working there?

Begi nning the 2011, so about 14 years.

o » O P

Okay, 14 years. And fromyour résune it |ooks |ike

you wor ked on a number of Consuners Energies' electric

rate cases, right?

That's correct.

And your role in those cases has at tines involved
electric rate design, correct?

Yes.

And it's fair to say, |'massum ng fromthat

experi ence, that you have a good degree of famliarity
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with contours of Consuners Energy's custoner classes;
is that fair to say?

Yes.

And |'m al so assum ng that you have a good baseline
under st andi ng of how accounting and all ocati on works
in the context of rate cases, right?

| would say | have a basic understanding, but I'm not
the staff usual cost -- electric cost of service

W t ness.

Okay. That's good to know. But you have sone idea of
how the rate base is cal cul ated, correct?

Yes.

And sonme understandi ng of how a revenue requirenent,
as it's referred to, is calculated, right?

Yes.

And do you have sonme understanding of, for exanple,
the cost of capital considerations involved in

cal cul ating rate base?

Yes, | do. Again, I'mnot the usual staff cost of
capital witness, but | do have a famliarity with the
t opi c.

You have the ability to | ook at the exhibits in
electric rate case and basically understand how a rate
base calculation fits together; is that fair to say?

Yes.
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Great, thank you. And you have -- you have two
degrees in economcs, right?

That's correct.

What degrees do you have any econom cs?

| have an undergraduate degree which is a bachel or of
science in business adm nistration in econom cs and a
master of arts in econoni cs.

And when did -- when did you get your nasters in
econom cs?

2011.

2011, okay. And |I'm assum ng you' ve reviewed a
substantial portion of the testinony and exhibits
filed in this case to date; is that fair to say?
Yes.

OCkay, great. You have access to the SharePoint for
this hearing in front of you?

Yes, | do.

At this tinme, could you open that up and go to --
well, first of all, do you see the subfol der | abel ed
"attorney general"?

| do.

And in there, there's a subfolder |abeled "Isakson
hearing material s"; are you seeing that?

Yes, | do.

Okay, great. As you click into that, you'll see sone
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material; do you see an item | abeled Exhibit AG 1-207?
Yes, | do.

Great. Okay. Could you open that up for ne rea

qui ck?

Yes, one nonent, please. OCkay, | have it open.

And if you scroll down, this is -- the first set of --
wel |, strike that.

This is the set of staff discovery
responses, the attorney general's first set of
di scovery requests to staff. |Is this |looking famliar
to you?
Yes, it is.
And you're listed as the respondent, | believe, on al
of these responses; is that -- or the responding
witness on all these O responses; is that accurate?
Yes, | am
Okay. And to your know edge and understandi ng, do you
have any different responses on these requests than
were included in this docunent?
No, | do not.
Ckay.

MR. WOLLENZIEN: At this tinme, I'd like to
nove to admt the docunents we're |ooking at here,
| abel ed Exhi bit AG 1.20, MPSC staff's first discovery

response to AG
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o > O P

JUDGE TALBOT: Sorry. Any objection to the
adm ssion of AG 1.207?

Al right, hearing none, it's admtted.

EXH BIT AG 1. 20 ADM TTED

9:16 a. m

JUDGE TALBOT: Go ahead.

MR. WOLLENZI EN: COkay, great. 1'd like to
nove on, if you go back to the |Isakson hearing
subfolder is a docunent entitled AG 1.21; are you
seei ng that.

Yes, | am

Okay, can you click on that for nme?

Sur e.

And this is a docunent -- this is staff's responses to
the attorney general's second set of discovery
requests to staff. |Is this looking famliar to you?
Yes, it is.

And for part of these responses, you are listed as the
responding witness; is that correct?

Yes, for a portion of the responses.

Okay. And | would ask -- and a portion of these
responses M. Nicholas Revere was listed as the
responding witness; is that correct?

Yes.

MR. WOLLENZIEN: And | would ask the staff

VERITEXT LEGAL SOLUTIONS




o o0 b~ W DN

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

329

counsel to stipulate as discussed, that it was
agreed M. Revere's discovery responses could be
admtted in lieu of me taking -- or in lieu of the
attorney general taking M. Revere's cross today; is
that accurate to say?

MR. SINGH: That is accurate.

MR. WOLLENZI EN: Great, thank you.

At this tinme | would |like to nove to adm t
this docunent |abeled Exhibit AG 1.21, MPSC staff's
second di scovery response to AG

JUDGE TALBOT: All right, any objection to
the adm ssion of Exhibit 1.21 -- | should say AG 1.21?

Al'l right, hearing none, it's admtted.

Thank you.

EXH BIT AG 1. 21 ADM TTED

9:18 a.m

MR. WOLLENZI EN:  Okay, thank you, your
Honor .

BY MR. WOLLENZI EN

Q

In addition to reviewi ng the testinony of other
witnesses in this matter, |sakson, did you also review
sone tariff provisions fromother jurisdictions
related to | arge | oad custoners and data centers?

Yes, | did.

And | believe you referenced in your testinony a
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tariff provision or tariff provisions affective for
| ndi ana M chi gan Power Conpany; does that sound
famliar?

Yes.

And so did you review the terns included in that, in
those tariff provisions?

Yes, | did.

Okay. And your testinmony also includes sonme

di scussion at the tinme pending, Ohio Power Conpany
tariff related to data centers; is that correct?
Yes, that's correct.

And since filing your direct and rebuttal testinony,
have you since reviewed the effective version of Ohio
Power Conpany's data center tariff provisions?

| have not.

Okay. So were you present for the cross-exam of
Conpany Wtness Connolly on Tuesday?

Yes, | was.

And one of the topics that was di scussed by

Ms. Connolly was the size of custonmers currently
taki ng service on a Rate GPD; do you recall that?
Yes, | do.

And it was discussed that nost Rate GPD custoners
represent |oad sizes of under 1 negawatt. Is that

your understanding of the size of those custonmers?
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Yes, it is.

And al so to ny understandi ng, the | argest custoners of
Rate GPD currently are typically smaller than 30
megawatts; does that sound about right?

Yes.

Okay. And one of the topics in consideration in this
case is negawatt threshold for new custoners taking
service under Rate GPD, right?

Correct.

And just for reference, what is Rate GPD?

Rate GPD is the Conpany's primary rate for usually the
| ar gest custoners.

And just to be clear, do |arge custoners al so take
servi ce under rate LED?

Yes, that's al so true.

Okay. And you reviewed the Conmpany's application
material in this case, correct?

Yes.

And so their initial application material, the
Conpany's initial application material, proposed a
100- negawatt floor for custonmers who'd be eligible for
Its proposed rate anmendnents; is that correct?

Yes.

And it's been discussed in this case that sone

expected data center custoners would present | oad
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sizes significantly higher than 100 negawatts, right?

Yes.
And to be clear, I'mrepresenting data center
custonmers -- the Conpany's initial application

referred to data center custoners; is that accurate to
say?

Yes, they do.

Great. And so | know I just asked you a second ago
but sonme of the custonmers that have been proposed that
m ght take service here, they exceed 100 negawatts,
right?

Yes, that's nmy understandi ng.

And you're aware of sonme nodeling perfornmed by the
party DCC in this case, correct?

Yes, that's correct.

And that would be, for exanple, in the direct
testinony of UCC Wtness Bieber; are you famliar with
t hat ?

Yes, | am

Okay. And so in sonme of ECC s nodeling they nmake
reference to 500 negawatt-sized custoners, correct?

| don't have their testinony open, but that's what |

recall, yes.
Okay. | believe it's in the SharePoint, if you want
to pull it up?
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Is it in the SharePoint folder "lsakson hearing
material"?

Maybe -- oh, maybe not. I'Il drop it in right now I
apol ogi ze for that, that's my m stake.

Okay.

Okay. | just dropped it in. |If you refresh the page
it should show up at the top

Yes, | just got it.

Very good. And | believe you referenced sone of
Wtness Bieber's nodeling in your rebuttal testinony;
does that sound famliar?

Yes, that's correct.

Okay. So to your understandi ng some of DCC s nodeling
makes reference to 500-megawatt custoners; is that
correct?

Yes.

Thank you. And so based on what ny understanding is
of the current typical custoner sizes on Rate GPD, 500
megawatts woul d be nmore than ten tines the current

| ar gest custoners taking service on Rate GPD; is that
fair to say?

Yes.

OCkay. And to your know edge, would a 500 negawatt
custonmer also be larger than Consuners current | argest

i ndustrial or commercial custoner?
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Yes.

Okay. And in your experience, have you ever been
aware of a 500 negawatt custonmer comng online to a
consunmer service territory?

Sorry, not to ny know edge no.

Okay. So we're tal king about unprecedented addition
to their grid, right?

Yes.

Okay. And the Conpany has provided a |ist of

i nquiries frompotential customers in discovery in
this case, right? That would take service under the
amended rate they' re discussing?

Yes, that's correct.

Okay. And that inquiry list, to your recollection and
under st andi ng, includes custoners with expected | oads
of one gigawatt or |arger, correct?

Yes, | recall that.

Woul d you expect a single custoner, other than a data
center, to add a gigawatt of |oad to Consuners service
territory over the next five years?

| don't know, sorry.

OCkay. And so we're tal king about these additions to
the grid. The Conpany woul d presumably seek to build
out generation resources to neet sone substanti al

portion of that demand, right?
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That's a possibility, but I can't say for certain.
Q Do you think the Conmpany wouldn't seek to build out
generation resources to accommodate new | arge-| oad

custoners?

A. | don't know what the Conpany's plans would be to

accommodat e the custoners, exactly.

Q So if they brought a gigawatt customer you think they
woul dn't try to build generation resources to neet
sonme of that demand?

MR. SINGH: Your Honor, |I'm going to object
this has been asked and answered.

MR. WOLLENZI EN:  Ckay.

MR. SINGH: The wi tness says he doesn't
Know.

JUDGE TALBOT: Response?

MR. WOLLENZIEN: That's fine.

JUDGE TALBOT: All right, so you're
wi t hdrawi ng? Movi ng on?

MR. WOLLENZI EN: ["11 withdraw t hat
gquestion. Your Honor.

JUDGE TALBOT: Okay, thank you.

BY MR. WOLLENZI EN

Q Wtness |Isakson, are you willing to entertain for the
sake of theory at least, the inplications of the

Conpany buil di ng out generation to neet sone portion
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of this addition we've been discussing to their grid?
Are you willing to discuss what it would

| ook like if Consuners sought to build out sone

generation to neet the unprecedented | oads we're

tal ki ng about coming onto their service territory?

MR. SINGH: Your Honor, |I'm concerned here
as well. The question seens to be asking if ny
witness is willing to speculate. And we don't know

how far afield my witness is going to be asked to
specul ate. |'mnot sure what the guardrails are here.

JUDGE TALBOT: It is a little speculative,
and maybe | could just reframe it a little bit.
Assum ng that the Conpany had to build out generation,
woul d you be able to nmaybe address what that m ght
| ook like? 1If not, say so.
Like my attorney just said, | think it depends on how
far we get into the weeds. | think | can, but just be
prepared for nme to say | don't know if and when that
cones up. So the answer is --

JUDGE TALBOT: All right.

THE W TNESS: Yes.

JUDGE TALBOT: Okay, if we nonitor it,
M. Singh, do you have -- object to proceedi ng?

MR. SINGH: No, your Honor. So |long as

it's nonitored.
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JUDGE TALBOT: All right. Well I'mright
here.

Go ahead, M. Wbl enzien.

BY MR. WOLLENZI EN

Q Yeah. And let ne -- let ne just -- well, a couple
gquestions. There may be a sinpler way to frame this
up.

First of all, in your experience do
electric utilities build generation resources to
accommodat e expected demands?

Yes.

Okay. And in the context of a rate case, building out
generation resources is accounted, at least in part,
as an inclusion of capital expenditures as part of
rate base, correct?

Yes.

Q Okay. And with that inclusion of capital expenditures
I's also included an expected return on capital rel ated
to that capital expenditure, correct?

Yes.

And so with a greater amount of capital expenditure
you woul d expect the Conpany to al so request, or you
woul d expect a Conpany to al so request a greater

return on equity to its investors; is that correct?

A. No.
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Vhy ?
So your question was, with nore capital investnment in
generation resources, say, would |I expect the Conpany
to request a higher rate of equity?
No. And I'Il reframe this.

Wth a higher amount of capital
expendi tures included in rate base you would al so
expect a greater anount overall to be requested to
return to investors; is that correct?
Yes.
Okay. To the extent that Consunmers Energy has ot her
custonmers representing notably |arge | oads, sone of
those custoners take service under special contracts;
am | understanding that correctly?
I"'mnot entirely sure. | haven't processed or seen a

speci al contract for Consumers Energy specifically.

Al t hough that doesn't nmean that they don't. |'mjust
not awar e.
Okay. We're tal king about -- well, we tal ked a m nute

ago about a potential 500-nmegawatt custoner being
added to Consuners Energy's service territory, right?
Yes, correct.

And so for a bit of reference here, do you know what
t he expected power demand of a 500- megawatt custoner

woul d |1 ook |ike conpared to, say, the total retai
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demand of a netropolitan area?
Are you asking if a 500-negawatt custoner is
equivalent to like a small city?
Yes.
| think that's reasonable to say, yes.
Okay. Well, can you go to the SharePoint back into
the | sakson hearing materials fol der?
Yes.
And there's included there in Exhibits AG 1.22; do you
see that?
Yes, | do.
Okay. And you know what, also, I will drop the link
to this in the chat so it's clear you can access it
froma URL, so give ne just one second.

Are you seeing this in the chat,
M. |sakson?
One nonent, please. | have the Exhibit open, as well,
and yes, | see the link you sent.
Okay. And if you'd also just click on that link to
make sure it actually connects you to the article
you're | ooking at in the exhibit.
Yes, that appears to be the sane.
Okay, great. So if we're looking at this article and
we scroll down, you can cone in after the search, if

you'd like. There's a point in this article where it
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says, "A gigawatt-sized data center using 85 percent
of its peak demand over the course of a year wll
consunme nearly as nmuch energy as over 700,000 U.S.
households or 1.8 mllion people; are you seeing that?
Yes, | see that.

If you go down a coupl e paragraphs it says, "A

gi gawat t - si zed data center canpus running at even the

| ower end of peak demand is still roughly conparable
to about 330,000 households" -- oh, I'msorry. [|I'm
sorry.

If you scroll down a couple paragraphs from
the section | just read, it says, "A gigawatt-size
data center canpus running at even the | ower end of
peak demand is still roughly conparable to about
330, 000 household, or a city of about 800, 000 peopl e,
about the popul ation of San Francisco"; do you see
that as well?

Yes, | do.

So for reference, to ny understanding the popul ation
of the City of Detroit is sonething Iike 650,000
peopl e; does that sound about right?

Yes, it does.

Ckay. And Grand Rapids, ny understanding that's the
second-largest city in the State of Mchigan; is that

correct?
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A

| don't know for certain.
Okay, sure. Sorry. I'msorry, if you don't know al
t he exact popul ation nunbers for all the cities in the
state, maybe that's too nuch to assunme. So thank you
for that.

By it's ny understanding that the City of
Grand Rapids is about 200,000 people, is that
sonething you're famliar with by any chance?
That sounds |ike a reasonable estimte, yes.
So the addition of just one or two of these |arge
custoners that we're tal king about would eclipse the
power demand of the state's |largest cities; am!|
under standing that correctly?
Yes, | think that's reasonable.
So the Conpany, as well as several intervenors in this
case, have discussed aspects of data center operations
that distinguish themfromtraditional industrial or
commerci al custonmers, right?
Yes.
Okay. And once again, you were present for the
cross-exam nation of Wtness Connolly on Tuesday,
ri ght?
Yes, | was.
And there was this -- sone discussion with Wtness

Connol ly concerning the fact that data center
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custoners do not provide for econom c devel opnent in
the way that traditional industrial customers do; do
you recall that?

Yes, | do.

And this was al so nmentioned to sone degree -- you know
what, strike that.

G ve nme one second. Just want to meke sure
| have this reference up so | don't m sstate anything
here.

You have, for exanple, in the hearing
folder is the application and direct testinony of
Wtness Connolly. Can you open that up for a second,
I f you don't m nd?

Yes, | have it open.

Do you have it open?

Yes, | do.

Okay, | just want to nmake sure | get the reference
here correct. So if you go to page 4 of her
testinmony, line 12, Wtness Connolly states in direct,
"They bring initial job growth in the devel opnent
stage while enploying a smaller"” -- strike that.

Sorry. 1'll start fromthe top here.

She says at page 4, line 12, "They bring
initial job growth in the devel opnent stage while

enpl oying a small nunber of permanent |ong-term
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enpl oyees as conpared to a simlarly-sized industri al
custonmer”; do you see that?

Yes, | do.

And is that correct?

JUDGE TALBOT: Hold on one second. Wuld
you identify that again, M. Wllenzien? The docunent
you just read from

MR. WOLLENZI EN: Absolutely. This is the
Conmpany's application and direct testinony of Wtness
Connolly. And it's page --

JUDGE TALBOT: Got it.

MR. WOLLENZIEN: And |I'm sorry, your Honor,
for speaking over you, but it's page 4, line 12
t hrough 14.

JUDGE TALBOT: Thank you

BY MR. WOLLENZI EN

Q

So Wtness |sakson, and | apologize if |I'm asking you
the same question twice, | just don't quite renmenber.
Is that quote | just read correct to your
under st andi ng?

Yes, it is.

OCkay, great. And | nmentioned this a m nute ago, but
this was al so a subject of discussion during

Ms. Connolly's cross-exam nation on Tuesday, right?

Yes, | believe so.
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Okay. And there was al so discussion on Tuesday
concerning the fact that the Conpany's rate LED

prohi bited service on that rate for new data center
custoners; are you famliar with that?

Yes, | am

And what is rate LED?

That's the Conpany's | arge econom c devel opnent rate.
Okay. To your understanding is the prohibition on new
data center custoners under rate LED consistent with
the fact that such custonmers aren't seen as bringing
in the sane type of econom c devel opnent as ot her
custonmers who are eligible for rate LED?

| don't know the answer to that question. | am not
conpletely famliar with the reason why data centers
aren't allowed on that rate. | just know the

Commi ssi on nmade that decision sonetine |ast year.
Okay. And there's also been sonme testinmony -- well,
actually let's ook right here. If you still have

open Ms. Connolly's direct testinony, are you | ooking

at that?
Yes, | am
Ckay. So right above line 12 -- lines 11 through 12

on page 4 she testified that, "Data centers require a
hi gh | evel of demand, 24 hours a day, 7 days a week,

365 days a year"; do you see that?
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Yes, | do.

And is that correct to your understandi ng?

Fromny -- frommy general understanding of how data
centers operate, I'd like to say that |I'm not an
operator of a data center per se, but yes, that sounds
reasonabl e.

And does that operation distinguish themfrom
traditional industrial or comercial custoners?

| don't know the answer to that.

Okay. |Is it correct to say that one effect of
around-the-clock operation for data center custoners
is that they tend to exhibit a particularly high |oad
factor?

Yes.

And what is |oad fact?

Load factor is -- | believe it's average demand

di vided by peak demand. So it's a nmeasure of a
custonmer's average use conpared to their maxi num use.
Okay. And |oad factor can be presented in a
percentage figure, correct?

Yes.

So when we tal k about data centers operating around
the clock, to your understandi ng does that translate
Into data center custoners exhibiting | oad factors

that commonly exceed 80 percent?
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A

| don't know specifically for data centers. Like |
said, I'mnot a data center operator. But if one
assunes that a data center's operating near its peak
every day of the year, then yes, they would typically
have a high |oad factor.

Thank you. And |I'm assumng that -- well, strike

t hat .

Do you consider these sort of operational
guestions to be inportant in assessing appropriate
ternms of service for a custoner?

Are you speaking broadly for any type of custoner?
Well, if we're tal king about, for exanple, whether a
customer uses energy all the time versus only
sporadically or only during work days, for exanple?
And you're asking whether that would contribute to
what exactly? |'msorry, can you rephrase the
guestion? O repeat it?

Yeah, so ny question was -- and we can revisit this or
figure out another way to discuss this. But ny
guestion was, do you consider the sort of operational
guestions such as a comercial custoner operating al
the time as opposed to just on weekdays to be an

| nportant conponent in assessing terns of service with
t he custoner?

| believe there are certain rates that m ght be nore
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appropriate or | ess appropriate, depending on the
custoner's load factor. So that is to say yes, the
operational characteristics of a custonmer can
contribute to the nost appropriate rate that takes it
up.

Thank you. What do you know about the purposes for
whi ch busi nesses operate data centers?

| know, fromny review for ny preparation for this
case, broadly speaking what a data center does.

VWhat do --

Such as -- | believe they store data and they -- |
think there's sone conputational operations that they
perform That's about the |limt of ny understanding.
VWhat types of industry are we tal ki ng about here?
VWhat type of data center industries?

Sur e.

| -- are you asking --

MR. SINGH:  Your Honor, | think I'm going
to object. | think the witness has expl ai ned what
the -- what he understand data centers to be. | think
this is asking himto speculate on -- | think this

guestion is quite specul ative.
JUDGE TALBOT: Response?
MR. WOLLENZIEN: |I'm m ght need to strike

the question. And | think | can frame this in a way
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that's nmaybe nore pointed. If the witness doesn't
have an understanding or thoughts on it I'lIl skip --
nove on past those questions. But |I think I can
refornulate themin a way that m ght be anenabl e.

JUDGE TALBOT: Perfect, go ahead.

BY MR. WOLLENZI EN

Q

M. Isakson, do you understand that one of the -- to
your understanding, is one of the purposes for

operating data centers to facilitate cloud conputing

services?
Yes.
Okay. And anot her purpose for which -- is it correct,

to you understandi ng, that another purpose which
busi nesses operate data centers is to support what's
commonly referred to as artificial intelligence
sof t ware?

Yes.

And | believe you actually reference artificial

intelligence software in the direct testinmony; is that

correct?

One nmonent, please. | believe | did.

| can -- | think I can give you a citation if
you're --

Yes, that would be hel pful.

One second. For sone reason the SharePoint is not
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|l etting me control -F these docunents. So if you can
just bear with me one second while | pull these up.
Okay, so I'mlooking at page 12 of your direct
testinony starting at line 9.

Yes, | see that. Wuld you like ne to read it?

Yeah, you can read the |ast sentence there, if you
don't m nd.

Sure, this is from-- this is fromnmny direct

testi nony, page 12, starting at line 9. "For exanple,
if the market for artificial intelligence in products
and services never matures into a viable sustainable
busi ness nodel, then the data center custonmer may exit
service and create a stranded asset due to portions
beyond a | arge | oad custoner, the Conpany, and
especially all other custoners.”

MR. WOLLENZI EN: Thank you. And | nean, is
t hat your understandi ng today what you wote there.
Yes.

Okay, great. Are you aware -- strike that.

Do you have any understandi ng of whether Al
data centers categorically tend to operate differently
than traditional cloud services data centers?

From ny general reading and understandi ng of the
I ndustry in my preparation of this case, yes, |

believe that's true. Although |I would like to say,
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agai n,

' m not an operator of a data center, nor am

an expert in artificial intelligence software. That's

just ny general understandi ng.

Okay,

t here,

thank you. And if you look in the SharePoi nt

there is a docunent titled -- well, |'ve naned

t he docunent "IBM article."

Yes, | see it.
Okay. And I'Il also -- if it's clunky to read because
of the way the pdf works out, | also have a URL, if
that'd be helpful. | don't plan to offer it as an
exhibit, but just if for sone reason sonething is cut
off, et me know and | can shoot you a URL in the
chat .

But would you m nd opening the pdf for me?
Yes. And if you're going to refer to any specific

| anguage in this pdf, it would be nore hel pful to use

a |link.

Yeah,

Ther e

| just opened it up and | saw the sane thing.

was sonme sort of ad |loading while I -- when |

was pulling this page up. So |I just dropped the |ink

in the chat there.

This i
Bel ow
didn't

ri ght

s the CNBC article?
that -- oh, you know what, | didn't hit send.
hit the little arrow there, okay, sorry. It's

t here now.
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| see it. It seens this is an article fromIBM com
Yes, | see it and | have it in front of ne.

G ve ne just one second. |'mgoing to open the I|ink,
as well.

Okay, so if you scroll down where it says
"Al data centers versus traditional data centers"; do
you see that?
Yes, | do.
In the second paragraph bel ow that subheading it says,
"The differences between these two kinds of data
centers stemfromthe extraordi nary demands of
hi gh-intensity Al workloads. |In contrast to Al data
centers, typical data centers contain infrastructure
t hat woul d qui ckly be overwhel ned by Al wor Kkl oads.
Al -ready structure is specially designed for the
cloud, Al, and machine-learning tasks"; do you see
t hat ?
Yes, | do.
Okay. And in also next paragraph down there discusses
the distinction between central processing units and
graphics processing units; are you seeing that?
Yes, | am
And it says that --

JUDGE TALBOT: Slow down a little.

MR. WOLLENZIEN: Oh, yes, |'msorry.
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BY MR. WOLLENZI EN

Q

Well, let nme just ask, is this -- what you' re | ooking
at in these two paragraphs here, does this track with
your understanding of the distinction between Al data
centers and what's referred to here as traditional
data centers, M. I|Isakson?

Want to preface, once again, ny response because |I'm
not a data center operator, |I'mnot an expert in data
centers or Al, but from ny understandi ng and from what
"' mreading here on IBM com yes.

MR. SINGH: Your Honor, this speaks to
foundati on here. M wtness has repeatedly said that
he is not an expert in data center operation,
artificial intelligence data center operations.
mean, to the extent that he's being asked that does
this article say what it says, that's fine, | guess.
But | think M. Isakson has repeatedly stated that
this is not his area of expertise.

JUDGE TALBOT: Response?

MR. WOLLENZIEN: | nean, | would say what
we're tal king about here, to the extent that the
w t ness has acknow edged sone understandi ng of a
destination between Al data centers and traditional
data centers, | feel like that is fair gane.

I think that being said, |I'm probably
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confortable nmoving on here. | think I can nove on
fromthis line of questioning.

JUDGE TALBOT: COkay.

MR. WOLLENZI EN: At |east as to distinction

bet ween the operating characteristics. | would |ike
to ask further about what industries are driving data

center investnent. | can nove on for the operational

specificities of Al data centers, if that's hel pful
for counsel.

MR. SINGH:  Appreciate that.

JUDGE TALBOT: All right, M. Singh was

noddi ng for the record.

| think that's appropriate too. However

amgoing to go off the record for a m nute.
O f the record.
(Of the record at 9:51 a.m)
(Recess taken at 10:01 a.m)
(On the record at 10:14 a.m)

JUDGE TALBOT: Back on the record in

M chi gan Public Service case No. U-21859. W are in

the cross-exam nation of M. |sakson by
M. Wl Il enzien.
Go ahead.
MR. WOLLENZI EN:  Thank you, your Honor.

BY MR. WOLLENZI EN
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Wtness |Isakson, we discussed a m nute ago that your

direct testinony does include sone reference to the

artificial intelligence industry, right?

Yes, it does.

Okay. To your understanding, is the -- strike that.
To your understanding, is the proliferation

of Al software technology a driver in the growth of

data center investnments presently?

Yes.

Okay. Would you -- to your understanding and

know edge, is the Al industry a key driver in the

growth of data center investnents presently?

| don't know.

Okay. Now, Consunmers in their direct testinony, I

bel i eve forecasted 15 gigawatts of data center growth

in their econom c devel opnent pipeline; does that

sound famliar?

Yes, it does.

Okay. To your know edge and understandi ng, would you

expect some portion of that data center investment to

be for Al data centers in Consuners service territory?

| can't say for certain.

OCkay. All right, so let's now nove back to sonme ot her

materi al discussed in post-rebuttal discovery. One

second. Stri ke that.
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I know |I've asked this a couple tines, but
you were present Tuesday for Ms. -- for Wtness
Connol ly's cross, correct?

Yes, | was.

And do you recall a discussion of the kind of default
contract term under existing Rate GPD?

Yes.

And the Conpany's application in this case |I believe
proposed a | onger contract termthan what is currently
the default under Rate GPD; is that right?

Yes, that's correct.

Did you discuss that destination in your direct
testinony as well ?

Yes, | provided a brief overview of the Conpany's
application in ny direct testinmony. And | believe I
covered that part.

Okay. And several parties in this case have al so
proposed an exit fee provision that m ght apply as an
amendnent to Rate GPD, correct?

Yes, that's correct.

Am | correct to understand that all of those exit fee
provi sions provide additional protection to other rate
payers than what is currently existing in Rate GPD?
Yes, that's the purpose of the proposed exit fee.

OCkay. And both the Conpany and staff have proposed or
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recommended in testinony here a higher mninmumbilling
demand than what currently exists under Rate GPD; is
that right?

Yes.

Okay. And did staff propose other protections or
recommended the protections that, to your
under st andi ng, would be in excess or would in addition
to what currently exists under Rate GPD as far as
protections to other ratepayers?

Yes.

Okay. And |'m guessing that staff nade
recommendati ons because they believed those
protections woul d be reasonabl e and prudent in

consi deration of the new |oad we're discussing in this
case; is that correct?

Yes, that's correct.

Okay. Bear one second, |'mpulling up your testinony.
So on page 4, line 3 of your testinony you address the
| mportance of these protections to sone degree. Do
you have your testinmony up and in front of you here?
Yes, | do.

Okay, so page 4 line 3 you state, "Staff agrees that
custoners with such a large | oad pose a unique risk if
that load is prepared for by the Conpany but not

served for a period of tinme |ong enough to adequately
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recoup costs fromthat custoner," correct?

Yes.

Okay, and so I'massumng also that to the extent
staff's recommendati ons on these points overlap with
t he recomendati ons nade by Consuners Energy, that
staff would consider those recomendati ons of
Consuners Energy to be reasonable and prudent in
consi deration of the custonmers we're tal king about in
this case, right? The potential custoners?

So as far as ny testinony and staff's position and

recommendations in the case, unless otherw se noted in

nmy testinony, staff -- let ne put this another way.
Staff --
Yeah, I'msorry. Strike the question.

"' mnot asking if you necessarily agree 100
percent with what Consumers is recommending in this
case. You know what, strike the whole |ine of
questioning. And I'll ask what | asked before just to
kind of make this clear.

" massum ng that reconmendati ons you' ve
made as far as protections to ratepayers, staff
considers themto be reasonable and prudent in |ight
of the new | arge | oads we're tal king about here,
ri ght?

Yes.
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Wt hout additional protections added to Rate GPD,
woul d it be reasonabl e and prudent for the Conpany to
offer service to those custoners under Rate GPD?

| -- hmm Yes, because the custoners currently
qualify for service under Rate GPD. | think you said
that it's reasonabl e and prudent that they can take
service under that rate.

So you're saying that eligibility for a rate is, in
and itself, a determ nant of whether service would be
reasonabl e and prudent?

Yes, | am

Al right, let's go to your rebuttal testinony.
That's included in the SharePoint as well. |

apol ogi ze. If you go to the SharePoint, you can open
t hat up.

| have it open already.

Ch, great. Okay, I'mgoing to open it up too. G ve
me just one second.

Okay.

Okay, so | am | ooking at page 1, starting with the
guestion on line 10 -- so are you seeing this?
|"msorry, page 1, line 10. Yes, | see it.

The question says, "What is staff's response to DCC
W tness Justine Bieber's analysis of transm ssion

revenue and transm ssion revenue requirement?" Are
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you seeing that?

Yes, | am

Okay. And | believe also included in the SharePoi nt
IS Wtness Bieber's direct testinony.

Yes, and | have that pulled up fromour review of the
di scussi on.

Awesone. |I'mgoing to pull it up too in a pdf so |
can quickly get to where | want to go.

Okay, so in witness Bieber's testinony in
the range you reference in your rebuttal, there are
sonme tables Wtness Bieber includes providing sone
revenue nodeling; is that correct?

Yes.

Okay. So if you |l ook down at page 30 of his

testinony.

Okay.

You'l | see a table JB2; are you seeing that?
Yes, | am

Okay. G ve nme just one second.
Okay, so in this table, JB2, there's
I ncluded a line "estimated capital costs 755 mlIlion";
are you seeing that?
Yes, | am
Ckay. And to your understanding, this nunmber -- |'I|

say too, there's a little superscript 3 in that |ine,
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as well; are you seeing that?

Yes, | am

And if you go down where that's he referenced, it
says, "Estimated capital costs equal to the m ddle of
the transm ssion owner's estinmated capital costs,”
right?

Yes.

Okay. And you understand the source of that range?

| believe it's froma discovery request from one of
the intervening parties.

Yes. | want to make sure | have it in the SharePoint

just so we can get a reference on this. G ve ne just

one second, | do not think I included it. Gve ne
just one second -- one second.
Well, you were present for the cross

testinony of Ms. Connolly on Tuesday, right?

Yes, | was.

And do you understand that that range of transm ssion
costs as discussed in M. Bieber's nodeling, that that
refers only to transm ssion costs related to

I nt erconnecti ng customners?

| believe so. I'mlooking at the AGs fifth discovery
request to the Conpany. This was in my SharePoint
folder. It would be response 21859- AG CE- 0140.

It's very possible that it's referenced in here.
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just don't have the exact thing in front of nme anpbngst
all the files | have open here, so..

Yeah, actually the discovery request | just referenced
Is referenci ng anot her di scovery response. But yes,
fromwhat | recall fromyour discussion with the
Conmpany's witness, that is only for the transm ssion

I nt erconnection, that cost estinmate.

Okay. So if we're |ooking at table UV2, this
estimted capital cost, that doesn't include any
generation cost estimate, right?

As far as | know, yes.

Okay. And it wouldn't, to your understanding, include
any transm ssi on expense related to generation

bui | d-out, right?

From what early from your discussion previously and
subject to check, yes, that sounds correct.

And now, here for instance, it says transm ssion costs
in his testinony -- M. Bieber, correct?

|"msorry, can you repeat that question, please?

M. Bieber refers to this figure as transm ssion
correct.

Yes, correct.

So to your know edge and based on everything el se

we' ve di scussed here, this figure does not include any

di stribution expense, right?
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Yes, as far as | can tell.

Okay. Does DCC purport to include any other cost
figures in this nodeling?

Cost figures?

So strike that.

So we're | ooking at estimted capital
costs, and it lists 755 mllion in there, right?
Yes, that's correct.

And reviewed this table in preparation for your
rebuttal testinony, right?

Yes, | did. Although | wll say, as | said in ny
rebuttal testinony, "Staff appreciates that DCC took
the time to analyze how revenue from custoners nmay go
towards offsetting individual custonmers' costs by
focusing on transm ssion. However" --

l'"msorry, and staff -- yeah, this is a
better quote. This is frompage 2 of ny rebuttal
testinony starting on line 7, "Rather than quibble
with the details of DCC s anal ysis, staff instead
rem nds the Comm ssion that there are many | evers on
which it can lean to increase or decrease the anount
of risk based by existing customers LLC'" -- which
stands for |arge |load custonmers -- "load fails to
remain in service."

That is to say, yes, | reviewed the table
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in the analysis, but I didn't dive into it deep enough
to provide a very thorough response to ny rebuttal.
Well, 1"l ask you about all that in a mnute. But
just to be clear, fromyour review and recollection of
the nmodeling that you did |ook at, do you recall any
ot her costs discussed in their nodeling, other than
that $755 mllion figure?

No I --

MR. VI JAYKAR:  Your Honor, I'Il object at
this tinme. M. Bieber's going to be on the stand on
Monday. M. |sakson discusses M. Bieber nodeling in
his testinony, so questions about M. Isakson's
testinony obviously are fair gane. But
M. Wl lenzien's asking about M. Bieber's nodeling.
The wi tness who can address that will be on the stand
on Monday.

JUDGE TALBOT: Response?

MR. WOLLENZIEN: We are tal king about
staff's understandi ng of revenue and cost nodeling and
how t he costs that were expected fromthese custoners
are going to be accounted for in terns of the rate
amendnments. | would say this is emnently relevant.
And M. Isakson has repeatedly acknow edged that he
reviewed the testinony of M. Bieber. | think it's

fair gane to ask about it.
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MR. BZDOK: Your Honor, may | be heard?

JUDGE TALBOT: Sure, M. Bzdok, go ahead.

MR. BZDOK: | didn't hear any recognized
basis for the objection. | just heard, well, another
W tness can address this is not a -- that's -- | don't

understand that objection.
about the question.
JUDGE TALBOT:
MR. VI JAYKAR:
obj ecti on.

JUDGE TALBOT:

the testinony is inquiring about M.

There was not hing i nproper

Any response.

Your Honor, it's a rel evance

Al'l right, I do find that

| sakson's

understanding of M. Bieber's testinony, so | wll

all ow t hat .

i ndi cati on that he doesn't

qui ckly when we get that i
Go ahead. [|I'm
MR, WOLLENZI EN

| just want to

However there has, again, been sone

know. So let's nove on
ndi cati on.
overruling the objection.
Thank you, your Honor.

under st and what staff's

knowl edge or perspective on any revenue or cost

nodeling in this case is.
give nme one second.

JUDGE TALBOT:
t hi nk.

MR. WOLLENZI EN:

"'l nove on right now,

You can ask about that, |

Ckay.
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Well, once again, M. Isakson, to your know edge,
we're only tal king about -- as far as the nodeling
that you | ooked at, your understanding is that it only
i ncl uded transm ssion costs related to

I nterconnection, right?

Correct, yes.

So we're tal king about one conponent of one category
of all the costs that woul d be at play considering or
eval uating incremental costs for these custoners,
right?

Yes, that's correct.

So if you're |ooking at revenue nodeling, you have no
way of the revenue forecasted in the nodeling is
sufficient to cover increnental costs if you're only
| ooki ng at one conponent and one category of those
costs, right?

Yes, that's correct.

Okay. And | believe you reconmend in your testinony
that you think -- or that staff thinks an appropriate
exit fee under anended ternms should be tied to

remai ning mni mum billing demand or m ni mum billing
ampunts in a contract term is that fair to say?

Yes, for the remainder of the contract term

So just as you have no way of know ng whet her revenue,

as nodel ed here, will be sufficient to cover
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I ncrenental costs, you also have no way of know ng
whet her an exit fee tied to the revenue would cover

i ncrenental costs, right?

A. Yes. We don't know whether the exit fee wll

conpl etely cover increnmental costs of serving the

cust oner.

Q Well, how nmuch woul dn't be covered?

| don't know.

Q Okay. Now, you read through a paragraph of your

rebuttal there. W're going to go back to it right
NOw.

And | apol ogize for herky-jerky pulling of
these exhibits, but | was hoping that |I could search
easily in SharePoint, but it's not working that way.
So I"mhaving to take a monment to pull up the things
one at a tinme.

Ckay, so you read this, but I'Il read part
of it too. So you said, "Staff appreciates the DCC
took the tine to analyze how revenue from custoners
may go towards offsetting that individual custoner's
costs by focusing on transm ssion."”

(Reporter clarification.)

MR. WOLLENZIEN: And | will actually skip
to the second sentence to avoid repetition.

BY MR. WOLLENZI EN
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Starting at line 14, you say, "However, like with
custoners on any rate, it is difficult to inpossible
to directly tie one custoner to their specific cost to
serve," correct? You said that?

MR. SINGH: | believe M. Isakson's frozen.

JUDGE TALBOT: I'msorry, | was nuted.

M. |sakson?

MR. SINGH: | think he's frozen there. Let
me see.

JUDGE TALBOT: Yeah, he is, but he m ght
have been able to hear it.

Al right, well, we'll go off the record
for a mnute and get M. Isakson back. W' Il take ten

m nutes if people want to use the restroom or

sonething. It mght take five for himto get back.
MR. WOLLENZI EN:  Your Honor, |I'mhaving to
do that, | would say at this rate I'l|l probably need

to request, you know, sone additional anmount of tinme
to the amount of time expected to cross |Isakson; is
that acceptable? | don't expect it to go --

JUDGE TALBOT: Yeah

MR. WOLLENZIEN: -- longer than lunchti ne,
| onger than noon. But | just wanted to give you a
forecast on that, considering the breaks and pauses

and things that have been happening thus far.
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JUDGE TALBOT: Yeah. Wwell, actually --
yeah, no problem |f anybody needs to go to the
restroom | won't go anywhere, but it sonetines takes
a few m nutes having issues nyself once in a while.

(Recess taken at 10:36 a.m)

(On the record at 10:43 a.m)

JUDGE TALBOT: So we're pack back on the
record in Mchigan Public Service case 21859.

M. Isakson is back, so we're going to continue with
Cross-exam nati on.
Go ahead, M. Wl I enzien.

MR. WOLLENZI EN:  Thank you, your Honor.

BY MR. WOLLENZI EN

Q

Do you have the hearing docunment subfol der open in
front of you, M. I|sakson?

Yes, | do.

Okay, great. Could you pull up AG1.15 for me that is
I ncl uded there?

Yes, | have it open.

Okay. So this is a discovery request from MNSC and
response that was di scussed on Tuesday; do you recal
t his?

Yes, | do.

OCkay. And in the request, MSC asks for an

expl anation of the basis of the Conpany's esti mted
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range for interconnection costs; are you seeing that?
Yes, | am

In response A here, the Conpany discusses distribution
asset estimates, right?

Yes, they do.

And they tal k about | ooking at average cost of
transformer and then taking the average cost and

cal cul ating the nunmber of transfornmers required at
each voltage to serve 100 negawatts, right?

Yes.

Do you have any idea of whether the nunber of
transformers and resulting distribution

I nt erconnection costs -- well, strike that.

Does this sound accurate, to your
under st andi ng, of how interconnection costs would work
for the custonmers we're tal king about?

How t he costs would work? Yes. M understanding is
that the Conpany would have to invest sonme amount of
noney to interconnect the custoner, and that sone of
It would be for distribution purposes.

Woul d you expect or -- strike that.

To your know edge and understandi ng and
experience working with the Comm ssion, would
I nterconnection costs scale up with the size of the

custoner ?
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Li ke the Conpany's witness, | believe nentioned in
your -- in your simlar discussion it varies quite a
bit -- fromny understanding, it can vary quite a bit

based on the custoner, the |load, and the |ocation of
the | oad, whether or not there's existing

i nfrastructure, that sort of thing.

Okay. And | won't hit on this too many tinmes, but I
just -- would you expect, for exanple, a 500-nmegawatt
customer to have larger interconnection costs than a
100- hundred nmegawatt custoner?

Yes, if you assune away a |lot of variables. Say, it's
a brand new custoner in an undevel oped | ocation, then
| think that's a reasonabl e assessnent.

Okay, thank you. Can you go back to the hearing room
exhibits for your cross and open up Exhibit AG 1.217?
That woul d be staff's second di scovery response to the
AG, correct?

That's correct.

Okay. Yes, | have it open.

And so question 6 you can scroll down, 6(a) asked to
provide all calculations and anal yses as expected
costs for adding any portion of the new data center

| oad considered in this proceeding, along with

cal cul ati ons and ot her considerations, right?

Yes, that's right.
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And you were listed as the responding witness for this
di scovery response, right?

Correct.

And your answer here -- or staff's answer here is,
"Staff did not perform such an analysis,"” correct?
Yes, correct.

Okay. So let's go back to rebuttal testinony. Kind
of junping around here, | apol ogize, but | wanted to
make sure | got a couple things that I think I'd

m ssed before the break. Go back to your rebuttal
testinony here on page 1.

Okay.

And at |ine 14, again, your testinony states, "However
like with custonmers on any rate, it is difficult to

I npossible to directly tie one custonmer with their
specific cost to serve"; are you seeing that?

Yes, | am

Okay. Now, can you go back -- let me open nmultiple
tabs here nyself. Can you go back to the hearing room
exhi bits and open Exhibit AG 1.13?

Yes, one monent. 1.13. Yes, | have it open.

Okay. Geat. And if you scroll down to response

| abel ed U-21859- AG CE-0143. Are you there?

Yes, | see it.

Great, okay. And the AG n asks in question B --
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subquestion B here, "Please explain which portions of
the interconnection costs described in Consuners
Energy's di scovery response endi ng 0035 Consuners
believes are directly attributable to the data center
custonmer being interconnected"; are you seeing that?
Yes, | am

And are you famliar with the interconnection cost
range that's referenced there for that discovery
response endi ng 357

Yes, I'mfamliar with it. | couldn't tell you what
it is right now, but yes, I'mfamliar.

And your understanding of that is the estimte that
Consuners provided for in a 100-negawatt potenti al

| oad, right?

Yes, | believe so.

Okay. COkay, so now scrolling down to the Conpany's
answer here, response subpart B, they state, "All of
the costs estimated in discovery response endi ng 0035
are directly attributable to the hypotheti cal

100- negawatt | oad addition,” right?

Yes.

So in the context of this cost estimate |I' m | ooki ng
at, your statenent about -- in your rebuttal testinony
about difficulty or inpossibility to directly

attribute costs is not applicable, correct?
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Not -- not applicable to what? To this response from
t he Conpany?

Yes. To these specific costs to the Conpany. In this
di scovery response they're saying a set of costs are
directly attributable, right?

Yes, that's what they're saying, yes.

So in this case it's not difficult or inpossible to
tie themdirectly to the customer, right?

The only reason that this response is not difficult to
i mpossible to tie costs is because they're

hypot heti cal .

And how do you know that? How do you know - -

Because -- because the Conpany -- I'msorry. Because
when you make a hypothetical addition to |load like
we're tal king about, or like the discovery responses

are tal king about, you can assunme away basically any

ot her assunptions for how the |oad will be connected
to the system In reality when a custoner is
I nterconnected with the system a new one, |ike the

Conmpany di scussed before, it depends on | ocation,
depends on size, it depends on existing
I nfrastructure.

So hypothetically you can assune all that
away and that way you can sort of narrowy define what

the custoner's costs are and directly attribute them
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to a single custoner. When the custonmer joins the
systemthey are literally joining a systemwth
t housands of other custonmers where they share
different costs. They m ght share infrastructure.
And so it's -- that's why it's difficult to inpossible
to narrowWy define the exact costs that one custoner
requires to interconnect.
Are transm ssion investnents at a custoner's site used
only by that custoner attributable to any other
cust oners?
| don't know, even in the hypothetical, because
transm ssion costs are all ocated by the transm ssion
conpany to the utility which are then passed to the
custonmers via base rates. And | believe, as you
di scussed earlier with the Conpany w tness, sone
portion through the PSCR process.

That's all to say that because they're
all ocated, maybe not entirely 100 percent, that I

don't think it's fair to say that a transm ssion |ine

only connecting one single custonmer can still be only
attributed to one -- to that one single custoner.
|"'msorry, | believe I -- maybe | m sspoke. | thought

| was asking about transforner investnents, which is
part of the Conpany's estimation for distribution

costs, correct?
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|"m sorry, perhaps | m sheard and just assuned you
meant transm ssion costs.
Well, maybe one of us is wong -- it's not
significant. But the question would be for
transformer investnments on a site used by a single
custoner, are those directly attributable to any other
custoners than that one customer?
| will say they can be an attributable to a single
customer. For exanple, that's why custonmers can build
their own transfornmers and then they receive a credit
fromthe Conpany to recognize that the customer
brought their own transformner.
Okay. How do those interconnection costs get
accounted for or collected?
Transm ssion -- |I'msorry, transfornmer costs --
Strike that. Strike that. 1'mgoing to make this
nore gener al

VWhat are the nechanisnms for recovering
I ncremental costs fromthese custoners?
I ncremental costs? Through base rates?
So we're tal king about revenue. But, | nean, how do
we recover the costs for the additional |oad to the
systen? 1Is it through revenue fromthe Conpany -- or
froma customer?

You recover the costs to serve the custonmers through
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the cost of service process and the rate design
process. And then the custoner pays rates, the
revenue goes to the Conpany, the Conpany serves the
cust oner.

Okay. Let nme ask you this, their -- to ny
under st andi ng there has been di scussion of this case
of amendnents to Rate GPD that would prevent from
cost-shifting or subsidization of these new custoners
from ot her existing Consuners Energy custoners,
correct?

No.

That's not correct?

You' re asking -- it mght be helpful if you repeat the
guesti on.

Sure. And | can probably pull the reference here too,
I f that would be helpful. | can probably pull them up
fromthe application, give me one second.

Okay, so for exanple -- and I -- you know,
this is just -- this is kind of a snapshot of one --
of one piece of |anguage that discussed cost shifting.
So if you go to the application testinony, page 7.

7 of Laura Connolly's direct testinony?
Yeah.
Ckay - -

Li ne 16.
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Yes.
And this is just for exanple. [|'mtalking about this
out of context. We'Ill just say it's referring to

reduction in contract capacity; do you see that?

Yes.

Okay. And so there's |anguage included here that says
"Conmpany woul d honor the [reduction] request if doing
so does not create a stranded asset related to

I nvestment made to serve the custonmer's | oad requests
or otherw se cause costs to be shifted to other
custoners,” right?

Yes, correct.

So what is that cost shifting referring to?

That cost shifting is referring to what woul d happen
i f the large | oad custoner or data center custoner

| eaves service and causes stranded assets.

So in reference to your earlier question,
why | said no, it's -- | think it's best to go back to
ny direct testinony at the very beginning. So this
starts on page 3, line 21, | say, "The fees of
statenment for the Conpany's proposed anmendnent can be
found in direct testinony of Conpany w tness Laura
Connol Iy, 'The Conpany nust put tariff provisions in
pl ace for data centers to protect other customers from

stranded assets and i ncreased costs should the data
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center |oad not materialize after resources are
committed to serve themor the load is not in place
for as | ong as expected.'"

So when staff was discussing cost shifting,
if we use that phrase specifically, what we're
referring to is what would happen if the custoner --
i f the new data center custonmers referred to in this
case, what happens if they | eave.
Okay.
Not necessarily what happens when they becone
i nterconnected with the system and how t hat m ght
af fect costs.
So what are the nmechanisnms for mnimzing the
potential for increased costs to other custoners if
those new | arge custoners don't materialize or exit
service prematurely?
So those provisions are basically what we're tal king
about in this case. And so those would be -- that
part we characterize them as the enhancing revenue
collection. That nmeans |ike staff in the Conpany's
proposals to create an exit fee or staff's proposal to
make a col lateral requirement that equals the exit
f ee.

What those two provisions specifically do

Is they create sort of a guarantee for the Conpany to
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coll ect revenue -- or to have a nore secure collection
of revenue in case the custoner does exit service.
That revenue could then be used to offset any stranded
asset costs if they are -- if they do materialize.
Thank you, and you consider the CI AC provisions of
Consuners tariff sheets to be another such nmechani sm
for potentially mtigating stranded asset costs?

Yes.

Okay. Are there any other nechanisnms, other than exit
fee, collateral as you described it, and ClI AC?

There are several provisions that staff and the
Conmpany are recomendi ng. Oh, for exanple, another
one is increasing the -- the mninumload -- or sorry,
the mnimum billing demand requirenent to 80 percent
rat her than 60 percent. That's another way of
enhanci ng the revenue guarantee fromthe customer that
could be used to offset future stranded costs.

Ckay. So we got a revenue guarantee conponent. And

I n your testinmony we discussed before, that's tied to
the exit fee, as well, right?

That's staff's proposal, yes.

And you' ve al so discussed here collateral terns that
wi || provide sonme guarantee of paynment for paynent
obligations; am | understanding that correctly?

Yes, correct.
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And then you're also referring to the ClI AC provision,
right?

Yes.

Okay. And for one second, so you know, correct me if
"' mwong, maybe |'m m sremenbering this. MW
understanding is that staff's recomendati on on
collateral was to tie that amount to -- well, strike
t hat .

VWhat is staff's recomendati on on a
col |l ateral provision?
One nmonent, please.

Yes, so |'mreferencing here page 19 of may
direct testinony beginning on line 8. These are
staff's proposed nodifications to the Conpany's
proposal. And this is No. 2 and it's included a nore
detailed transparent definition of the coll ateral
requi rement and acceptable fornms of paynent and to
define the collateral ampunt equal to the exit fee.
Okay. So equal to the exit fee is the calculation for
coll ateral and your reconmmendation, right?

Yes, that's correct.

Okay. So let's talk a little bit about the CIAC. And
let's go back to the exhibits, the hearing roomfor
this, one second, and open up, again, AG 1.13.

Exhi bit AG 1.13.
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1-3, yes, | have it open.
Okay. So you go all the way down to the | ast question
i ncluded there, or the last two questions, 1.43
subquestion E; are you seeing that?
Yes, | am
Okay. And it says -- it asks, "Confirmthat the ClIAC
provi sions do not present a strict requirenment that a
customer pay for the portions of interconnection costs
identified in response to subquestion 21.D above; do
you see that?
Yes, | do.
And if you scroll down to Consuners answer on that
they say "confirnmed."
Yes, they do.
s that correct, to your understandi ng?
Yes, it is.
Okay. And if we go down to 1.43 subquestion F, AG
asks, "Confirmthat the Cl AC provisions do not
strictly require a custoner to pay the entirety of its
I nterconnection costs identified in response to" --
wel |, strike that.

It asks to confirmthat "...the Cl AC
provi sions do not strictly require a custoner to pay
the entirety of their interconnection costs even if

t he Conpany asks the custonmer to pay sone portion of
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t hose costs"; are you seeing that?

Yes, | am

Okay, and if you scroll down to the answer on that,
that's subanswer F, it says "confirmed," right?

Yes, it does.

Is that correct, to your understandi ng?

Yes.

And to your understanding, if a -- if a custoner were
to be engaged under CIAC ternms and they were to back
out, say after a year, or let's say they were to back
out before paying -- well, strike that.

A customer can back out of a ClI AC provision
at any time w thout an obligation to future paynent,
right?
| don't know for certain.

Okay.

l"'msorry, | don't know -- | don't know for certain
what the terns specifically are for pulling out of a
Cl AC arrangenent early.

Okay. So to kind of recap here, there's no strict
obligation that a ClIAC provision will even apply to
t hese custoners, right?

Yes, that's correct.

And there's nothing in the CIlAC that would require a

full paynent of interconnection costs, right?
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Yes. As worded in the discovery response, it's not
strictly required.

Well, is that your understandi ng, too?

So the CIAC provisions in the tariffs, | believe they
use pretty deliberate | anguage that says the Conpany
may require ClI AC paynents. And in reference to these
guestions | take that to nean that they also may not,
which is why the Conpany's answer and -- the AG asked
very simlar questions to staff in discovery, and we
al so had the sane response. W confirnmed that it is
not strictly required and that's -- and the reason why
we didn't wite it necessarily in our response, but
"Il tell you now, the reason why is because of the

| anguage in the tariff says the Conpany "may" require
a custoner to pay these ClI AC charges.

Okay. And you're not aware of whether it's possible
for a custonmer to just back out of their CI AC and not
be obligated to any terns once they |eave, right? You
said that a m nute ago?

Yes, I'mnot certain, but if -- it would likely be in
the -- in the contract that the customer signed with

t he Conpany, that | believe was referenced several

times in the cross-exam of the Conpany w tness.
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Al though I"m not certain of that, | would just think
it woul d be reasonabl e.
G ve nme one second, |I'msorry.

So am 1 correct in understanding that al
this is to say that you don't know how nuch of any
portion of one of these custoner's interconnection
costs or other costs could necessarily be collected
t hrough the ClI AC provi sions?

Yes.

Okay. So just to be clear here, so you don't know
whet her a revenue guarantee, an exit fee, or

coll ateral would necessarily recover the costs for
bringi ng on one of these custoners, right?

Yes, correct.

And you al so don't know whet her the Cl AC woul d cover
any particular portion of the costs incurred in
bringi ng on one of these custoners, correct?

| think the distinction here is whether it would cover
the entirety of the costs. So if they do apply, then
t hey woul d cover some portion of the interconnection
costs. But | take your point to nean that they

don't -- they m ght not necessarily, specifically with
the Cl AC provi sions.

| nmean we -- | believe it was discussed that we don't

know your -- stop it, strike that. Sorry.
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You don't know whet her the CI AC would
recover any portion of even the cost CIAC is intended
to, at least in theory, collect, right?

That woul d be the case if the Conpany didn't require
any CIAC. And like |I said before on the tariff, it is
up to the Conpany's discretion. So | can't say for
certain whether or not any Cl AC paynment woul d be

col | ect ed.

Okay. Well, let's go back to your rebuttal testinony
here just to kind of get back on track. And we've
been quoting fromthis back and forth a little bit,
but let's go to page 2 starting at line 7. And this
Is in reference to the DCC s anal ysis; are you seeing
t hat ?

Yes, | am

And that analysis I'mreferring to is the revenue
nodel i ng we tal ked about a short while ago, right?
Yes.

And you woul d take that revenue nodeling, |I'm

guessi ng, but correct nme if I"'mwong, to be in
reference to a revenue guarantee as we di scussed a

m nute ago, right?

Yes.

OCkay. So you say here, "Rather than quibble with the

details of DCC s analysis, staff instead rem nds the
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Commi ssion that there are many | evers on which it can
| ean to increase or decrease the anount of risk faced
by existing customers if LLC, that is to say, |large

| oad custoners, fails to remain in service"; do you
see that?

Yes, | do.

But from our discussion here, do you -- it sounds |ike
you're kind of tal king about a scenario which these

| evers sinmply don't work or they break, right? Strike
that. Strike that.

If you have it nodel ed properly for cost
and cost exceeds revenue and a Conpany | eaves
prematurely, what happens to those costs that aren't
covered by an exit fee?

VWhat woul d happen is the Conpany would, at their

di scretion, they could request recovery of the
stranded -- of the cost of the stranded assets from

ot her custoners through base rates. And then it would
be up to the Conm ssion whether or not to approve that
request or not, or some portion of it. It would be up
to the Comm ssion's discretion.

Ckay.

And the Conpany's discretion to request those costs in
the first place.

Okay, let's go back to page -- let's go back to your
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direct testinmony which is included in the SharePoint.
Yes, | have it pulled up.

Okay, great. On page 6.

Okay, |'m on page 6.

Okay, great. So this is line 21 on page 6 going on to
page 7, you say, "On the other hand, if interest
investnment in artificial intelligence, for exanple,
evaporates after the necessary infrastructure has been
expanded to serve energy to data centers, and there is
no obvi ous way in which other new custonmers woul d
appear to require the new capacity"; do you see that?
Yes, | do.

Oh, and let's go on here. It says, "This would | eave
exi sting custoners and/or the utility with a
trenmendous anount of capacity that is no | onger used
and useful. So not only do |arge |oad custoners
expose the Conpany's systemto greater costs, but also
have a higher risk of straining those costs than the
exi sting custonmer base through their uniquely high

| evel of demand"; do you see that?

Yes, | do.

Okay. So when you refer here to the interests in

I nvestnment of artificial intelligence, for exanple,
evaporating, what do you nean by that?

VWhat | was getting at with this quote in particular,

VERITEXT LEGAL SOLUTIONS




o o0 b~ W DN

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

388

and the context within which this quote is made, | was
using an exanple of a reason -- or sorry, the
evaporation of investnment in artificial intelligence
could be a reason why load -- or -- yeah, data center
| oad m ght no | onger be on the system And --
Okay, and -- go ahead.
And | believe el sewhere in ny testinony, | say it's --
it exposes the Conpany's greater costs and have a
hi gher risk of straining these costs. Specifically
because the load is so large it mght be difficult to
find new custoners to conme in and take over the
addi ti onal capacity the Conpany acquired to serve the
previous custoner that's no |onger there. Conpared
to, say, smaller custoners or custoners within a nore
di verse, you know, pool of businesses, you could say.
| go on to tal k about how | oad growt h,
natural | oad growh, can sort of snmooth over the
effect of custoners |eaving. Because one can assune
over tinme nore custonmers will come on to take their
pl ace. Wth custoners contenplated in this case,
| arge |l oad custoners, it mght be nore difficult
because of the size of the custoner.
OCkay. That's good to know.
MR. WOLLENZI EN:  Your Honor, | would Iike

to take a ten-mnute break. | think I'mgetting close
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to the end of ny questioning so -- and maybe that's
not the case. Maybe there will be another 15, 20,
max, half hour. | should be done by noon. But it
woul d be hel pful for ne to have ten m nutes to kind of
figure out exactly where I'mat and try to figure out
an off ranmp to the end of ny questioning here.

JUDGE TALBOT: All right, we'll go off the
record for ten mnutes. Let's be back at -- roughly
11: 25. Yeah, that's a 6, 11:26. See you all in a
few.

MR. WOLLENZI EN:  Thank you, your Honor.

(Recess taken at 11:16 a.m)

(On the record at 11:26 a.m)

JUDGE TALBOT: All right, we're back on the
record in Mchigan Public Service case No. U 21859.

We are continuing cross-exam nation of M. I|sakson.

Go ahead.

MR. WOLLENZI EN:  Thank you, your Honor.

BY MR. WOLLENZI EN

Q

So Wtness |Isakson, in Consuners' initial application
in this case, they discuss com ng back in at sone
point in the future for a standal one rate for these

| arge custoners, right?

| believe so.

Okay. Would you like ne to -- would it be hel pful for
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me to pull a reference for you?
Yes, please.
Okay. G ve nme one second. | apologize -- | don't
have this at ny fingertips, but give nme just one
moment, 1'I1l pull it up for you.

Okay, so thank you for your patience.
Page 5 of Wtness Connolly's direct testinony at
line 10.
Yes, | see it.
"Once | arge scale data centers start to cone online,
t he Conpany expects to use the |load data to anal yze
putting data centers in their own cost of service
colum in developing a rate specific to data centers”;
do you see that?
Yes, | do.
Okay. And in the interim or as of right now, we
di scussed, you're not aware of any cost nodeling that
shows what a necessary revenue guarantee would be to
meet the costs fromthose custonmers being brought onto
the grid, right?
Yes.
Okay. G ven that uncertainty and the sheer size of
t hese custonmers, wouldn't you want to err on the side
of caution in the near term as far as establishing a

M ni mum r evenue guar ant ee?
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| believe that's what we're doing with our proposal,
is erring on the side of caution. Because we're -- by
that, I nmean the staff and in part the Conpany, are
approaching nore strict guarantees of revenue from

t hese custoners.

How do you know that 80 percent mninmum billing demand
ensures a sufficient revenue guarantee?

| don't know exactly. [It's staff's opinion that it is
a reasonabl e amount, because we don't know the
specific costs involved with certain new custoners
eventual |y, because the custonmers don't exist yet.

But one way of increasing revenue guarantee would be

I ncreasing the mnimum billing nunber, correct?

Yes, correct.

Are you aware of other jurisdictions that have a

hi gher m nimum billing demand for these types of
customers?

Not off of the top of my head. | don't remenber the
exact anmounts of mninumbilling demand from-- for
exanpl e, Indiana or Chio, although it m ght be in ny
di rect testinony.

Well, for exanple, | can reference did you review --
did you review MNSC Wtness Palnmer's direct testinony
in this case in preparation for your testinony today?

Yes, | did.
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Okay. | can drop that in the chat for reference.

"Il put it in the SharePoint for reference. 1I'm
show ng upl oaded. |If you refresh now, it should be at
t he top.

Yeah, | see it. |I'mopening it.

So if you go down to page 13 of her testinony.

Okay.

On line 19, she says, "The Kentucky PSC, Public
Servi ce Conm ssion, approved a 90 percent m ni mum
monthly billing demand for Kentucky Power's |arge |oad
tariff"; do you see that?

You said page -- yes, | see it.

Yeah. And then she also references the next line, "AP

Ohi o' s proposed settlenment, it's an 85 percent m ni mum

billing demand for | oads above 116 nmegawatts"; do you
see that?

Yes, | do.

Okay. So setting a higher mnimumbilling demand

woul d entail a |larger revenue guarantee, correct?
Yes, it woul d.
Okay. And another way to increase revenue guarantee,
woul d be to have -- strike that.

Staff's current recommendation for exit fee
Is tied to remai ning revenue guarantee over the life

span of the contract term right?
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Yes, specifically to the 80 percent m ninmumbilling
demand for the remmining years, yeah
Okay. So in other words -- strike that.

So then anot her way you could increase a
revenue guarantee would be by extending |ife span of
the contract, correct?

Yes, that's correct.

Okay. In fact if you go back to in Ms. Palnmer's
testinony here, page 12 to 13. Do you --

Yes, | see it, sorry.

She descri bes the Kentucky case as well, that the
Public Service Conm ssion there approving a 20-year

m ni mum contract ternm are you seeing that?

Yes, | am

Okay. Would you see value to either increasing the
m ni nrum billing demand recomendati on or increasing
the contract termreconmendati on of staff in order to
better assure a mnimzation or mtigation of stranded
asset risks for the purposes of the present case?
Yes, there would be value insofar as it guarantees
nore revenue collected in the formof coll ateral
upfront and/or paid via the exit fee, should it ever
be levied. Best case is built on the fact that there
are -- that these are variables that the Conm ssion

can choose them Obviously the other parties
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reconmended hi gher threshol ds.

So the point of staff's case was to give
the Comm ssion a broad array of options to choose
from Because picking out the nunber for m ni num
billing demand, as | say in ny rebuttal testinony,
staff's discussion is to highlight that there is no
right answer, per se, except for the one that the
Commi ssion picks. And staff's recommendation is 80
percent of mninmum billing demand and the 15-year
contract term
So for exanple, you would not consider -- and if |I'm
under st andi ng you correctly, and correct me if I'm
wrong, you would consider, for exanple, 85 percent
m ni mum billing demand to be reasonabl e just not
specifically what staff is recomendi ng here; is that
what you're saying?

Yes, that is what |I'msaying. Well, staff's
recommendati on of 80 percent, you'll notice in ny
direct -- or sorry, in my rebuttal testinony of

wi tness Palnmer, | don't nmake a staff recommendation to
reject that proposal. So staff doesn't take a
position on whether or not that's reasonable.

That's very hel pful, actually, wtness Isakson. 1'd
ask the sanme about Ms. Palnmer's recommendati on on

contract length. |Is staff of a simlar mnd as to her
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reconmmendati on on contract |ength?

Yes. Again, the sane answer applies. You'll notice
that staff didn't put any testinony in recomendi ng
the Commi ssion reject those. Like | said, thisis to
build a broad record for the Comm ssion to choose
from

That's hel pful.

I think I'm about wrapped up here, but give
me just one nore second to | ook at ny notes and nake
sure |"mnot m ssing anything. And thank you for your
pati ence and your tinme today, M. |sakson.

You' re wel cone.

MR. WOLLENZIEN: Ckay, | think I'mfinished
with ny questioning, your Honor. | do reserve, you
know, as | discussed off the record, | guess, the
ability to ask some sort of recross on questions asked
by other intervenors, as well as potentially recross
asked on redirect by staff's counsel, to the extent
that it happens.

JUDGE TALBOT: All right, thank you

Let's go off the record for a couple of
m nut es.

(OFf the record at 11:38 a.m)

(On the record at 11:39 a.m)

JUDGE TALBOT: All right. Let's go back on
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the record. M. Vijaykar, | know I killed your nane,
" msorry, on behalf The Data Center, go ahead.

MR. VI JAYKAR: That's okay, your Honor.
It's M. Vijaykar just for the record.

JUDGE TALBOT: Go ahead.

CROSS- EXAM NATI ON

BY MR VI JAYKAR:

Q

Good norning, M. Isakson. M nane is N khi

Vi jaykar. 1'm counsel for DCC. How are you?
Very well, thank you
"Il be very brief. | just have a coupl e questions

for you to follow up on sone questions that counse
for the AG asked you this norning.

M. Isakson, do you recall a line of
questioning from M. Wl lenzien related to staff's
reconmendation with respect to the exit fee provision
at issue in this proceedi ng?

Yes.

And as | understand it, your recommendation -- or
staff's recommendation is that an exit fee be set
equal to -- sorry, that a collateral anmount for Rate
GPD custoners that constitute large | oad custoners
woul d be set equal to the exit fee provision in Rate
GPD; is that correct?

Yes, correct.
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And the exit fee at issue here is equivalent to the

| ength of the contract, at least as it's stated in
Consuners application which is 15 years, correct?

Yes, that's correct.

Okay. Now, it's your position that the exit fee
should be mtigated to the extent possible, correct?
Mtigated by the Conpany to the extent possible by the
Conpany.

Thank you for that clarification. The collateral
anmount that you proposed would not reflect any
potential for mtigation, would it?

Yes, it would if it's set equal to the exit fee. |If
the exit fee has been mtigated in sonme part or in
whol e by the Conpany, then under staff's proposal the
coll ateral requirement would also be mtigated by the
sane anount .

But just so I'mclear on the nmechanics, to the extent
that the exit fee is mtigated, that would occur after
the custonmer has posted collateral and after the
custoner has, in fact, exited; isn't that correct?
Yes, that's correct.

Okay. Returning to the amount of the exit fee, at the
begi nning of the contract, the customer were post
collateral equal to 15 years of m ni num demand char ges

under your proposal, correct?
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Yes, correct.

And are you aware of any other jurisdiction or utility
service territory in which the collateral anount for

| arge | oad custonmers or data center custoners has been
set equivalent to 15 years of m ni mum charges?

"' m not aware of that being proposed or approved in

ot her jurisdictions.

Are you -- strike that.

Did you, as a part of your preparation of
testinony in this proceeding, calculate the dollar
amount or the dollar per nmegawatt anmount that 15 years
of m ni mum charges would translate to?

No, | did not.

Just a couple nore questions, M. Isakson. You' ve
proposed a set of protections in your testinmony. A
set of -- let's call thema set of provisions in your
testinony, correct?

Yes, | did.

Maybe nore appropriately stated, you proposed a set of
revisions to what Consunmers Energy put into its
application, correct?

Yes, that's correct.

Are you aware of any other tariff in the Conpany's
tariff book that includes an equival ent set of

aggregate protections?
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A

No, not equivalent. Sorry, the answer to your
guestion i s no.
Now, | understand in your role you're also famli ar,
generally, with DTE, DTE Electric Conpany's tariffs,
as well; is that correct?
Yes, that's correct.
Are you aware -- and this is the sanme question that |
just asked you a m nute ago, are you aware of any
other tariff in DTE Electric's tariff book that
i ncl udes an equival ent set of tariff protections?
No. But subject to -- | don't have their tariffs in
front of me, but as far as | know today right here,
no, they do not.
Okay. Thank you, M. Isakson. Just one nore question
or one nore quick line of questions.

You recall towards the end of
M. Wllenzien's cross he asked you a coupl e questions
about the m ni nrum demand | evels that Ms. Pal mer
reconmends in her testinony, as well as the contract
term Ms. Pal mer recommends in her testinony?
Yes, | recall
Okay. Would you agree that, all else equal, a |onger
contract term would produce nore revenues for the
Conpany than a shorter contract ternf

| can't say that for certain, because it depends on
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how | ong the custoner renmains a custonmer follow ng the

end of the contract term

Fair enough, M. Isakson. | should put that

differently. Wuld you agree that a custoner paying

m ni nrum charges for a |longer contract term would

produce nore revenues than a customer paying m ni num

charges for a shorter contract term all else equal?

Yes. Al else equal
Wuld a -- under those variables, would a 25-year
contract produce nore revenues than a 20-year

contract?

Again, all else equal, yes. Pertains to like nmy first

answer to this line of questioning, it depends on how

| ong the custoner otherw se would have stayed,

renewi ng the custoner at the end of their contract.

Okay. Wth those variables controlled, would a

50-year contract produce nore revenues than a 25-year

contract?

Yes. In the sane way that a custonmer being in service

for 50 years woul d produce nore revenue than a

custoner being in service for 25 or any other nunber

| ower than 50.
MR. VI JAYKAR: Thank you, M. |sakson.
further questions.

JUDGE TALBOT: All right, thank you

No
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Any other cross for M. Isakson? Speak
NOw.

Al right, it looks Iike -- oh, any
redirect, M. Singh?

MR. SINGH: Can we have five m nutes,
pl ease, your Honor?

JUDGE TALBOT: Sure. W're off the record.

We'll be back in -- at 11:50.

MR. S| NGH:

Thank you.

(Recess taken at

(On the record at

11: 46 a. m)

11:51 a.m)

JUDGE TALBOT: All right. W're back on
the record in Mchigan Public Service case
No. U-21859.

M. Singh, any redirect?

MR. SINGH: We do not have redirect, your
Honor .

JUDGE TALBOT: All right, so any other
exam nation of M. |sakson?

Al'l right, so we have the three exhibits.
Any objection to the adm ssion of staff's exhibits
S-1, S-2, and S-3?

Al right, so hearing none, they're
adm tted.

EXHI BI TS STAFF S-1, S-2, and S-3
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ADM TTED

11: 52 a. m

JUDGE TALBOT: Let's go back off the record

for a m nute.

the record in U-21859.
| unch. However,

exam nati on of M.

excused.

| unch. We' |

(Of the record at 11:52 a.m)

(On the record at 11:56 a.m)

JUDGE TALBOT: All right, so we're back on

Thank you, M. Isakson.

We are going to break for
everybody has indicated that

| sakson is finished, so you are

Al right, so now we're going to break for

be back here at exactly 1:00. Off the

record. Oh, wait, M. Canpbell, go ahead. You're

nut ed.

record if

record.

Al right,
are goi ng

i ndi cat ed

MR. CAMPBELL: W can handle this off the

you' d |i ke, your Honor.

JUDGE TALBOT: All right, go off the

(Of the record at 11:57 a.m)

(On the record at 11:59 a.m)

JUDGE TALBOT: Let's go back on the record.

so we're back on the record in U-21859. W

to break for lunch. However, everybody has

t hat exam nation of M.

| sakson is finished.
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So you are excused. Thank you,
M. |sakson.

Al right, so now we're going to break for
l unch. We'll be back here at exactly 1:00.

Of the record -- oh wait, M. Canpbell, go
ahead. You're nuted.

MR. CAMPBELL: We can handle this off the
record if you'd |like, your Honor.

JUDGE TALBOT: All right, go off the
record.

(Of the record at 11:59 a.m)

(Recess taken at 12:00 p.m)

(Back on the record at 1:02 p.m)

JUDGE TALBOT: All right, let's go on the
record in Public Service Comm ssion case No. U-21859.
This is a date set for cross-examnation. W are set
to have cross-exam nation of N cholas Revere.

Let's start by swearing the w tness,
pl ease.

NI CHOLAS M REVERE

was thereupon called as a witness herein, and after
having first been duly sworn to testify to the truth,
the whole truth and nothing but the truth, was
exam ned and testified as follows:

JUDGE TALBOT: Thank you
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Al right, go ahead, M. Singh, sorry.
DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MR SI NGH:
Q Good afternoon, M. Revere.

Good afternoon.

Q Woul d you pl ease state your full name for the record?

A My name is Nicholas M Revere.

Q Thank you. Wbuld you al so please state by whom you
are enpl oyed and what capacity?

A The M chigan Public Service Conm ssion staff as the
director of the energy operations division.

Q Thank you. In this case, case U-21859, did you cause

to be filed the qualifications and rebuttal testinony

of Nicholas M Revere, consisting of cover page and 12

pages of questions and answers?
Yes.

Q Okay. Do you have any changes to that rebuttal
testinony?

| do not.

Q Okay. |If I ask you those sane questions today, would

your answers be the sanme?
Yes, they woul d.

Q Were there any exhibits associated with this
testinony?

A. No.
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Okay.

MR. SINGH:  Your Honor, at this tinme, staff
noves to bind in the qualifications and rebuttal
testinmony of its witness, Nicholas M Revere. And
after that, | would tender the wi tness for cross.

JUDGE TALBOT: Thank you

Any objection to binding in the rebuttal
testinony of M. Revere?

Al'l right, hearing none, the testinony is
bound i n.

(Rebuttal testinmony of Nichol as

Revere is bound into the record.)
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QUALIFICATIONS OF NICHOLAS M. REVERE

CASE NUMBER U-21859
PART I

Please state your name and business address.
My name is Nicholas M. Revere. My business address is 7109 West Saginaw Hwy,
Lansing, Michigan 48917.
By whom are you employed and in what capacity?
I am employed by the Michigan Public Service Commission (MPSC or Commission) as
the Director of the Energy Operations Division.
Would you briefly describe your academic background?
I earned a Bachelor of Arts degree in Political Science and a Bachelor of Arts degree in
Economics from Michigan State University in 2006. In August of 2008 and 2009, I
completed the annual National Association of Regulatory Utility Commissioners
(NARUC) regulatory studies program at Michigan State University, which included
courses on ratemaking, rate case auditing, regulatory policy, and other regulatory issues.
In September of 2010, I completed the Institute for Public Utilities Advanced Regulatory
Studies Program. In October 2012, I completed the Association of Edison Illuminating
Companies’ Advanced Course in Load Research.
What are your current responsibilities at the MPSC?
As Director of the Energy Operations Division, I oversee the responsibilities of the
division. The responsibilities of the division include, but are not limited to: enforcement
of technical standards and service quality rules; review of certain electric distribution
proposals, expenses, and expenditures; certain financial incentives and disincentives;
emergency management and planning; cyber and physical security; monitoring of
petroleum and propane fuel sectors; reviewing natural gas and electric power supply costs

and plans under 1982 PA 304; review of certain electric generation costs; review of
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demand response proposals and costs; ensuring compliance with statutes regarding the

distributed generation program; interconnection rules and procedures; reviewing

renewable siting requests under 2023 PA 233, as well as monitoring of compliance for

approved siting requests. Prior to assuming my current role, I was manager of the Rates

and Tariffs section of the MPSC, with responsibilities including, but not limited to, cost-

of-service, rate design, and tariffs for utilities.

Have you previously filed testimony in any cases before the Commission?

Yes. I filed testimony in the following cases:

Case Company Case Type
U-15645 Consumers Energy Electric Rate Case
U-15766 MichCon Gathering v. Highmount Act 9 Complaint
U-15768 Detroit Edison/DTE Electric Rate Case
U-15985 MichCon/DTE Gas Rate Case
U-15986 Consumers Energy Gas Rate Case
U-16169 SEMCO Energy Gas Rate Case
U-16191 Consumers Energy Electric Rate Case
U-16566 Consumers Energy Electric RDM Recon
U-16568 Upper Peninsula Power Company RDM Recon
U-16780 Detroit Edison/DTE Electric RDM Recon
U-16830 Wisconsin Electric Power Company Rate Case
U-16952 Detroit Edison/DTE Electric ECIM Recon
U-16999 MichCon/DTE Gas Rate Case
U-17643 Consumers Energy Gas Rate Case
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U-17688

U-17689

U-17701

U-17735

U-17767

U-17882

U-17990

U-18010

U-18014

U-18124

U-18224

U-18239

U-18248

U-18250

U-18253

U-18254

U-18255

U-18258

U-18322

U-18370

U-18999

U-20111

U-20114
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Consumers Energy Electric
Detroit Edison/DTE Electric
MichCon/ DTE Gas

Consumers Energy Electric
Detroit Edison/DTE Electric
Consumers Energy Gas
Consumers Energy Electric
Consumers Energy Gas

Detroit Edison/DTE Electric
Consumers Energy Gas

Upper Michigan Energy Resources Corporation
Consumers Energy Electric
Detroit Edison/DTE Electric
Consumers Energy Electric

Upper Michigan Energy Resources Corporation
Upper Peninsula Power Company
Detroit Edison/DTE Electric
Cloverland Electric Cooperative
Consumers Energy Electric
Indiana Michigan Power Company
DTE Gas

Upper Peninsula Power Company

Michigan Gas Ultilities

VERITEXT LEGAL SOLUTIONS

Act 169

Act 169

IRM

Rate Case

Rate Case

Rate Case

Rate Case

Contract

Rate Case

Rate Case

CON

SRM

SRM

Securitization

SRM

SRM

Rate Case

SRM

Rate Case

Rate Case

Rate Case

TCJA Credit A

TCJA Credit A



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

U-20130

U-20131

U-20144

U-20162

U-20189

U-20276

U-20284

U-20298

U-20309

U-20316

U-20317

U-20322

U-20233

U-20359

U-20479

U-20561

U-20642

U-20650

U-20150

U-20697

U-20889

U-20940

U-20963

CASE NUMBER U-21859
PART 1

Upper Michigan Energy Resources Corporation

Upper Peninsula Power Company
Cloverland Electric Cooperative
DTE Electric

DTE Gas

Upper Peninsula Power Company
DTE Electric

DTE Gas

Consumers Energy

Indiana Michigan Power Company
Indiana Michigan Power Company
Consumers Energy Gas
Consumers Energy Gas

Indiana Michigan Power Company
SEMCO Energy Gas

DTE Electric

DTE Gas

Consumers Energy Gas

CARE v. Upper Peninsula Power Company
Consumers Energy Electric
Consumers Energy Electric

DTE Gas

CE Electric
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U-21148

U-20836

U-21224

U-21286

U-21308

U-21297

U-21389

U-21461

U-21384

U-21291

U-21490

U-21540

U-21555

U-21534

U-21585

U-21816

U-21806
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Consumers Energy Gas

DTE Electric

Consumers Energy Electric
Upper Peninsula Power Company
Consumers Energy Gas

DTE Electric

Consumers Energy Electric
Indiana Michigan Power Company
DTE Gas

DTE Gas

Consumers Energy Gas

Michigan Gas Ultilities

Upper Peninsula Power Company
DTE Electric

CE Electric

CE Electric

CE Gas
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REBUTTAL TESTIMONY OF NICHOLAS M. REVERE
CASE NUMBER U-21859
PART II
What is the purpose of your rebuttal testimony in this case?

A. The purpose of my testimony is to respond to certain claims made by several intervening
parties about the appropriate way to account for the impact of data center load on various
other programs and processes.

Q. Are you sponsoring any exhibits?

A. No.

Impact of Data Center Load

Q. Please summarize the various impacts of data center load identified by intervenors.

A. The Ecology Center, The Environmental Law & Policy Center, Union of Concerned
Scientists, and Vote Solar (collectively the Clean Energy Organizations or CEO) witness
Saad Siddique discusses how data center load could affect the ability of the Company to
meet its clean and renewable energy goals under statute, claiming the load would make
the current plan insufficient, and result in more cost and risk.! Michigan Energy
Innovation Business Council, the Institute for Energy Innovation, and United
(collectively MEIU) witness John D. Albers also discusses how data center load could
affect the Company’s obligations under various statutes, including those related to the
Integrated Resource Plan (IRP) process and clean and renewable energy goals, and
available tax exemptions.? Attorney General (AG) witness Michael W. Deupree
discusses how data center load could affect the ability of the Company to meet its

renewable energy goals under statute, as well as the availability of tax exemptions.>

1 CEO witness Siddique Direct Testimony, pp. 7-14.
2 MEIU witness Albers Direct Testimony, pp. 5-7.
3 AG witness Deupree Direct Testimony, pp. 22-25.
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Michigan Environmental Council, Natural Resources Defense Council, Sierra Club, and
Citizens Utility Board of Michigan (collectively MNSC) witness Douglas B. Jester
discusses the statutory requirements for data center tax exemptions and clean and
renewable energy goals.*
How do the intervenors propose these impacts should be dealt with?
In the main, the intervenors propose dealing with these impacts in the instant case
through various means. CEO witness Saddique recommends that the Commission
modify the data center provision to “require potential data center customers to develop
clean energy sourcing plans as part of their applications for electric service” the
information within which would be used by the Company to, in part, evaluate how the
load would impact its RES compliance.” CEO witness Saddique also proposes the
provision “should include a clear pathway for prospective data center customers to utilize
Consumers’ Voluntary Large Customer Renewable Energy Program (or a similar
program) to access new, incremental, time-matched, deliverable clean energy to help

serve their new load requirement.”®

MEIU witness Albers proposes a “clean transition
tariff” that would “provide for the customer’s ability to choose the type of resources
desired, such as generation, transmission, or distribution resources that are sourced or
supported via utility procurements, bilateral or trilateral contracting, behind-the-meter

997

and/or front-of-meter collocation arrangements.”’ MEIU witness Albers also proposes

that such a tariff would also provide options for the customer to “make incremental

4 MINSC witness Jester Direct Testimony, pp. 13-15.
5 CEO witness Saddique Direct Testimony, p. 15.

6 CEO witness Saddique Direct Testimony, p. 16.

7 MEIU witness Albers Direct Testimony, pp. 9-10.
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PART II
monetary contributions to existing EWR, DR, VPP, and demand flexibility programs,”
“implementation of dynamic transformer rating”, “deployment of grid enhancing
technologies™ as alternatives.® MEIU witness Albers also recommends duplicating the
current “External Power Purchase Agreement” option under the Company’s Voluntary
Green Pricing Program (VGP) outside of the VGP and including in the proposed tariff
that the Company will issue requests for proposals (RFPs) for generation specific to
serving particular customers’ needs.” MNSC witness Jester claims the tariff provision
contemplated in the instant case should provide the options necessary to meet the tax
exemption requirements through “bespoke resources that reasonably match the data
center’s load” including that “Consumers Energy provide at least 60% renewable energy
to data center customers as part of any bespoke resource portfolio.” ! AG witness
Deupree recommends “a requirement that the Company enter into a contract with the
customer for the procurement of at least 60 percent of its load requirement from
renewable sources located within MISO Zone 7.”!!
Does Staff agree with these proposals?
Not for the purposes of the instant case. It is worth reiterating that data center (or other
large) customers currently have the ability to request service from the Company without
any of the protections for other customers contemplated by the Company’s proposed

GPD provision or proposed revisions thereto. Indeed, the schedule in this case is

accelerated, at least in part, to ensure such protections are in place as quickly as possible.

8 MEIU witness Albers Direct Testimony, pp. 12-13.
9 MEIU witness Albers Direct Testimony, pp. 15-16.
10 MNSC witness Jester Direct Testimony, pp. 14-15.
11 AG witness Deupree Direct Testimony, pp. 23-24.
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REBUTTAL TESTIMONY OF NICHOLAS M. REVERE

CASE NUMBER U-21859
PART II

Many of the issues identified by the intervenors have existing processes through which
they are considered as part of a holistic case, rather than only as they apply to customers
under the provision, rendering the requested solutions duplicative, unnecessary, or
inappropriately narrowed. The integrated resource planning (IRP), renewable energy
planning (REP), and capacity demonstration processes set up by the Commission
consistent with the prevailing statutes are the appropriate place to consider the resources
and plans that are most appropriate to ensure compliance with those statutes. Considering
such issues outside of the context of those established processes risks failing to consider
everything appropriate in determining how best to comply with those statutes. There are
other issues under the jurisdiction of the Commission (energy waste reduction, etc.) that
also will be affected by the addition of load such as that contemplated by the proposed
provision which also have existing processes by which that impact should be considered
in the appropriate context. While Staff is not taking a position on the actions required of
the Company to ensure compliance with the provisions of the statute related to data
center tax exemptions in the instant case, it is Staff’s opinion that the provision proposed
by the Company should be modified to apply to any load above a certain size. For that
reason, as well as the relative urgency of the protections contemplated by the proposed
(as modified by Staff’s proposals) provision resulting in a truncated proceeding in the
instant case, any necessary tariff alterations necessary as a result of the data center tax
exemption provision should be contemplated in another case. It is also unnecessary to
duplicate an already existing VGP provision outside of the VGP or list anything related to
VGP programs in the proposed provision; any prospective customer under the provision

will be made aware of their options under the VGP as part of conversations with the
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REBUTTAL TESTIMONY OF NICHOLAS M. REVERE

CASE NUMBER U-21859
PART II

Company regarding potentially being served by the Company, and there is no given
reason why utilizing a particular provision of the VGP program would be undesirable to
customers because it is presented as part of the VGP program. For all of the above
reasons, the issues identified by the intervenors are best dealt with through the processes
set up to deal with them, rather than on an ad-hoc basis in the instant case. Allowing a
customer under the provision to “buy down” their contribution to the increased
requirements under the various statutes by paying for other customers to effectively lower
the load that is covered by it is also much better contemplated in a separate proceeding
with a wider scope and the ability to consider such options in the context of alternatives;
the same is true of technologies such as dynamic transformer ratings and grid-enhancing
technologies. As described above, a number of intervenors also claim that serving
customers under this provision is distinguishable from service provided to other
customers to the point that they should be treated as if they are being served individually
rather than as a part of the Company’s overall load. While Staff agrees that the sheer
scale of the customers to be served under the proposed provision is unique, the Company
will still serve them as part of their overall load and plan for their overall load including
these customers, so such treatment is unjustified, inappropriate, and may be
discriminatory as such options are not available to other customers.
Does Staff have any other issues with the concept relied on by many intervenors that
customers under the proposed provision should pay directly for resources that are used to
“serve them directly”?
Yes, Staff has a number of issues with this concept. First, the intervenors seem to believe

that any resources built to accommodate load under the provision would be more

10
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PART II

expensive than the resources that would otherwise be built to serve customers. This
belief is not supported by any evidence provided in the instant case. In fact, it is entirely
possible that the scale of the generation required to serve the load contemplated under the
provision in addition to that already planned for could be less expensive than what would
have otherwise been built. Second, as discussed previously, the Company plans its
generation to serve the entirety of the load it is responsible for, not for individual
customers. Therefore, under standard ratemaking, costs are allocated to customers based
on measures of how they contribute to the load that needs to be served by the Company
in total. While MNSC witness Jester identifies the long-term industrial load retention
rate being based on a specific generating plant as an example of how the costs of certain
plants may be assigned to individual customers'?, that is more the exception that proves
the rule as it required passage of legislation to enable something different than the
standard. Third, it is almost axiomatic that a new generating plant will be more
expensive than existing plants due to inflation of costs and depreciation of existing assets
over time (outside of massive technological shifts), and that would be true whether the
plants were built to serve new or existing load. Fourth, time-matching a specific plant(s)’
generation to a specific customer, particularly given the resources likely built under the
statutory requirements, is unrealistic. For all of these reasons, the concept that customers
under the provision should pay directly for plants that “serve them directly” should be

rejected. In addition, these facts show that claiming “subsidization” by other customers

is inaccurate if every customer pays the cost to serve their portion of the total requirement

12 MINSC witness Jester Direct Testimony, p. 17.

11
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based on appropriate allocations of the total costs, leading to the necessity of rejecting
those claims.

Does this conclude your testimony?

Yes, it does.

12
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JUDGE TALBOT: And M. Bzdok, go ahead.
MR. BZDOK: Thank you, your Honor.

CROSS- EXAM NATI ON

BY MR. BZDOK:

Q
A

Good afternoon, M. Revere.

Good afternoon.

Did you have any occasion to neet with Consuners in
advance of the filing of this case to discuss the
proposal ?

We nmet with Consuners on this topic and the filing
itself at |east once, if not several tines.

Tell me about those neetings. VWhat did the Conpany
convey? What do you renenber?

The ones that were nore general, just about the anmount
data center load that they had in their pipeline. And
the -- the worries they had with the size of sone of
that | oad, and the effects it m ght have on other
custonmers if sonething wasn't done.

VWhat did they say about the anmount of load in their

pi pel i ne?

| don't recall nunbers, and |I'mnot sure |'d be
allowed to share them just that it was substanti al

| i ke approaching the levels of their current | oad.

Did you sign sonme kind of an NDA?

| don't believe so.
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o » O > O »F

Okay. VWhy woul d you not be allowed to share?

| can't recall if any of the information that they
showed us during any of those neetings was marked as
confidential by Consuners.

Did they indicate to you how i nm nent any of that | oad
was ?

| don't recall

VWhat was the time franme of those neetings?

It woul d have been over the |ast year, nmaybe two.
VWhen was the nost recent one?

| do not recall.

Was the nost recent one before the filing of the ex

parte?

| can't say. | can't recall if we net after that or
not .

Okay. Are you allowed to neet with -- are they

allowed to neet with you after?
| don't know that | understand the question.
Okay. I'Il strike it.
So you're not sure how | ong ago was the
| ast neeting, and you're not sure if and to what
extent they indicated any of this |oad was inmm nent?
That's correct.
Okay. And were those -- did you have any further

under st andi ng of i mm nence when you prepared your
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rebuttal testinony?

Not that | can recall.

Okay. And we have a SharePoint for you. [It's in the

WMNSC folder, and then it's in hearing exhibits, and
then there's a folder that says Nick Revere; are you
able to |locate that?
Yes.
Q Okay. Would you ook within that fol der and you'l
see sone premarked hearing exhibits upl oaded.
| see them
Q Okay. |If you would open first proposed Exhibit
MEC- 477
MR. BZDOK: Your Honor, may | share ny
screen?
JUDGE TALBOT: Hold on a second.
MR. BZDOK: You m ght need to refresh.
JUDGE TALBOT: Yes. |[|I'msorry, | was
trying to get back into SharePoint real quick. Yes,
you may share your screen
MR. BZDOK: Thank you.
BY MR, BZDCXK:
Q M. Revere, can you see on nmy screen a presentation

for the | eading the clean energy transformation 2025

second-quarter results and outl ook, July 31, 2025, CMS

Ener gy?
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Yes.

Okay. |If you were able either to scroll down or to
follow along on ny screen to slide 4, there is a
heading titled "expansive econom c devel opnment
efforts”; do you see that?

| do, I"mlooking at it on your screen.

Okay. And there's a reference in historical connected
| oad to manufacturing data centers and other; do you
see that?

| do.

And then there's a reference to tinely -- | can't get
that Al assistant out of the way. Maybe | can hide
that. Okay.

And then there's a reference for a
five-year plan, '25 to '29, of 900 negawatts of
addi ti onal | oad, manufacturing and data centers; do
you see that?
| do.

And then there's a reference in the third colum to a
new announcenent; do you see that?

| do.

And there's a bubble here that says "up to 1 gigawatt
reached agreenent with |large data center"; do you see
t hat ?

| do.
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Were you aware when you submt -- prepared your
rebuttal testinony, of an agreenent between Consuners
and a | arge data center for 1,000 negawatts of

addi tional | oad?

| don't believe so, but |I can't recall for certain.
Okay. Let's take a look at MEC-46. Can you see that
one on ny screen?

| can.

Okay. Here we have a news rel ease dated yesterday; is

that right?
Yes.
Okay. "CMS Energy announces strong second quarter

results, reaffirms 2025 adj usted EPS gui dance."
You' ve seen these kinds of communi cati ons and
presentations over the years in your work at the MPSC?
|"m sure | have.
Okay. So down -- if you scroll down in this
announcenent, there is a statenent fromthe CEO of
Consuners Energy, M. Rochow. | don't knowif I'm
saying that name right. | cross-exam ned himyears
ago, but | don't renenber the pronunciation of his
name.

And he tal ks about the team s strong
performance, et cetera, et cetera, CEO stuff. And

then he says, "I am also pleased to announce we have
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reached an agreenment with a new data center, which is
expected to add up to 1 gigawatt of [oad growh in our
service territory, along with additional econonc
benefits for Mchigan.”" Do you see that?

| do see that.

Same question as before, any awareness that this
announcenent either was com ng or was about to be nade
at the time you prepared your rebuttal testinony?

| do not recall if I was aware of this.

Has Consunmers communi cated with staff in any way in
recent days regarding the recent or imm nent signing
of 1,000 negawatt new data center custonmer?

If they have, | amnot aware of it.

Okay.

MR. BZDOK: And |I'mgoing to nove at this
time to admt proposed Exhibits MEC-47, which is the
earnings call presentation fromyesterday, and the
Consuners Energy announcenent of the signing of the
new data center which is also dated yesterday.

JUDGE TALBOT: And the second one is
MEC- 46, right?

MR. BZDOK: Yes, thank you.

JUDGE TALBOT: No problem | just -- al
right, any objection to the adm ssion of MEC-47 or

MVEC- 467
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MR. VI JAYKAR: Yes, your Honor, we object
to the adm ssion of both of those exhibits.

JUDGE TALBOT: And go ahead, what's your
obj ecti on?

MR. VI JAYKAR: Well, our objection is
counsel has not laid foundation for the entry of those
exhi bits.

MR. BZDOK: May | respond?

JUDGE TALBOT: Yes.

MR. BZDOK: A couple things. So one, we
have laid foundation in the sense that these are the
type of docunents that M. Revere has indicated he has
| ooked at fromtine to tine.

Further under, you know, they're self
authenticating in the sense that Consuners stores
t hese docunents on its investor relations website and
communi cat es about these topics under very detailed
SEC rul es.

The M chigan Public Service Conm ssion has
an adm nistrative hearing rule and the Adm nistrative
Procedure Act also has a provision in which the rules
of evidence are generally applied, but may -- the
Conmmi ssion may also admt and give probative evidence,
probative effect to evidence of a type reasonably

relied upon by prudent persons in the conduct of their
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affairs. Certainly these qualify. The relevance is
undeni abl e.

And so for those reasons, these docunents
whi ch did not exist until yesterday are relevant, are
authentic, are what they claimto be, no reason to
doubt that. And the relationship to M. Revere's
testinony has al so been establi shed.

JUDGE TALBOT: Any response?

MR. VI JAYKAR:  Yes, your Honor. My
obj ection is not a relevance objection, to be clear,
it's a foundation objection. And M. Revere didn't
answer any questions to the effect that he wote these
docunents or that he was involved in the preparation
of these docunents.

VWhat M. Revere testified and what counsel
just argued is that he is famliar with these types of
docunents, not the docunents thenselves. As counsel
just acknow edged, these docunents didn't exist until
yesterday, so |I'mfrankly having a hard tine
under st andi ng how M. Revere woul d have the know edge
necessary to establish foundation of these docunents
since he has not testified, again, that he was
I nvol ved in the preparation of these docunents.

As far as whether these docunents are

sel f-authenticating or not, there has been no w tness
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testinony that this -- the docunents that the w tness
was shown are avail abl e anywhere, really. W don't
know where these docunents are comng from W don't
know t hat they are what they purport to be. Al we
have is witness testinony that the witness is famliar
with these types of docunents. And testinony
answering questions related to the subject matter of

t he docunents, which we did not object to.

MR. BZDOK: May | respond?

JUDGE TALBOT: Yes.

MR. BZDOK: So if it's necessary to satisfy
counsel, we can go on a screenshare to the CMS
I nvestor relations website if he doubts ny
representations. And we can pull these docunents up
fromtheir source. We can certainly do that on the
record if that's going to be necessary. | don't think
it is. But if nmy representations to how | obtained
these 20 m nutes ago are doubted, we can do that.

M. Revere doesn't need to have witten the
docunents, you know, for these docunents to cone in.
They are the type of docunents that have a | ong
hi story of comng in, in Comm ssion cases. The
utilities own comrunications to its investors, the
utilities own representations on earnings calls and

simlar neetings have a |ong history of comng in.
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M. Ros how, the CEO of Consuners Energy,
is not available as a witness in this proceeding for
his quote, but these are -- these are docunents that
come in under the catchall. This w tness doesn't have
to have witten themfor themto conme in under the
catchall. Docunments come in under the catchall not
witten by those witnesses all the tine if they're
reasonably reliable and are relevant to the matters at
hand, which they certainly are.

JUDGE TALBOT: All right, well, the
objection is foundational, and so |I'"mgoing to start
with MEC-46 which says it's a news release. And
counsel says he just found it. If it just came out
yesterday, that's certainly probable.

So |l -- as a news release, | -- | don't see
any foundational argunment that that document shoul dn't
be admtted. And again, under the Adm nistrative
Procedures Act, admt -- | can allow evidence and
allow for the trier of fact to give it the appropriate
weight. | think the Comm ssion, as the trier of fact,
I's nmore than capabl e of doing that.

The second docunment is this second quarter
results and outlook. Again, |I think that that's a
public docunent. And again, counsel said that he just

obtained it because it's dated yesterday.
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So I'"moverruling the foundational
obj ection to both MEC-47 and -46 because | do think,
first of all, that they have sonme probative val ue, and
that the Comm ssion is nore than capabl e of
determ ning what value to give it.

But | think they are both -- have -- |
don't want to say self-authenticating, but the
foundati on has been established sufficiently in this
adm ni strative procedure. So |I'moverruling the
obj ecti on.

Go ahead.

MR. BZDOK: And you're admtting the
exhi bits?

JUDGE TALBOT: Yes, |I'msorry, the exhibits
are both adm tted.

EXH BI TS MEC-46 and MEC-47 ADM TTED

1:18 p. m

MR. BZDOK: Thank you, your Honor.

BY MR. BZDOK:

Q

M. Revere, can you tell me what you did, the steps
you undertook to prepare your rebuttal in this case?
First just for context, you did not file direct, you
only filed rebuttal, right?

That is correct.

Can you describe for nme the steps you undertook to
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prepare your rebuttal ?

| reviewed the direct filings of the intervening
parties, had nmeetings with various other staff menbers
to assist in developing the positions that | was going
to take, and then prepared the testinony.

Did you -- did you review any di scovery?

"' mnot sure that | did.

Doesn't that -- just so the record's clear, |I'mnot
sure that I did nean -- you didn't or you don't
remenber whether you did or not or sonething el se?

If I did, | do not recall

Thank you. Did you review any other dockets, any

ot her MPSC docket s?

Not that | can recall.

Did you review any terms of other data center-rel ated
tariffs, agreenents, cases, adjudications in other
public utility Comm ssion jurisdictions?

| can't recall if |I did that directly as | was
preparing ny rebuttal, but | did reviewitems of that
nature during the pendency of this case.

Tel |l me about that.

| believe there was a settlenent in Indiana related to
a data center or large custoner tariff. And there
were conpeting settlenents in an Chio case related to

the same. Those are the two that | recall exam ning.
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Okay. Thank you. You said you had neetings with

ot her staff menbers. And | don't want to hear about
any conversations with any counsel, but can you tel
me who else you nmet with on staff?

| -- it would have -- | don't knowif this will be an
exhaustive |ist, but Naom Sinpson, Paul Proudfoot,
Roger Doherty, Jesse Harlow, Dave |sakson, Bill Stozi
(phonetic). |I'"msure there were nore but that's al

can remenber off the top of ny head.

You went kind of fast on that list. 1'mgoing to tel
you who | got, and tell me who I missed. |'ve got
Naom , Paul, Dave |sakson, Bill Stozik, Jesse Harl ow.
Roger Doherty. | think that may have been the only

one you m ssed --

Okay.

-- but I"'mnot for sure.
Okay. Thanks.

Okay, let's start | ooking at your rebuttal

iIf we can. 1'mgoing to -- so on page 7 of your
rebuttal, you have a -- well, et me back up, just to
set some context. So on page 6, line 7 you have a

headi ng "i npact data center |oad," correct?
Yes.
And then after a quick question, you describe for the

rest of page 6 and the top of page 7 you describe --

k
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guess, you state -- |let ne rephrase.

You recap that certain intervenors,
i ncluding the CEGs and MEIU and the attorney general
and MNSC di scuss various topics that you're going to
respond to in your rebuttal, fair?
| do believe that's a fair characterization.
Okay. And then starting on page 7 at line 5, you have
a question, how do the intervenors propose these
i mpacts is should be dealt with correct?
Yes.
And these inpacts had to do with basically the size of
| oads that could be comng on to Consuners' system
sooner or |later as a result of data centers |ocating
i n Consuners' territory, fair?
Anmongst ot her things, yes.
Okay. You then sunmarize for the rest of page 7 and a
good portion of page 8, sone of the proposals nade by
those parties that |I've nmentioned, right?
That's correct.
And at this point, we're talking in your rebuttal
about sort of the clean energy -- mainly about the
cl ean energy-rel ated or renewabl e-energy rel ated
| ssues; is that right?
| would say it's fair to characterize that the bul k of

It 1s about that, yes.
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> O >» O >

Okay. And is your understanding, and |I'm speaking
generally and distilling somewhat here, recognizing
" m not going to catch every conplexity or nuance,
that one of the issues is if Consuners is adding a | ot
of load in a short period of tinme, the generation that
is added to neet that | oad needs to keep up in sone
way with Consunmers Energy's renewabl e and cl ean energy
ranp-up requirenents; is that a fair characterization?
O the --

" mnot sure -- sorry.

O the --

|"'mnot sure that | would --

|"'mgoing to stop tal king. Go.

I"m not sure | would characterize it precisely that
way. | nean, we're tal king about your
characterization of ny characterization of the

I ntervenor's proposals, and | wouldn't characterize it
the way that you did.

Okay. OCkay. Let ne ask you this, | nean, do you
think that's a fair concern, the one that |'ve

articul ated?

well, we are --

Is it worth being concerned about? Let ne ask it that
way, is it worth being concerned about?

|"mnot sure that | would use the term "concern." |
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think it's inmportant to consider how the addition of
that nmuch load in that tine frame will affect how the
utility serves their load under all of the rel evant
statutes that apply to how they do so.

So | think you said it's fair to consider that; was

t hat your phrasing?

| don't recall if that was my precise phrasing.

think it's inportant to consider that.

Okay. Oh, inportant to consider that, | accept that
answer .

Then you go on -- well, let me back up.
Consuners -- so let's just nmaybe set the table a

little bit. Consuners has an approved IRP, right?
"' m not deeply involved in IRPs, but that is ny
under st andi ng.

Okay. Approved in 2022 or 2023; does that sound
right?

"' m not sure of the year.

Okay. Approved at a tinme which would have predated

t he ki nds of additional |oads that Consuners has been
di scussing with staff in the neetings that you
testified you attended, right?

| can't be certain of that. It would have been around
the -- probably the cusp of the tine when these sorts

of things were starting to be consi dered.
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Q

Ckay. G ve ne a second.
MR. BZDOK: Can | share ny screen for a
second, your Honor?

JUDGE TALBOT: Yes.

BY MR. BZDOK:

Q

So M. Revere, |'mputting up on the screen now a
Comm ssion order from case 21090. This one right
here, June 23, 2022, application of Consumers Energy
for approval of its |IRP order approving settlenent
agreenent; do you see that?

| do see that.

Does that refresh your recollection at all about the
time frame in which the Consunmers current |IRP was
approved?

Wt hout having reviewed the docunent in its entirety,
| would assune that this is the -- you're presenting
this as the order that did approve the IRP

Yes. Do you recall if in the June 2022 time frame or
if the -- in the md 2022 tine frane, if substanti al
addi tional |oads fromdata centers and artificial
intelligence and simlar matters were a topic of high
profile at the Comm ssion?

| can't say for certain. | don't recall exactly when
hose types of conversations occurred or began

occurring. So | can't say for certain whether or not
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they were taking place in that tinme frane.

Okay. Is it fair to say that Consunmers' currently
approved I RP doesn't make provision for |arge

addi tional data center |oads included within its plan?
That is ny understandi ng, though ny understanding is
admttedly limted.

And just because this will appear on the transcri pt
and sonmetines the transcript doesn't capture the
context, when you say "that is my understanding,"”
you're agreeing with ne that the current |IRP does not
have provision for those things?

To the best of my know edge, the IRP, the order you
are referring to was approving did not consider the
addition of large |oad of any kind, let alone data
center | oad.

Okay. Do you have know edge of whet her Consuners is
going to file its next IRP in md-year of next year,
20267

| have no reason to doubt that that's the case.

Were you present for Ms. Connolly's exam a few days
ago?

| was only able to attend about an hour or two of it
I n the norning.

OCkay. COkay, okay. If Consuners -- did you undertake

In the process of -- I'mgetting a little cart before
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t he horse here, so maybe | need to back up for a
m nut e.

In your rebuttal testinony, page 8, line
15, does staff agree with these proposals, is the
gquestion, right?
Yes.
And then there's a | ong answer that takes the rest of
page 8, all of page 9 and npost of page 10, in which
you descri be the reasons for your opinion that issues
having to do with resource procurenment, generation
resource procurenment, should not be addressed in any
way in this case, correct?
| think it addresses a couple other issues, too, but
there is a large portion of it that is related to
generation procurenent to serve this | oad.
Okay. You talk about IRP, you talk about REP, you
tal k about V@GP, anong other things; right?
That is correct.
Okay. In offering that testinony that the resource
procurement issue should be addressed in these other
dockets or other proceedings, did you undertake to --
did you obtain an understanding -- did you have an
under st andi ng or did you obtain an understandi ng
regarding the timng and cadence of those cases, when

t hey woul d occur and when they woul d be resol ved?
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A

| don't believe | did anything nore than just rely on
my general know edge that | RPs take place every, what,
two to five years? A lot of them have settlenents
that require themfiling earlier than the | aw
requires.

| believe VGP cases take place at | ease
every two years, sonetimes annually. Capacity
denonstrati on case, | believe occur annually. REP
cases, | think are on a two-year cadence, but |'m not
100 percent sure since the new | aw nmay have changed
that, but that's ny recollection of the way it worked
previ ously.
So in offering the opinion that procurenment issues
shoul d be deferred to these other proceedings, |IRP,
REP, and VGP, you did not have a sense of when those
deci si ons woul d get nmade, other than perhaps at the
nost general |evel?
| think that, yes, | had a general idea of the tine
frame in which those decisions would be made. The
specific dates on which they would be nade, no.
Okay. Do you have reason to disagree that IRP will be
deci ded in absence of sone kind of a very quick
settlement will be decided for Consuners in md 2027?
| have no reason to doubt that that is the current

tinmeline setup
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Do you have any reason doubt to doubt, if indeed --
are you aware Consuners has a pendi ng REP?

| believe | was aware of that case, yes.

Okay. And so if that case is decided this cal endar
year, based on what you said which | agree with, the
next one will be filed two years from now, which would
put it in fall of 2027; does that sound about right?
"mnot sure if it would be two years fromthe date of
the filing of the pending case or two years fromits
conpletion, but | have no reason to doubt that it wll
be two years after the filing -- two years after the
current case, sone date involved therein.

Okay, give ne a second.

MR. BZDOK: Okay. |I'mgoing to share
screen again, Judge? Do you want ne to check every
time? O |I'msorry, what's your protocol?

JUDGE TALBOT: Either way. Right now, go
ahead and just do it, and if | have a problemI1'l]|
I nterrupt you:

MR. BZDOK: Okay.

JUDGE TALBOT: Thank you

MR. BZDOK: |'m m ndful of the ampunt of --
we have still yet to try to do today, so |I'mcutting
corners a little bit, so | apologize if |I seem

hurried. Okay. It's just the dynamc |I'm sensing
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ri ght now.

BY MR. BZDOK:

Q

OCkay. So, M. Revere, just to refresh your
recollection, the | aw you were speaki ng about that
governs these matters is public Act 235 of 2023; does
t hat sound right?

| have no reason to doubt that that's the case.

Okay. OCkay. So I'mlooking at part 2, section 2022,
"Wthin one year after the effective date of the
anmendat ory act that added section 51, and within 2
years after the Comm ssion issues an order approving
the electric provider's |ast anended renewabl e energy
pl an, the el ected provider shall file an anmended
renewabl e energy plan"; do you see that?

| do.

Does that help refresh your nenory or otherw se
clarify that the cadence is two years after approva
of the order for REPs?

The way that this sentence is worded, |'m not sure
that it refers to the regular cadence of those cases
or the cadence of the cases that occur directly

after -- only those that occur directly after the
passage of this act.

Got it, okay. I|I'mnot trying to put you on the spot.

JUDGE TALBOT: Hold on a second, everybody
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stop for a second. W're going to go off the record
for a mnute.

(Of the record at 1:38 p.m)

(On the record at 1:42 p.m)

JUDGE TALBOT: Back on the record in
M chi gan Public Service case U 218509.

Go ahead.

BY MR. BZDOK:

Q

So | guess, let nme try to shortcut this a little bit,
M. Revere. The general tinelines that you testified
you were aware of when you were offering testinony in
rebuttal that these matters should be -- certain
matters should be deferred fromthis case to those
other cases, is it fair to say your general
under st andi ng was consistent with the idea of a next

| RP bei ng approved sonetine in 2027 and a next REP
bei ng approved sonmetine in 20287

For the Consunmers -- or for the Consuners REP, you
mean after the current one?

Yeah.

Okay. That is consistent with my understandi ng of
what the current tineline would be for those things.
However, | think there are opportunities to speed that
up, if necessary.

Okay. We had sone discovery on that, | think, and
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we'll get into that.

Okay. Page 9 of your rebuttal,
addresses -- this is a continued discussion of these
vari ous other proceedings. And then you have a
statenent about the tax credit statute. Starting in
line 13, you state, "VWile staff is not taking a
position on the actions required of the Conpany to
ensure conpliance with the provisions of the statute
related to data center tax exenptions in the instant
case, it is staff's opinion that the provision
proposed by the Conpany should be nodified to apply to
any | oad above a certain size"; do you see that?
Yes.
And staff's position is that the provision should be
nodi fied to apply to any | oad above 100 negawatts; is
that right?
W t hout checking staff Wtness David |Isakson's
testinony, | have no reason to disagree with that
statement .
Okay. Do you want to |ook at Exhibit S-1 where that's
I ndi cated or are you content to proceed based on
100 negawatts?
' mcontent to proceed.
Okay. Okay. And then you say -- continuing that

rebuttal, you say, "For that reason, as well as the
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relative urgency of the protections contenpl ated,

ei ther proposed (as nodified by staff's proposal s)
provision resulting in a truncated proceeding in the
i nstant case, any necessary tariff alterations
necessary as a result The Data Center tax exenption
provi sion should be contenplated in another case,”
correct?

Yes.

VWhen the "for that reason"” part of that statenent
referred to staff's opinion that the tariff
nodi fi cati ons should be all |oads above 100 negawatts
and not just data centers, that's what you referred to
by "for that reason,” right?

Yes, the "for that reason" refers to that |ast clause
of the previous sentence.

Okay. Consuners has no other custonmer now above

100 negawatts; is that right?

"' mnot 100 percent certain. | do understand fromthe
I nformation the Conpany has provided in this case,
that there are no GPD custoners of that size.

Okay. Does Consuners have -- are you aware of any
non-data center custoner on the horizon above

100 nmegawatts that's not a data center?

| am currently unaware of any such potenti al

custoners.
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So the "for that reason,” is referencing, | guess, a
hypot heti cal scenario which we, at present, have no
knowl edge is going to cone to pass in any foreseeable
future, right?

| don't agree with that statenent.

VWhy not ?

Because it's not referring to a hypothetical, it's
referring to staff's opinion that the provision
proposed by the Conpany should be nodified to apply to
any | oad above a certain size. That is not

hypot hetical, that is staff's opinion.

But in so nodifying, it's broadening it to include a
custoner, the existence of which is at nost
theoretically possible. There's no evidence to
bel i eve such a custonmer's com ng along, right?

| am not aware of, like | said previously, any
non-data center custoners of that size that are being
contenpl ated to be served by the Conpany.

Have you reviewed the data center tax exenption
provisions in statute that you are tal king about here
I n your rebuttal, talking about deferring to a future
case?

| reviewed thembriefly, it wasn't the main focus of
my testinmony in this case. | intend to go back to

them at the sonme point to better understand them And
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Q

that's part of the reason that | didn't make any, you
know, further proposals related to that in this case.
Okay. | just want to show you one of themto see if
you recall reviewing it. So |I'mgoing to share again.
Do you see public Act 207 of 2024 on ny screen?
| do.
Okay. So I'mgoing to bunp down to sub 10, the
| egi slature wites all these subparts, right? 1It's
hard to navi gate these statutes because the
subparts -- there are so many subparts. Sub 10 is --
okay, so sub 10 is here as used in this section, and
then there are a bunch of subparts. And one of the
subparts is X?

Well, now I've lost it, | had it in ny

outline but |I've lost it. G ve ne a second.

There it is. So they're this -- there's
this sub X. "The facility will not take electric
service under any of the followng rates.” And then
one of those rates -- one of those rates is LTILRR,

one of those rates is LED, and then one of those rates
s, "a rate that causes residential custoners to
subsi di ze the costs incurred to provide electric
service to the facility"; do you see that?

Yes.

| guess ny question is, is there any reason to
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believe -- do you have any reason to believe or any
know edge of |ike sonme kind of a lag tine or a del ay
in the requirenment to conply with that provision?

The provision nerely states that a data center -- this
i s ny understanding, at |east.

MM hmm??

That a data center which wishes to avail itself of the
tax exenption described in this act would have this
applied. So to the extent that there is no such
custonmer, then any tinme between this -- |ike between
this being determined to be the case or not the case
is irrelevant.

You said any tinme between -- what and what? Can you
repeat that? What is irrelevant? Between what and
what ?

Bet ween a custoner actually seeking to avail

t hensel ves of the tax exenption provided for in the
act, and a determ nation that a rate they may take
service on woul d cause residential custoners to
subsi di ze them

s irrelevant?

Yes.

Why ?

As | said, unless there is a custoner actually trying

avail thensel ves of it.
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So there's no need to address that requirenment of the
tax credit statute until when? When a tax credit is
clained? O in the |lead-up of sone kind before a tax
credit is clainmed? O what?

| couldn't be sure. As far as ny reading, the statute
isn't clear as to how that determ nation would be
made. So | can't say what the statute may have

contenpl ated for the process leading up to that.

Okay. Are you famliar -- and again, |I'm not asking
you | egal questions, |'m asking you questions in your
position as a -- sort of your |eadership position in

regul atory and the understandi ngs on which you've
based your testinmony. Are you aware of 460.11, the
cost of service provision of the Public Utilities Act?
I am

Okay. And there is a -- there is a provision in that
statute, and we certainly can look at it if you want
to, but | expect you're pretty famliar with it, that
says, "In establishing cost of service rates, the
Commi ssion shall ensure that each class or subclass is
assessed for its fair and equitable use of the
electric grid"; do you recall that --

Yes.

-- provision? Wen in your opinion does that need to

be sorted out relative to this com ng data center
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| oad, whether it's the 1,000-nmegawatt facility that

apparently was just signed up, or the other facilities

that Consunmers was talking to staff about are on the

way ?

| don't necessarily see a connection between those two

t hi ngs.

VWi ch two things?

The requi rement under the |law that rates by cl ass be

cost-based, and the existence of potential data center

| oad.

So it's fair to say, is it not, that in the history of

the Public Service Comm ssion we've never seen
| arge | oads comng in single additions or small
tranches of additions?

| think the relative certainty of the potenti al

such

| oad

that we are discussing is unknown. | know there are

relatively large customers that have come onto the

systemin the past. \Whether or not they are of the

size of the potential custoners we are discussi

am not certain.

ng, |

You' ve not undertaken, in any of the work you did to

prepare your rebuttal testinony, to ascertain whether

anything like this has happened before?

Well, nothing exactly like this has happened before.

The Conpany has had | arge | oad additions occur

in the
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past. How long ago, | can't say necessarily. But
agai n, because the certainty of the potential load is
relatively low, right? -- these are just potenti al
custonmers at this point -- it remains to be seen

whet her or not what gets added is comensurate with
anything that has occurred in the past.

Well, Consuners announced yesterday, apparently, the
addition of 1,000 negawatts in a single custoner,
right?

My understanding is that Consuners announced t hat
based on the information that you provided ne earlier.
VWhet her it actually comes to pass remains to be seen.
Has staff ever seen an addition to Consuners' system
anywhere on that scal e?

Of approximately 1 gigawatt?

Ri ght .

Not that | can think of.

If we're adding |oads of that scale, isn't it going to
be necessary to eval uate sooner rather than |ater
whet her and how to ensure that they're assessed for
their fair and equitable use of the electric grid?
There's nothing in any |law that requires custoners of
that size to be in their own class. Wether or not

t hey would be is an open question.

And even if they were a nenber of another
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class, the natural way that a rate case works and, you
know, conpliance with the | aw would ensure that by
class, rates are based on the cost to serve that

cl ass.

That law is not self-executing. That |aw has to be --
evi dence has to be put in a case and eval uated and
argued over and adjudicated, right?

Exactly. That's --

| mean, the law -- the existence -- sorry, go ahead.
Go ahead.
Exactly. That's the point, | think, of a lot of ny

rebuttal testinony is that there are proceedings in
whi ch these things are adjudicated, and all the

evi dence is presented and properly consi dered.

Let's | ook at some of your -- let ne ask you this, if
Consuners is signing up custoners now, do you

acknow edge any downside risk to relieving resolution
of cost of service and procurenent issues to sone
future cases on some unknown future tineline, sone
nunber of years from now?

| don't know that | would characterize it as a higher
risk than attenpting to do it in this case.

| didn't ask you that. | asked you if you

acknowl edged any downside risk to deferring those

I ssues for sonme nunber of years when Consunmers is
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signing up custoners now. Do you acknow edge any
downside risk to that approach?

|"m struggling to come up with an exanple of downside
ri sk associated with that, as we sit here today.

Do you believe that Consumers can enter into rate
contracts with custoners and then change the rates,
charges, terms, and provisions of those contracts
without limtation in the future?

VWile |I'"mnot an expert on contract law, | know that a
nunmber of the contracts the conpani es have signed with
custoners in the past basically refer to the tariff
books as part of their terms. So that as the tariff
book, itself, changes, the contract automatically

I ncorporates that into the service provided to the
cust oner.

Have you revi ewed Consuners' proposed contract with
data centers and satisfied yourself that that contract
fits the bill?

| do not believe | have conducted that analysis.

Are you aware that Ms. Connolly, a few days ago -- do
you know whet her Ms. Connolly, a few days ago,

acknowl edged sone concern with the strength or not of
the conditions of that contract?

| do not.

Let's take a | ook at some of your discovery responses.
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|"mgoing to try to -- I"'mgoing to try to expedite
the rest of your exam here to get you off so we can
get Ms. Ramirez on as soon as we can. |I'mgoing to
take a few shortcuts here.

So in your folder, proposed Exhibit MEC- 38,
i f you woul d open that one up

| have it open

Okay. So this is a -- this is your response to the
guestions we asked you 1-A through --- through -F,
correct?

Yes.

Okay. In subpart B which is on page 4 of the exhibit,
we asked you to "Describe in detail how the issues you
cl ai m shoul d be addressed in the IRP case instead of
this case can be addressed prior to Consumers mnaking
contractual comm tments or investnents for the first
group of data center or new | arge | oad custoners"; do
you see that?

| do.

You indicated that it's uncertain when those things
wi Il occur. And you indicate also, "It my be that no
contractual comm tnments or investnents are nade prior
to the regularly schedul ed cadence of such cases,"”
correct?

That is correct.
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Q At the time you offered us this response you were

unawar e that Consuners was either about to make or had

just nmade a |l arge contractual conmtnent to one of

t hese custoners?

A. " m not sure that | have enough know edge from what

you presented previously in my cross-exam nation to
say what you showed ne represents a contractua

conmm tment or investnent.

Q Okay. |I'mgoing to nove -- |1'd love to argue with you

about this longer, but 1'"'mgoing to try to keep this

novi ng.

MR. BZDOK: And |I'mgoing to nove to admt

Exhi bit MEC- 38.

JUDGE TALBOT: All right, any objection to

t he adm ssion of MEC-38?
Al'l right, hearing none, it's admtted.
EXH BIT MEC-38 ADM TTED
2:04 p.m
JUDGE TALBOT: Go ahead.
MR. BZDOK: Thank you.

BY MR. BZDOK:

Q Also on this one, on the sane answer before we | eave

It, you state -- | need to find it. Oh, | see. So

it's sort of in the mddle of that -- I'min subpart

still -- in the mddle of that response. "The Conpany

B
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could agree or be required to file such cases earlier
than currently assuned in order to ensure the issues
are properly contenplated in the appropriate cases";
do you see that?

Yes.

s there any plan to require the Conpany to file any
of these cases we've been discussing early?

Ot her than what mght already exist as a result of
previ ous Conmm ssion orders or settlenent agreenments
approved by the Comm ssion, | am unaware of any.

Oh, okay.

Are you aware that Consumers, inits
current electric rate case 21870, has not nmade any
proposals relative to data centers or other |arge |oad
custoners in terns of cost of service, cost
al |l ocation, cost assignnent, et cetera?
| have not yet been able to review that case, but |
have no reason to doubt that what you are saying is
true.

You're famliar with the cadence of rate cases?
Approxi mately annual Iy, for Consuners Electric.

So the current one is going to get an order sonetine
second quarter of next year?

|"m not certain when it was filed, but I'd have to

reason to doubt that that's the case.
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Q So there's a -- roughly speaking then, there's a '25

rate case that will get an order in '26, right?
A It depends on when it's filed. | nean, they're
ten-nonth cases. So if it's filed in January or
February, it could conme out in the sane year
Q Okay. G ve ne a second?
MR. BZDOK: Can | share, your Honor?
JUDGE TALBOT: Yes.

BY MR. BZDOK:

Q So M. Revere, can you see on ny screen the e-docket
for 218707

A. | can.

Q Can or cannot ?

A. | can see it.

Q Okay. Application, go to the application, does that

refresh your nenory as to whether it was filed
June 2nd of this year?

A If you scroll past the -- there we go. The docunent
that you are showing ne is dated June 2nd, 2025.

Q So based on that cadence, we're | ooking at an order
the late spring of 2026, fair?

Early spring.

Q Okay. And then the next case after that would be an

order sonetinme in 2027; does that sound right?

in

A. Assuming that they file after the 12 nonths fromtheir
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filing fromthis year occurred? Yes.

It can't be sooner than that, right?

Correct.

So any -- so with no cost allocation, costs assignnment
costs of service, related proposals for data centers,
or large load custoners in the current rate case, the
earliest tineline in which these issues would be
addressed in a general electric rate case would be an
order in 2027, right?

| can't agree with that, because -- you know, just
because Consunmers didn't propose anything doesn't say
anyt hi ng about what staff or other intervenors m ght
propose in the case that the Comm ssion would rule on.
Does staff have a plan to propose anything relative to
these issues in the pending electric rate case?

If staff has such a plan, | wasn't involved in

di scussing it or determning it.

None of your testinony was based on any understandi ng
in that regard, right?

That's correct.

Let's look at MEC-39 real quick. This is your
responses to question 2 and the subparts; is that

ri ght?

So long as A through C are the extent of the subparts,

yes.
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Okay. |'Il represent to you that they are.
Ckay.
Here, we asked about what case -- in what case should

actions be required of Consuners to ensure conpliance
with the provisions of the statute related to data
center tax exenptions? In what case should those be
addressed and when would it occur?

And you -- there was an objection to the
guestion, and there was a statenment that staff
declines to speculate in what case that would be
addressed fully. And it could be addressed in a
vari ety of possible cases, fair?
| do believe that's fair.

So don't deal with themin this case, deal with them
In some other cases to be determned on a tineline to
be determ ned?

To the extent that they need to be dealt with at all.

MR. BZDOK: |'mgoing to nove to admt 39.

JUDGE TALBOT: Any objection to the
adm ssi on of MEC- 397

MR. SINGH: Yes, your Honor. The
obj ection's the sanme as what's witten there. In
essence it's calling for speculation. M. Revere, as
a staff witness, can't speculate as to what type of

case reformthe Conm ssion would require the Conpany
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to address, tax exenpt data centers, tax exenption
| ssues.

JUDGE TALBOT: Response?

MR. BZDOK: So |I'm not sure what
evidentiary rule is being relied on that would keep
this out. | do understand the position which is both
phrased as an objection and al so phrased in the body
of the response is we don't know and it's uncertain.
And | think that has -- and that was al so confirned,
then, in the l[ife testinony.

And | think that it's relevant to this
debat e about, you know, M. Revere's position is,
don't deal with these issues the interveners want to
deal with in this case, deal with themin other
proceedings. It's relevant to say we don't know what
t hose ot her proceedings are going to be or when
they' re going to be.

So | agree they're saying they can't
specul ate that will be, but | think that's an answer
and | think it's rel evant.

JUDGE TALBOT: Any response?

MR, SINGH | think staff will withdrawits
obj ecti on.

JUDGE TALBOT: I'msorry, did you say

w t hdr aw?
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MR. SINGH: Wthdraw its objection.
JUDGE TALBOT: Okay, well then, 1'I1 allow
the objection to be w thdrawn.
Go ahead, M. Bzdok.
MR. BZDOK: Thanks, Amt.
BY MR, BZDCXK:
Q Let's | ook at MEC-40.
A. | have it up
Q So this relates to -- again, |I'mtaking shortcuts a
little bit. Normally I would talk to you about what's
in your rebuttal and then we'd go to the thing, but
"mjust trying to go quickly here.
But let's turn back to your rebuttal, page
10, lines 11 to 18, that this question is asking you
about. In lines 11 to 18, you have this testinony
that a nunber of interveners also claimthat serving
custoners under this provision is distinguishable from
service provided to other custoners to the point that
they should be treated as if they are being served
I ndi vidual ly rather than as a part of the Conpany's
overall |oad, correct?
Yes.
Q And then you state, "while staff agrees that the sheer
scale of the customers to be served under the proposed

revision is unique, the Conpany will still serve them
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as part of their overall |oad plan for their overal

| oad, including these custoners. So such treatnment is
unjustified, inappropriate, and may be discrimnatory
as such options are not available to other custoners,"”
correct?

That's what it says, yes.

And then we asked you what was -- why is treating
uniquely large |loads of this scale as if they're being
served individually unjustified? And you said in your
answer that -- that you're not taking that position,
but rather you're taking the position that it my be
unjustified in some cases, fair?

| mean, it may be unjustified in any instance. [|'m
just -- it's a "may" as opposed to an "is."

The response nore or | ess changed your testinony from

is" to "may," | mean --

| think it clar -- | would describe it nore as
clarifying the testinmony. The testinony is neant to
apply to the record in the instant case as opposed to
the staff's position entirely in all instances.

Okay. So let's take, for exanple, a 1,000-nmegawatt

| oad edition as a single custonmer. |If there was ever
an instance in which a custonmer of uniquely |arge

scale may properly be considered in such a way that

serving that custonmer is distinguishable from serving
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ot her custoners to the point they should be treated
i ndividually, | mean, is there any conceivable
scenari o where that would be nore appropriate?

As it's uncertain whether or not it's appropriate at

all, I don't think I can answer the question as posed
to.
Okay. You also state that it's nost -- nore

appropriate to consider such issues in the context of
the cases described in 1-A as -- and then you say, "As
well as that certain allocation and direct assignnment

| ssues are nore appropriately contenplated in rate
cases where such issues can be fully examned in the
appropriate context," right?

Yes.

Are you involved at all in the rate case inprovenent
docket ?

Yes.

Staff nmade a recommendation in that docket that cost
all ocation and cost of service issues should be broken

out of general cases as a standal one proceeding; is

that right?
No.
Can you take a |l ook at your -- in the SharePoint,

proposed Exhi bit MEC-43?

| have it open
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These are staff's coments in the rate case
i mprovenment docket, staff's initial coments; is that
right?
That's what the docunent is | abeled as.
Do you have reason to doubt that these are staff's
initial coments?
| do not.
Okay. Comment 4B, which is page -- starts on page 9
of the exhibit, down towards the bottonf
"' mthere.
Has a comment "separate the revenue requirenent
deficiency (rev def) and the cost of service rate
design costs (RD) into separate proceedings, "The rate
case is a huge undertaking. And one way to reduce the
size, scope, and volunme while still resulting in
reasonabl e rates would be to separate the two primry
conponents of the rate case into two separate
st andal one proceedi ngs. "

Was your -- was your disagreenment with ny
guestion about staff's position in the rate case
| nprovenent docket based on how I worded the question?
O were you unaware that staff had taken this
position? O sonmething el se?
|"'maware -- there's the problemthere, | think. It's

not a position, it's not a recommendation, it is a
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comment that staff nade, an option for the

Commi ssion's consideration, rather than a stance of
staff or a recommendation of staff that it be done.

So staff's coments are not reconmendati ons?

This is -- | believe it says at a nunber of places in
t he docunent, that unless otherw se stated, these are
not recommendati ons.

Okay.

That's nmy recollection.

Okay. The comment at | east acknow edges or assunes or
understands in some way that it is challenging in the
rate cases to deal with both all the revenue

requi rement issues and all of the cost of service

I ssues in the same proceeding; is that fair?

I"'mnot sure that | would characterize it that way.
It's just a way that you could reduce the nunber of

| ssues under consideration, reducing the volume of the
case. |I'mnot sure that | would necessarily
characterize it as saying that a rate case is
chal l enging. Like yes, it is a big case.

And | believe elsewhere in this docunment or
previous coments in this docket, staff said that we
can do ten nonth rate cases. We've been doing it for
years. W're a well-oiled machine at this point.

MR. BZDOK: 1'mgoing to nove to admt
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MEC- 43.

JUDGE TALBOT: All right. Any objection to
t he adm ssion of MEC-43?

Heari ng none, it's admtted.

EXH BIT ME-43 ADM TTED

2:22 p.m

JUDGE TALBOT: Did we admt 39?

MR. BZDOK: If not, | nove to admt it.

JUDGE TALBOT: Any objection to MEC-39?

Al right, so MEC-39 and 43 are both
adm tted.

EXH BIT MEC-39 ADM TTED

2:22 p.m

JUDGE TALBOT: |I'm not sure either.

Go ahead, M. Bzdok.

MR. BZDOK: Thank you. |1'mgoing to nove
to admt MEC -- Tasha tells me 39 was adm tted, but
now it's admtted -- it's doubly admtted.

I"'mgoing to nmove to admit MEC-41, which is
M. Revere's responses to questions 4A and B, and |'m
going to do that w thout questions, just to keep this
novi ng.

JUDGE TALBOT: Any objection to MEC-41?

Hearing none, it's admtted.

EXH BI' T MEC-41 ADM TTED
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2:23 p.m
JUDGE TALBOT: Go ahead.

MR. BZDOK: |I'mgoing to ask for a
five-mnute -- |1 think we've been going wthout a
break. 1'mgoing to ask for a five-mnute to confer

with the brains of nmy operation --

JUDGE TALBOT: Why don't we --

MR. BZDOK: -- before | would close out on
the w tness.

JUDGE TALBOT: All right, why don't we take
ten m nutes and then everyone can use the restroom or
get nore coffee or whatever. All right, so we'll take
ten m nutes be back here at, let's see, 23, so 33,
2:33. Thank you.

(Recess taken at 2:23 p.m)

(On the record at 2:36 p.m)

JUDGE TALBOT: All right, so we're back on
the record in Mchigan Public Service case U-21859.

M . Bzdok was concl uding his cross-exam nation.

Go ahead.

For the record, M. Bzdok indicated he's
havi ng troubl e heari ng.

Al right, go ahead. Any further cross?

MR. BZDOK: Yeah, just a few things. So

first I want to nove to admt proposed Exhibit MEC-40,
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which are M. Revere's responses to question 3.
JUDGE TALBOT: All right, any objection to
t he adm ssion of MEC-407?
Al right, hearing none, it's admtted.
EXH BIT MEC-40 ADM TTED
2:38 p.m
JUDGE TALBOT: Go ahead.
BY MR, BZDCXK:
Q M. Revere, are you aware of whether Consuners pending
REP case includes | arge ambunts of data center load in

the forecast?

A. | am not certain, but | do not believe it does.

MR. BZDOK: Thank you, M. Revere, | don't
have any further questions for you at this tine.

MR. SINGH: Judge, you're nuted.

JUDGE TALBOT: Yes, thank you.

Al right, anybody el se have any ot her
cross for M. Revere?

MR. WOLLENZIEN: | see Ms. Uitvlugt --

JUDGE TALBOT: Oh, yes, I'msorry, go
ahead.

MS5. U TVLUGT: | have just a couple of
questi ons, your Honor.

JUDGE TALBOT: Everybody speak up

Go ahead.
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CROSS- EXAM NATI ON

BY MS. Ul TVLUGT:

Q
A

Can you hear nme okay?
Yes.
Fantastic, thank you, M. Revere.

Just a few m nutes ago with your cross from
M . Bzdok you provided testinmony regarding the current
tinmelines, or tinme frames, in which Consumers Energy
files rate cases, |IRPs, and renewabl e energy plans; is
t hat accurate?
| believe that | did.
To the best of your know edge, could Consuners Energy
amend its IRP filing at a different tinme than the tinme
frame specified?
That is the -- like amend the current case? The
pendi ng one?
Coul d Consuners Energy seek to anend an approved | RP?
My famliarity with the |law regarding that doesn't
cover that, so |l -- | amactually not sure.
Okay. Based on your fam liarity and understanding,
coul d Consuners Energy file an anendnent sooner to its
renewabl e energy pl an?
| have no reason to believe that they could not.

MS. Ul TVLUGT: Thank you, your Honor.

That's all | have.
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JUDGE TALBOT: All right, thank you.
Any ot her cross-exam nation for M. Revere?
Go ahead, you can speak up. Go ahead.
MR. WOLLENZI EN:  Thank you, your Honor.
CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MR, WOLLENZI EN
Q First of all, to just follow up very briefly on what

Consuners' counsel just asked you about, M. Revere,

s --

JUDGE TALBOT: (Okay, whoa, whoa. Just one
second.

MR. WOLLENZIEN: Oh, sorry.

JUDGE TALBOT: | just want to clarify that
the attorney general is -- it was just the Conpany,
now it's the attorney general. Go ahead.

MR. WOLLENZI EN: | apol ogi ze, your Honor,

"' mrushing in here.
Yes, Lucas Wl | enzien on behalf of Attorney

General Dana Nessel .

BY MR. WOLLENZI EN

Q And | apologize if M. Bzdok from MNSC al ready asked
you about this, but in -- fromthe Conpany, the
counsel with the Conpany just asked you a second ago,
coul d Consumers cone in for an anmended renewabl e

energy plan sooner than is provided for necessarily in
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the statute. And you said yes; is that correct?
No.

Q Sorry, how did you respond to her question about when
t he Conpany could (unintelligible) renewabl e energy
pl an?

A. " m not certain that the question was in regards to
REP or an IRP, first. And second, ny response was --
to the question, was | have no reason to believe that
t hey coul d not.

Q Okay. So you don't know, then? |Is that the answer
you' re sayi ng?

A My initial response to the first -- or like the first
gquestion she asked ne was |'muncertain because |I'm
not famliar wth that portion of the law. Now I'm
doubting nmy own recollection if those questions, one
of them was about the IRP and one of them was about
t he REP.

MR. WOLLENZI EN: Leisa, do you have -- can
you read back to ne the second question that
Ms. Uitvlugt asked M. Revere?

(Record read.)

BY MR, WOLLENZI EN

Q Okay. M. Revere, as to that answer that M. Pastor
just read off there, are you saying that you don't

know when you say you' ve no reason they could not?
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Simlarly,

not famli

to the answer to the first question, | am

ar enough with the REP |l aw to be certain,

but | have no reason to believe they couldn't.

But do you have any reason to believe that they coul d?

More than
V\hy ?
| believe

I have to believe that they couldn't.

that you're allowed to amend those pl ans,

but I'"mjust not famliar enough with the law to be

certain.

Okay. To

your know edge, are the required to anmend it

sooner than what is currently set in the statute?

Now you're well beyond ny ability to answer.

Okay. Al

right, thank you.

| did have a separate line of followup,

very brief here, questions that | was hoping to ask

Wtness |sakson about earlier today. Wre you present

during M.

| was.

| sakson's testinony here this norning?

Okay. And | had started asking hima little bit about

speci al contracts; do you recall that?

| do.

And 1111

ust ask you some of the sanme questions. To

t he extent that Consumers Energy has other custoners

representi

custoners

ng | arge | oads, do sonme of those other

t ake servi ce under special contracts?
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How woul d you define | arge | oad?

Greater than 50 negawatts for the purposes of our
conversation here?

Okay. |'mnot 100 percent certain that -- what the
size of their largest custoner is. | do not believe
that they currently have any electric special
contracts under which they are serving custoners.

VWhat ki nd of considerations go into whether or not a
custonmer takes service under a special contract?

In general, there's kind of two reasons that you m ght
want to give a special contract. One is because a
custonmer is so unique that having a rate schedul e that
only applies to them just makes other custoners ask
why they can't be on that rate schedul e?

For exanple, there are a couple for snaller
utilities where they have one relatively | arge
conpared to the rest of their customers, a custoner
that gets served under a special contract for that
reason.

For the larger conpanies | can't speak to
why a Conpany coul d determ ne a special contract could
be appropriate. | do know that the rules under which
t he Comm ssion has applied to eval uati ng whet her or
not any di scount associated with a special contract

should be collected fromother custoners, there are
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basic -- you have to show that the custonmers' cost to
serve differs so nmuch from other custoner classes that
a special contract would be appropriate.

However, special contracts are at the
Conmpany's discretion to enter into. The Comm ssion's
authority -- they do have the authority to approve
them But | think nore inportantly in a rate case
afterwards, is the determ nation of whether or not any
di scount associated with that special contract is
collected fromother custonmers. So entering into a
special contract is somewhat of a risk on the
Conpany's part.
So you said that the relative size of the custoner
m ght be one conponent in considering whether a
speci al contract should apply for any given custoner,
right?
Yes.
And you al so nentioned, | believe, a differential in
cost to serve or a consideration of a potenti al

differential in cost to serve; is that correct?

It can be a consideration that -- repeat the question,
pl ease.
Certainly. Let nme put it a different -- I'Il put it a

different way. Wuld the cost to serve a custoner

greater than 500 negawatts, or at 500 negawatts, vary
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greatly fromthe custoners currently on Consuners Rate
GPD?

Not on |like a per negawatt or a per negawatt hour
basis, | can't say for certain. Usually the major
determ ning factors of the cost to serve a custoner
has nore to do with their | oad shape or the

rel ati onship between their demand and the tine of
their usage. So | can't say whether or not that would
be the case.

And do you know anyt hi ng about how the | oad shape of
data centers conpares to custoners that currently
exi st on Consuners Rate GPD?

"' m not sure that -- are you asking about |oad -- data
centers that are currently on GPD?

No.

Maybe you shoul d repeat the question. |I'mnot sure
that | heard it properly.

Absol utely, absolutely. Well, let me put it this way,
part of the discussion here has been the fact that
data centers, at least as far as | understand it,
operate differently than traditional industrial
custonmers in the sense they operate, let's say,
24/ 7/ 365; is that right?

For certain types of data centers, | believe that to

be the case. | do not believe that is universally
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applicable. | have seen sonme information, |'m not
sure how nmuch to rely on it, that Al data centers in
particul ar, because of the nature of the training

| oad, are actually nmore like a netal nelter. VWhich is
to a say a relatively poor |load factor rather than a
24/ 7 high | oad factor custoner, |like a nore
traditional data center m ght be considered to be.
Okay. So we discussed a second ago sone of the unique
conponents you mght look at, or a utility m ght | ook
at, in assessing whether or not a special contract
woul d be fitting for any particular | custoner,
correct?

Ve did.

Okay. And when a utility decides that, do they
require that custoner to take sonme risks on a
different rate before taking service on the speci al
contract?

It would depend.

Do you have any exanples where that's the case?

If you were an already existing customer and you
requested to negotiate a special contract with the
Conpany and they agreed to do so, that would be a case
I n which they took service on another rate. Speci al
contracts can also be witten in such a way that the

rate that applies to the special contract is actually
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atariffed rate, and that that tariffed rate applies
even as that tariffed rate changes.

In the context where a custonmer would be on a separate
rate and then take service under a special contract,
woul d they have been required to take that service
under the special rate initially?

Well, I don't think I intended to say special rate,
just another rate.

Ch.

A rate other than the special contract.

Strike that. | mxed up ny term nol ogy.

In the hypothetical you described where a
custonmer was taking service on a separate rate and
then shifting to a special contract. Wuld they have
been required to take service on that separate rate
before taking service on the special contract?

It's hard -- | nmean, | wouldn't say generally they're
required to take service on a rate before they get a
special contract, as in it's not a condition of
negotiating a special contract that you have to have
al ready taken service on a different rate. And a new
custoner could attenpt to negotiate a special contract
with the utility.

But | nmean, as far as which rate a custoner

t akes service on, there are usually availability
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paranmeters such that there are only a few rates that a
custonmer could choose from if they have any choice at
all, of what rate they would take service under.

VWhen considering appropriate ternms of service for a
new custoner, do you see any reason, generally, why a
customer m ght necessitate rate on a -- service on a
separate rate before taking service on a speci al
contract?

Now, you keep saying "separate rate." You nean a rate
ot her than taking service under a special contract?
Correct.

So an existing rate?

Yes.

| couldn't say. |It's entirely possible that the
utility mght require a custoner to take service under
a rate that's already provided for if the nature of
the attachnment expenses are such that they basically
have to enter into an extraordinary facilities
agreenent under the CIAC provision. They may -- the
Conmpany may prefer to have that custoner be on a
certain rate to -- and basically agree to pay a
certain amount of demand regardl ess of their usage in
order to ensure that the revenue was sufficient to
cover those costs.

Are you aware of any such exanples like that?
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Yes.

VWhat's that?

The Conpany has -- well, in the end, the custoner
agrees with the Conpany to take service under a
current rate because that is why the number of years
that the |ike m nimum demand provision would apply is
determ ned. Because it's effectively a revenue
guar ant ee.

For sonme of those things you can pay up
front, |ike you can just give the Conpany the noney
that you're required to contribute to the connection
of yourself. O you can agree to pay it over tine, or
you can agree to effectively guarantee revenue
sufficient to cover it.

Are you aware of any reason why Consuners coul dn't
require a paynment other than a connection cost or
special facility costs under the terns of the special
contract?

No.

Okay.

MR. WOLLENZIEN: | think that's it for ny
fol | ow-ups, your Honor.

JUDGE TALBOT: All right, thank you

Any ot her cross-exam nation for M. Revere?

Anybody popped up? No?
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Al'l right, hearing none, any redirect,
M . Singh, and would you like five m nutes?

MR. SINGH: | woul d, your Honor.

JUDGE TALBOT: All right, we'll go off the
record again for five mnutes. Everybody try to be
back around 3: 00. Thanks.

(Recess taken at 2:55 p.m)

(On the record at 3:00 p.m)

JUDGE TALBOT: Let's go back on the record
in Mchigan Public Service case No. U-21859.

M. Singh?

MR. SINGH  Your Honor, we do not have
redirect.

JUDGE TALBOT: All right, thank you very
much.

So it looks |Iike next we have Ms. Ramrez.

Oh, I"'msorry. M. Revere, thank you very
much, you're excused.

MR. REVERE: Thank you, your Honor.

JUDGE TALBOT: Thank you

Al right, there's Ms. Ramrez. Al right,
| guess --

COURT REPORTER: Would you like for ne to
swear her in?

JUDGE TALBOT: Yes. M. Elkin, | had you
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filling in sonething. Are you handling thi
M. Elkin?
MR. ELKIN:  Yes, your Honor.

JUDGE TALBOT: You are, okay.

S,

MR. ELKIN: Should | go ahead and call her

for the record, your Honor?
JUDGE TALBOT: Yeah, |'m sorry,

remenber who M. Elkin was representing.

| didn't

I"'mvery sorry, M. Elkin. So yeah, let's

go ahead and swear the witness, Ms. Ramrez.

SHANA RAM REZ,

was thereupon called as a witness herein, and after

having first been duly sworn to testify to
the whole truth and nothing but the truth,

exam ned and testified as foll ows:

the truth,

was

MR. VI JAYKAR: Hi, good afternoon.

JUDGE TALBOT: I'msorry, M. Vi
sorry, |I'mgoing to mangl e your nanme again,

sorry.

-- I''m

l'"m so

MR. VI JAYKAR: That's okay, that's okay.

JUDGE TALBOT: Say it for ne one nore tine.

| swear |I'mgoing to get these nanmes right.
MR. VI JAYKAR: The last nane is
Vi - JAY-car (phonetic).

JUDGE TALBOT: Vijaykar, okay.

pronounced

Go ahead
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and i ntroduce your w tness.
MR. VI JAYKAR: Thank you, your Honor.

DI RECT EXAM NATI ON

BY MR, VI JAYKAR:

Q

Good afternoon, Ms. Ramirez. How are you?
I"mwel |, thank you.

Can you please state and spell your name for the
record?

Shana Ramrez, S-HA-NA RA MI-RE-Z

Thank you, Ms. Ramrez. And could you please state
the name of the party on -- on whose behal f you
sponsored testinony in this proceedi ng?

Yes, it's the Data Center Coalition.

Ms. Ramrez, did you prepare and cause to be filed
rebuttal testinony in this case?

Yes, | did.

And woul d you like to make any corrections to that
testi nony?

Yes. | have two corrections, both of which relate to
nmy response to Cl ean Energy Organi zation's Wtness
Saad Si ddique. First on page 27 of ny testinony,
table 4, in the row | abel ed "Cl ean Energy

Organi zation, (S. Siddique)" | state 60 percent by
2035 under the colum "m ni nrum percent renewable."”

That should be changed to "not specified.™
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Ms. Ramirez, I'mgoing to ask you to slow down just a
little bit.

Okay.

So everybody can follow along. Thank you, please
conti nue.

Sure. The second correction is page 29, lines 11

t hrough 15 of ny rebuttal testinony should be
stricken. These corrections are necessary to avoid a
m scharacterization of M. Siddique' s testinony.
Thank you, Ms. Ramrez. O her than those two
corrections, do you have any other corrections to nake
to your rebuttal testinony?

No, | do not.

And if | asked you the sane questions that appear in
your testinony today, would your answers to those
gquestions be the sanme, apart fromthe corrections you
of fered on the stand today?

Yes.

And is your testinony true and correct as at the tine
It was witten to the best of your know edge, again,
apart fromthe corrections you offered on the stand

t oday?

Yes.

Thank you, Ms. Ramrez.

MR. VI JAYKAR: And your Honor, DCC would
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nove for the adm ssion of Ms. Ramrez's rebuttal
testinony, pending cross-exam nation. Tender the
Wi t ness for cross.

JUDGE TALBOT: All right, thank you

Any objection to binding in the rebuttal

testinony of Ms. Ramirez?

Heari ng none, the testinony is bound in.

(Rebuttal testinony of Shana Ramirez is

bound into the record.)
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STATE YOUR NAME, OCCUPATION, AND BUSINESS ADDRESS.
My name is Shana Ramirez, and I am a Director at Energy and Environmental Economics
also known as E3. My business address is 44 Montgomery Street, Suite 1500, San
Francisco, CA 940104.
On whose behalf are you filing testimony?
I am filing testimony on behalf of the Data Center Coalition (“DCC”).
Describe your professional background and experience.
I bring over a decade of experience in the energy industry, with a focus on regulatory policy,
load forecasting, rate design, and renewable energy development. Prior to joining E3, I
held several positions at NV Energy, including in the Rates, Load Forecasting, and
Regulatory Affairs departments. Most recently, I served as Program Development Director
in the Renewables Department.

In that role, I led a team responsible for advancing innovative power supply
solutions and tariff designs for large-load customers, including data centers and other
energy-intensive users. This work required close coordination with internal regulatory,
legal, and resource planning teams, as well as extensive engagement with external
stakeholders such as customers, developers, and regulatory staff.

A key outcome of this work was the design and successful regulatory approval of
the Clean Transition Tariff by the Public Utilities Commission of Nevada. This tariff
enables large-load customers to procure renewable energy resources to meet their
operational needs while aligning customer preferences with state policy objectives. The
role also involved negotiating and structuring contracts that included thorough assessments

of financial security requirements and risk mitigation provisions.
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Earlier in my career, I worked in the insurance sector where I performed actuarial
analysis focused on risk assessment and modeling. These skills continue to inform my
approach to evaluating utility programs and contract structures.

PLEASE DESCRIBE E3.

E3 is an economic consulting firm with more than 30 years of experience specializing in
the North American power sector. The firm provides data-driven insights and objective
recommendations to a diverse range of clients, including utilities, regulatory agencies,
government entities, project developers, investors, and non-profit organizations.

Through its work across all segments of the energy industry, E3 offers a
comprehensive understanding of energy markets, resource planning, public policy,
regulation, and environmental considerations. The firm is committed to producing clear
and impartial analyses. That is why my recommendations are fair and balanced, addressing
the needs of both the utility and large-load customers.

Have you previously testified before this Commission?

I have not.

What topics are you addressing in your testimony?

My testimony addresses financial security requirements for large load customers, including
data centers. I review all parties' proposals, outline best practices for credit and collateral
frameworks, and recommend a holistic risk-appropriate financial security approach to the
Commission. The objective is to protect ratepayers while enabling equitable and scalable
integration of large loads into Consumers’ system.

I also address the proposed clean energy and renewable resource requirements for

data centers. I evaluate all proposals, state my position, and recommend a flexible approach
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that supports clean energy options in the context of Michigan’s statues and policies for
large load customers including data centers in a non-discriminatory way.

How is your testimony structured?

My testimony is organized in two parts:

i) Part I: Financial Security

Section I: Overview of financial security and large loads
Section II: Summary of financial security proposals by party
Section III: Best practices for financial security

Section IV: Recommendation to the Commission

ii) Part II: Clean Energy

Section I: Summary of clean energy proposals by party

Section II: Recommendation to the Commission

Part I: Financial Security

Section I: Overview of financial security and large loads

Q.

A.

What is financial security?

Financial security refers to assets, credit instruments, collateral, or contractual assurances
provided by large-load customers to the utility. It serves to mitigate the risk of non-payment
or stranded assets, helping ensure that the cost of service is recovered and not shifted to
other ratepayers.

What risks do large loads, including data centers, pose to utilities and other
ratepayers?

Large loads, such as data centers, pose several potential risks related to system reliability,

cost impacts, and regulatory compliance. Rapid and substantial load growth can strain
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existing generation resources and create congestion on transmission and distribution
networks. These pressures not only challenge the short-term reliability of the system but
also complicate long-term resource and infrastructure planning.

From a financial standpoint, utilities may need to undertake significant capital
investments in infrastructure upgrades, including new substations, transmission lines, and
distribution enhancements, to accommodate such loads. Should the customer reduce
operations unexpectedly or exit the service territory, these investments may become
stranded assets. In such cases, the financial burden could shift to other ratepayers,
especially if adequate financial security protections are not in place to mitigate the impact.
The risk of non-payment or partial recovery of infrastructure costs also poses a liability for
the utility and its broader customer base.

The accelerated growth in electricity demand associated with large load customers
may challenge the utility’s ability to procure or develop sufficient clean energy resources,
implicating statutory or regulatory clean energy and emission reductions targets along with
the utility’s own voluntary objectives.

What are the potential benefits of large load customers taking service in Consumers
Energy’s territory?

Large load customers, including data centers, manufacturing facilities, and emerging
industries, provide substantial economic, operational, and strategic benefits to the utility
and the broader community. Economically, they contribute to job creation, attract private
investment, expand the tax base, and stimulate regional economic development. From a

system reliability perspective, their presence may support and even accelerate necessary
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utility investments in aging infrastructure, ultimately enhancing service quality for all
customers.

Multi-year service commitments from large load customers enhance the utilization
of both existing and new generation and transmission assets. These customers also
contribute stable, long-term demand, which supports more efficient resource planning and
system modernization efforts.

Financially, large loads can increase and stabilize utility revenues by expanding
overall system usage. A higher total sales volume allows the utility to distribute fixed
system costs across more kilowatt-hours, which may help reduce costs for other ratepayers.

From a policy and compliance standpoint, many large load customers are actively
pursuing ambitious sustainability objectives. This creates opportunities for meaningful
collaboration on clean energy procurement, energy efficiency initiatives, and innovative
grid solutions. Furthermore, large, consistent loads may catalyze the deployment of
emerging technologies, such as advanced geothermal or nuclear power, hydrogen-based
fuels, and grid-scale energy storage as well as supporting a variety of grid-enhancing
technologies. By serving as anchor customers or project sponsors, these entities can help
advance alternative pathways to achieving the utility’s clean energy and decarbonization
goals especially if they are willing to take on more risk such as supporting first-of-a-kind
technologies that is not appropriate for a utility to bear but could provide future benefits
when those technologies are potentially de-risked.

Do you support requiring financial security from large load customers?
I support requiring financial security from large load customers as a means of protecting

utilities and their ratepayers from potential financial risks, including stranded assets,
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project delays, and customer default. Large load projects often require substantial
infrastructure investment. If such projects are canceled, delayed, or significantly reduced,
the resulting sunk costs may ultimately be shifted to other ratepayers. Financial assurances
such as collateral, guarantees, or prepayments work in tandem with others rate payer
protections such as capacity reduction penalties and exit fees. These mechanisms
collectively ensure that customers assume appropriate responsibility for the risks they
introduce and that the utility can recover its costs.
At a high level, how should the utility approach the design of financial security
requirements for large load customers?
Financial security requirements should be proportionate to the specific risks associated
with each project. Many large load customers are backed by financially stable sponsors and
supported by long-term commercial commitments. A rigid and uniform approach may
unintentionally deter low-risk, high-value projects. A more effective strategy involves
structuring requirements to evolve over time, beginning with a collateral ramp reflective
of utility investments, full collateral held during any ramp period and the reduction of
collateral once at full contracted capacity as the risk to both the utility and rate payers
diminishes over the contract term. This staged approach appropriately reflects the risk
profile from the utility’s perspective.

Offering a range of credit tools, such as milestone-based collateral structures, surety
bonds, guarantees, or upfront financial contributions, can provide necessary flexibility
while maintaining financial discipline. Tailoring credit requirements to a project and
customer-specific risk enhances transparency, reduces unnecessary capital constraints, and

supports responsible growth. The goal is to strike a balance between protecting ratepayers
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and enabling scalable, long-term development that delivers benefits to both the utility and
the broader community.

In addition, flexibility in financial security frameworks can improve how customers
perceive investment risk in the utility’s service territory. While stricter requirements may
appear to reduce risk, excessive collateral obligations can, in practice, deter investment.
When combined with uncertain project timelines, these obligations can significantly
increase carrying costs for customers. This may lead to otherwise viable projects being
abandoned or removed from interconnection queues, which in turn increases the risk of
stranded assets and undermines the very protections the financial requirements aim to
ensure.

Should financial security requirements apply only to data centers?

No. Limiting financial security requirements to data centers while exempting other large
load customers is both inequitable and unjustified. All large loads, whether from new or
existing customers, including manufacturing facilities and other high-demand users, can
pose similar financial and operational risks to utilities. These risks include project
cancellations, delays, underperformance, or abrupt departures, any of which can result in
stranded costs or unrecovered infrastructure investments.

Imposing stricter financial requirements solely on data centers unfairly targets a
sector that often includes financially stable entities with strong institutional backing,
consistent high load factors, and long-term service commitments. At the same time, other
large customers with comparable or even greater risk profiles may not be held to the same

standards.
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It is also important to evaluate the risk characteristics of individual data centers

rather than generalizing across the entire industry. The data center sector is diverse,

encompassing a range of business models such as hyperscalers, colocation providers, and

enterprise-owned facilities. It also includes widely varying financial and ownership

structures. For this reason, a uniform approach to financial security is not appropriate.

Instead, policies should be structured based on measurable risk factors and applied
consistently across all large load customers, regardless of industry classification.

A risk-based framework should consider project maturity, customer financial

strength, and the scale of potential exposure. Applying consistent criteria in this way

promotes fairness, protects ratepayers, and upholds transparency and nondiscriminatory

utility practices. This also ensures that the financial security practices determined today

can apply to the next innovative type of large load customers.

Section II: Financial security proposals by party

Q.

Provide an overview of each party’s views on Consumers Energy’s financial security
proposal and any recommended changes.
Table 1 summarizes the recommendations and positions of all parties regarding Consumers

Energy’s financial security proposal.
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Table 1: Parties Positions on Credit and Collateral

Party Collateral Requirement Creditworthiness Criteria
Consumers Up to 100% of projected cost to Exemptions for investment-grade
Energy serve over 15-year contract term; credit and high liquidity, but not
(L. Connolly)' additional financial security at embedded in tariff.
discretion.
MPSC Staff Acknowledges the mneed for Recommends formalizing the
(D. Isakson)’ financial security to protect other evaluation process and requiring
ratepayers from risks tied to large Consumers to outline credit standards
data centers. Supports clear tariff in the tariff to avoid arbitrary
language enabling Consumers to application and ensure transparency.
require  financial  protections,
including collateral.
Attorney Supports financial security; Wants formal tariff language defining
General criticizes vagueness; seeks codified credit standards; partial/full
(M. Deupree)® credit standards and oversight. exemptions based on credit rating and
liquidity.

What is your understanding of Consumers Energy’s financial security proposal?

Consumers Energy proposes the authority to require data center customers to provide
collateral equal to up to 100 percent of the projected cost of service over a 15-year contract
term if not deemed creditworthy. Customers with credit rating of A- from S&P and A3 from
Moody’s and liquidity greater than 10 times the collateral requirement will be exempt from
collateral. Customers that do not possess that credit rating but have liquidity greater than
10 times the collateral requirement would be exempt from 50% of the requirement not
exceeding $250 million. The proposal would also allow Consumers to impose additional

financial security requirements at its discretion.

! Connolly Direct at 7 (collateral); Draft Data Center Contract at Jester Direct, Exhibit MEC-2 at 3; and Deupree
Direct at 16 (discussing including specifics of collateral requirements as part of the tariff) (credit).

2 Isakson Direct at 9-10 (collateral) and 11-12 (credit).

3 Deupree Direct at 17-18 (collateral) and 20-22 (credit).
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What is your position on Consumers Energy’s proposal?
Consumers Energy’s proposal to require up to 100 percent financial security is
disproportionate to the actual risk presented by most large load projects. When combined
with other safeguards such as exit fees, minimum billing demand provisions, and long-term
contracts, such a high collateral requirement creates an unnecessary barrier that could
discourage investment and delay beneficial projects.

Many of the customers anticipated to take service under the tariff at issue are likely
to have investment-grade credit and stable, long-term commitments. For these customers,
imposing blanket, high collateral requirements are not warranted. Instead, I support flexible
collateral structures that are calibrated to the specific risk profile of each customer. These
structures should operate within a clearly defined framework based on industry best
practices, which I discuss later in my testimony. This approach ensures both ratepayer
protection and the promotion of sustainable load growth.

Are you opposed to Consumers Energy’s proposal to address financial security
through individual agreements with customers?

No, I am not opposed. I view bilateral negotiations and a defined collateral framework as
complementary tools that serve the same overall purpose: protecting ratepayers while
enabling responsible load growth. Bilateral agreements provide the flexibility to tailor
solutions to the specific financial conditions of large load customers. At the same time, a
well-designed, standardized framework can offer consistency and transparency where
individual negotiations are not feasible. However, Consumers’ proposal does not
appropriately balance risk management with the goal of encouraging long-term,

sustainable load growth. A rigid, high-collateral model may discourage projects that could
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improve load factors, enhance fixed-cost recovery, and support grid investments. A
proportionate, risk-based framework is needed to safeguard ratepayers while enabling
growth that strengthens system performance and long-term affordability.
Provide more detail on Staff’s financial security proposal.
Staff proposes that the required collateral would equal the exit fee, defined as 80 percent
of the customer’s contracted capacity multiplied by the number of months remaining in the
contract. This amount would decrease annually to reflect the utility’s declining financial
exposure.
Customers could satisfy the requirement using approved instruments, including:
1) A parent or affiliate guarantee from an entity rated at least A- by S&P and A3 by
Moody’s, with liquidity ten times the required collateral
i1) A standby irrevocable letter of credit from a qualifying U.S. or U.S.-branch bank
ii1) Cash posted in full
iv) Unrated customers may qualify for a 50 percent exemption, capped at $250 million, if
they provide quarterly financials and certify liquidity of ten times the required amount.
Staff’s proposal rejects Consumers Energy’s broader discretionary authority to require
collateral up to the full projected service cost.
What is your position on Staff’s proposal?
I do not support Staff’s proposal. While its intent to protect ratepayers is sound, the
collateral structure is excessive and misaligned with practical risk management. Requiring
collateral equal to the full or half of the remaining exit fee imposes an unnecessary barrier

for customers, particularly those with strong financial backing and long-term

commitments.
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A more appropriate approach would base collateral on a customer’s monthly bill
over a defined period. This method better reflects actual exposure and allows exemptions
for creditworthy customers. The collateral should increase as the utility makes investments
on the customers behalf to the date of energization and then should also be reduced
annually following the ramp period, recognizing the declining risk to the utility and
ratepayers.

If the Commission includes credit requirements in the tariff, they should be based
on project-specific risk. The current proposal, even in its “compromise” form, still poses
an unreasonable financial barrier and does not align with principles of fairness, risk
calibration, or regulatory equity.

What is the Attorney General’s financial security proposal?

The Attorney General opposes granting the utility broad authority to impose collateral
equal to the full cost of service. Instead, the proposal calls for specific tariff language to
govern how collateral is calculated and to ensure that only customers posing significant
risk are required to provide financial security.

The Attorney General supports Consumers’ exemptions for customers with
investment-grade credit ratings and sufficient liquidity, and allows a 50 percent exemption,
capped at $250 million, for unrated customers that meet liquidity thresholds. These
standards must be clearly stated in the tariff.

What is your position on the Attorney General’s proposal?
I do not support the Attorney General’s proposal because it is overly prescriptive and does
not provide adequate flexibility for Consumers Energy and large load customers to engage

in bilateral negotiations regarding financial security requirements. Bilateral agreements are
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an important tool that allow financial security obligations to be tailored based on the unique

financial characteristics, risk profiles, and development stages of individual projects. This

flexibility is critical to supporting long-term, sustainable load growth while ensuring that

collateral requirements remain proportionate and do not create unnecessary barriers to
investment.

However, I also recognize the importance of establishing a consistent framework
that outlines guiding principles for determining financial security obligations. A well-
defined framework can enhance transparency, promote fairness, and provide a predictable
structure for both the utility and prospective customers. It helps ensure that ratepayers are
protected and that financial risk is managed appropriately.

Importantly, I do not view a consistent framework and the ability to negotiate
bilateral agreements as mutually exclusive. Rather, they can and should function together.
A standardized framework can serve as a foundational reference that sets expectations and
best practices, while still allowing for case-by-case adjustments through negotiation where
circumstances warrant a more customized approach. This dual-path structure ensures that

the utility is equipped to manage financial risk effectively while also encouraging economic

development and grid-enhancing projects.

Section I1I: Financial security best practices

Q.

A.

Are there best practices for large load financial security?

Yes. E3 has identified best practices for managing financial security for large load
customers, particularly where utilities face significant capital investment and risk of
stranded costs. These practices aim to ensure cost recovery, support responsible load

growth, and promote fair treatment of all customers.
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A key principle is aligning financial security requirements with actual risk
exposure. This involves using a phased or milestone-based structure in which collateral
levels adjust based on the project’s stage and the utility’s financial commitment. Early-
stage projects, which carry higher risk, should provide greater upfront security that can be
reduced as the project advances through permitting, financing, construction, and operation.

Another best practice is offering a standardized set of acceptable collateral
instruments. Utilities should accept various forms of security, such as surety bonds;
guarantees from a parent, affiliate, tenant, or other entity with a financial interest in the
customer; sponsor support agreements; and contributions in aid of construction. This
flexibility accommodates different customer financial structures while maintaining utility
protection.

Avoiding redundancy is also important. Utilities should not impose overlapping
forms of security that address the same risk, such as combining contributions-in-aid-of-
construction (“CIAC”), exit fees, and demand guarantees without clear justification. Credit
frameworks should include evaluation tools, such as a credit efficiency index or
“scorecard”, to assess the adequacy of existing protections and calibrate requirements
appropriately.

Transparency and consistency are essential. Utilities should define clear credit
evaluation criteria, including liquidity thresholds, credit ratings, and exemption standards.
Frameworks must also be scalable and adaptable to accommodate growing and evolving

large load interconnection requests.
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Together, these practices provide a disciplined and balanced approach that protects
ratepayers, supports infrastructure investment, and ensures a fair and efficient
interconnection process.

Please provide more details on the milestone-based approach.

A milestone-based approach to financial security ties the level and type of collateral to key
stages in the development of a large load project and the customer’s lifecycle. Rather than
imposing a fixed collateral requirement, this approach adjusts financial security obligations
as the utility’s exposure evolves over time.

Collateral requirements should begin when the utility starts making financial
commitments on behalf of the customer and increase as those investments grow. At the
customers' facility commercial operation date and throughout the load ramp period, full
collateral should be held to incentivize customers to meet their ramp targets and to mitigate
the risk of underutilized assets. Once the customer has fully ramped their load, collateral
should be gradually reduced to reflect the declining risk to the utility and ratepayers. This
reduction should continue month by month as the customer meets its contractual
obligations, aligning financial security with actual performance and risk.

The milestone-based framework offers a transparent, scalable, and disciplined way
to manage financial security. It balances ratepayer protection with flexibility for
responsible, creditworthy customers and aligns financial obligations with both project risk
and utility investment timing.

Please expand on the standardized menu of acceptable collateral instruments.
A standardized menu of acceptable collateral instruments is essential to a transparent and

effective financial security framework for large load customers. It provides clarity and
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consistency by listing approved financial tools that customers may use to meet collateral

obligations. This approach promotes fairness and allows customers to select instruments
that align with their financial structure, while ensuring the utility remains protected.

Common instruments include letters of credit, guarantees, surety bonds, and cash
deposits. Letters of credit must be issued by a U.S. bank or a U.S. branch of a foreign bank
with a minimum credit rating, typically BBB- or higher from S&P and a Baa3 or higher
from Moody’s. These letters must meet requirements for term length and automatic
renewal. Parent or affiliate guarantees must come from entities with sufficient credit quality
and liquidity to support the obligation. Surety bonds, issued by qualified insurers, can be a
cost-effective option. Cash collateral, though less flexible, offers strong security and is
universally accepted.

Including these instruments, along with clear eligibility standards, ensures the
utility’s financial exposure is adequately managed without imposing excessive burdens on
customers. The availability of multiple options supports a range of financial profiles and
simplifies compliance and enforcement. This structure helps maintain equitable treatment,
operational efficiency, and a balanced approach to risk management.

Should there be collateral exemptions?

Yes. Collateral exemptions are appropriate because financial security requirements should
reflect the actual risk posed by each customer. Applying uniform collateral across all large
load customers can lead to overcollateralization and create unnecessary barriers,
particularly for financially stable and low-risk entities.

Exemptions should be based on objective criteria as discussed in the previous

answer. For example, a customer with an investment-grade rating and liquidity exceeding
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ten times the required collateral should not be subject to the same obligations as a customer

with speculative credit and low liquidity. Customers without formal ratings but with strong
liquidity and financial transparency should also qualify for partial exemptions.

Establishing structured, risk-based exemptions allows utilities to maintain
necessary protections while promoting fairness and investment. A balanced exemption
framework ensures accountability, avoids unnecessary cost burdens, and protects
ratepayers without discouraging viable large load development.

What is your stance on collateral reduction?

Collateral reduction is an essential element of a sound financial security framework. As a
large load project progresses and the utility recovers capital investments, financial risk
declines. Collateral requirements should decrease accordingly, either over time or upon
reaching performance milestones. For example, once a customer completes construction,
begins commercial operation, and demonstrates payment reliability, the likelihood of
default or early termination diminishes. A declining collateral schedule ensures alignment
with actual risk and prevents unnecessary capital burdens on the customer.

This mechanism should be clearly outlined in the tariff or service agreement, with
reductions triggered automatically by defined criteria such as contract term progression or
ongoing compliance. Collateral reduction reflects prudent credit practice, enhances
investment efficiency, and maintains protection for ratepayers.

Do you recommend a certain form of collateral?
No. There is no single form of collateral suitable for all utilities or large load customers.
Risk preferences vary by utility, and customer financial structures differ widely. A rigid,

uniform approach is often impractical and may lead to unintended consequences.
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Collateral options should include cash deposits, standby letters of credit from
investment-grade institutions, surety bonds from qualified insurers, and guarantees from a
parent, affiliate, tenant or other entity with a financial interest in the customer and
supported by strong credit and liquidity. Each instrument carries distinct costs, risks, and
administrative considerations.

Providing a standardized menu of approved collateral types allows utilities to
manage risk effectively while giving customers flexibility to meet requirements in a
manner consistent with their financial strategy. This approach encourages participation,
streamlines project development, and upholds ratepayer protection through enforceable,
risk-aligned instruments.

Why are scalability and adaptability in credit frameworks important?

Scalability and adaptability are essential for managing the increasing number and diversity
of large load customers, including data centers, electric vehicle charging hubs, hydrogen
production facilities, and other emerging technologies. A scalable credit framework enables
utilities to apply consistent processes across a wide range of project sizes and customer
types. This promotes efficiency, reduces administrative burden, and supports fair and
timely evaluation of interconnection requests.

Adaptability ensures that the credit framework remains responsive to changes in
market conditions, regulatory objectives, and customer risk profiles. As new customer
categories emerge or financial conditions evolve, utilities must have the ability to adjust
credit thresholds, collateral requirements, and exemption criteria without overhauling the
entire policy structure. This flexibility allows utilities to maintain a consistent approach

while addressing unique risk characteristics in a practical and efficient manner.
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Together, scalability and adaptability provide the foundation for a stable,
transparent, and future-ready credit policy. They allow utilities to protect ratepayers from
financial exposure while facilitating the reliable and equitable integration of large loads
into the electric grid. Importantly, credit policies should not be limited to near-term
concerns or tailored narrowly to one customer segment. Rather, they should be designed
with a long-term, system-wide perspective that supports the anticipated growth and
diversification of large load interconnections. A forward-looking framework that is both

scalable and adaptable will enable utilities to manage emerging risks effectively while

supporting innovation, investment, and sustained grid reliability.

Section I'V: Recommendation to the Commission

Q.

What credit and collateral requirements do other utilities in the region have for large
load customers?
Table 2 summarizes the credit and collateral requirements of selected regional utilities for

large load customers.
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Table 2: Credit and Collateral Proposed or Approved Requirements of Regional Utilities

Attribute Indiana Evergy ComEd Consumers Dominion
Michigan Power Kansas & Energy Energy
Missouri Virginia
Customer  Loads >70 MW  Large Large Data centers GS-5 customers
Type or 150 MW Commercial Commercial /  >100 MW >25 MW &
aggregated >100 MW Industrial >75% load factor
Collateral  24xmax monthly 24xmax Negotiated Negotiated; up  $1.5M /MW
Requireme bill monthly bill under PJM to 100% of
nt ESA projected cost
Credit Full waiver if 50% or 40% Waived / Waived / 70% reduction if
Exemption credit & liquidity waived if reduced under reduced with credit & liquidity
/ Reduction requirements credit & PJM standards guarantees or requirements met
met, partial liquidity rating
waiver if only requirements
liquidity met
requirement met
Forms of LOC, guarantee, Negotiated Negotiated LOC, surety
Collateral cash (LOC, (LOC, bond, cash,
guarantee, guarantee, parent guarantee
bond) bond)

What does Table 2 demonstrate?

Table 2 illustrates the varied approaches utilities use to manage credit and collateral

requirements for large load customers. These practices differ based on each utility’s size,

risk tolerance, existing and prospective customer profile, and regulatory environment. This

diversity confirms that no single standardized model is appropriate across all jurisdictions.

Instead, it underscores the value of adopting best practices as a guiding framework. Such

practices promote consistency, fairness, and transparency while allowing for flexibility

based on local conditions. They provide a practical foundation for developing policies that

effectively manage risk and support the integration of large loads into the electric grid.
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Based on the financial security best practices framework explained earlier, what are

your recommendations on financial securities in this case?

Based on the established best practices, the recommended approach should balance

ratepayer protection with proportionality, transparency, and administrative efficiency.

While bilateral negotiation between Consumers Energy and large load customers is

acceptable, if the Commission prefers a standardized framework, I recommend the

following structure:

)

Collateral Amount and Duration: Customers should post collateral equal to two
years of non-fuel revenue, beginning when Consumers makes capital investments to
serve the customer, increasing at the same pace as Consumers makes investments, and
reaching the full amount by the time the project is energized. This collateral should
remain in place through the load ramp-up period.

This level of collateral provides sufficient "skin in the game" to demonstrate the
customer's commitment to project development. Maintaining the collateral during the
ramp period also serves as an incentive for the customer to achieve full load ramp,
thereby minimizing the risk of cost shifts to other customers. While instances of
customer default are rare, in such cases, two years of non-fuel revenue would be
sufficient to cover the costs associated with underutilized assets until the capacity can
be reassigned to a new customer and that customer becomes operational.
Ramp-Down Schedule: After one year of operations at contracted capacity, collateral
should be reduced by 10 percent annually, reaching zero by the end of the contract term.

If the contract is extended, no new collateral should be required unless additional utility
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investments are necessary. The 10 percent reduction annually mirrors the reduced risk
to Consumers and ratepayers of stranded assets.

ii1) Credit Rating-Based Exemptions: Customers whose guarantor has a credit rating of
at least BBB (S&P) or Baa3 (Moody’s), and liquidity of at least five times the collateral
amount, should be eligible for a 50 percent exemption. These entities must certify their
rating and liquidity annually.

Customers without formal ratings may qualify for a 30 percent exemption if their
guarantor meets the same rating threshold, is not on a credit watch, and maintains five
times liquidity, subject to the same annual certification.

iv) Acceptable Forms of Collateral: Customer should have the option of posting
collateral in the form of a guarantee from a parent, affiliate, tenant or other entity with
a financial interest in the customer; a letter of credit; a surety bond, or cash.

v) Collateral in the form of Cash: Collateral posted in cash should accrue interest while
held by Consumers.

vi) Use of Collateral Proceeds: If Consumers draws on posted collateral, the proceeds
should be used to offset costs for remaining ratepayers to ensure the financial security
serves its intended purpose to offset costs for all ratepayers.

This structure protects ratepayers while avoiding excessive financial obligations for large

customers. It ensures recovery of utility costs through a fair, risk-based mechanism that

supports investment and operational equity.
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Provide an example of the difference in what a customer would pay under Consumers’
proposal as compared to your recommendation.
Consider an illustrative data center customer with a contracted demand of 100 MW and a
typical load factor of 85 percent. Under Consumers Energy’s Large General Service
Primary Demand Rate, an estimate of the customer’s annual cost for electric service would
be approximately $25.4 million.

Under Consumers’ proposal, which requires collateral equal to 15 years of expected
revenues, this customer would be obligated to provide over $380 million in collateral to
the utility. Assuming Consumer’s pre-tax weighted average costs of capital (“WACC”) of
7.85 percent as the discount rate over the 15-year term, with equal monthly credits applied
to the customer’s account, the net present cost of this collateral commitment would be
approximately $150 million.

By contrast, under a more proportionate and risk-aligned collateral framework,
such as a requirement equal to 2 years of expected revenues, the same customer would
provide $51 million in collateral. Using the same WACC and assuming the collateral is
returned in equal monthly installments over a 10-year period, the net present cost to the
customer would be approximately $24 million.

This example of collateral posted in cash form, held by the utility without accruing
interest, underscores the significant financial burden imposed by the proposed collateral
structure. This highlights the need for a more balanced and scalable approach to credit
requirements. While cash collateral imposes an immediate and direct strain on a customer’s
liquidity, alternative forms of collateral—such as letters of credit or performance bonds—

can provide equivalent financial security with significantly less impact on cash flow.
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As shown in Table 3 below, excessive collateral obligations may deter investment
by increasing the cost of capital and creating financial uncertainty. This risk is amplified if
the utility does not meet interconnection timelines, as customers may be forced to carry
collateral for extended periods, incurring substantial carrying costs. In some cases, this
could result in project delays or abandonment.

A well-calibrated, risk-based collateral framework helps mitigate these risks by
aligning financial requirements with the actual creditworthiness of the customer and the
project’s development stage. Such an approach protects ratepayers and preserves utility
financial integrity, while also supporting investment in large load projects that can improve

grid efficiency and long-term affordability.

Table 3: Collateral Cash Flow Illustrative Example

Period Cash Flow ($M)
(Year) 15-Yr Collateral & 2-Yr Collateral &
15-Yr Recovery 10-Yr Recovery
0 $(381 $(51) Upfront Collateral
1 $ 254 $ 0 Credit
2§ 254 $ 0 Credit
3 § 254 $ 0 Credit
4 § 254 $ 0 Credit
5 § 254 $ 5.1 Credit
6 § 254 $ 5.1 Credit
7 § 254 $ 5.1 Credit
8 § 254 $ 5.1 Credit
9 § 254 $ 5.1 Credit
10 $§ 254 $ 5.1 Credit
11 § 254 $ 5.1 Credit
12 § 254 $ 5.1 Credit
13 § 254 $ 5.1 Credit
14 § 254 $ 5.1 Credit
15 § 254 N/A Credit
$ (150) $(29) Approximate NPV
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Part II: Clean Energy

Section I: Clean energy proposals by party

Q.

What are the clean energy obligations relevant to electric utilities in the state of

Michigan?

Michigan requires electric utilities to meet escalating clean energy targets under the

Renewable Energy Standard (“RES”) and Clean Energy Standard (“CES”), as established

by Public Act 235 of 2023.

1) RES: Utilities must source at least 15 percent of electricity from renewable resources
through 2029, increasing to 50 percent by 2030 and 60 percent by 2035. Eligible
sources include wind, solar, hydroelectric, and certain biomass. Compliance is tracked
through Renewable Energy Credits (“RECs”), with one REC equal to one megawatt-
hour of renewable generation.

i1) CES: Utilities must achieve 80 percent clean energy by 2035 and 100 percent by 2040.
Clean energy includes both renewable and non-emitting sources, such as nuclear power
and natural gas with carbon capture.

These standards support the state’s broader climate goals to reduce greenhouse gas

emissions and advance sustainable energy development.

Is clean or renewable energy important to data center customers?

Clean or renewable energy is important to some data center customers, particularly those

with environmental, social, and governance (ESG) commitments or sustainability goals.

However, it is not a universal priority. For many data centers, especially those focused on

commercial deployment, the primary concern is time to market, i.e. securing reliable power

quickly to begin operations.
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While clean energy may factor into long-term strategy or branding, immediate

power availability and scalability often take precedence. It remains important to support

clean energy development and offer flexible participation options for large load customers.

These may include on-site generation, third-party power purchase agreements, and access

to green tariff programs. Such flexibility enables progress toward renewable goals while
accommodating varying operational needs.

Please summarize the clean energy requirement proposals by parties in this

proceeding.

Table 4 provides a summary of each party’s position on clean energy requirements for data

center customers.
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Table 4: Clean Energy Requirements Proposal by Party

Party Clean Energy Minimum % Mechanism
Procurement Renewable Proposed
Requirement
Attorney  General Require data centers to >60% from Contractual mandate
(M. Deupree)* contract for renewable renewables for 60% renewable
energy to meet PA 235 energy (within MISO
obligations and  tax Zone 7) + support for
exemption requirements 90% clean energy for
tax exemptions
Clean Energy’ Require data centers to 60% by 2035 Voluntary Green
Organizations participate in clean energy Pricing (VGP),
(S. Siddique) programs via CESPs and customer CESPs,
VGPs prioritization of low-
grid-impact projects
MEIU Offer  flexible clean Not specified Competitive ~ RFPs,
(J. Albers)® energy sourcing options behind-the-meter
through utility and third- resources, demand
party solutions flexibility, grid-
enhancing tech, and
50/50 utility vs. 3rd-
party ownership
MNSC’ Require data centers to 90% clean Voluntary Green
(D. Jester) meet 90% clean energy energy; 60% Pricing, long-term
for tax exemption renewable clean energy
requirements and 60% contracts, on-site
renewables through generation; bespoke
bespoke portfolios tied to clean resource
long-term contracts portfolios per
customer

What is the Attorney General’s clean energy proposal?

The Attorney General recommends incorporating firm clean energy requirements into

Consumers Energy’s proposed tariff for large-load data centers under Rate GPD. The

proposal includes a requirement for data center customers to procure at least 60 percent of

4 Deupree Direct at 12-13.
5 Siddique Direct at 13-14.
¢ Albers Direct at 14-17.

7 Jester Direct at 10-11, 14-15, 18, 21-22.
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their incremental energy use from renewable sources located within MISO Zone 7, in
alignment with Michigan’s Renewable Energy Standard target of 60 percent by 2035.
Additionally, to qualify for sales and use tax exemptions under MCL 205.54ee, data
center customers would be required to demonstrate compliance with the statute’s 90
percent clean energy threshold. These provisions are intended to ensure compliance with
state law and avoid cost-shifting by requiring customers to procure renewable energy
directly for their load.
What is your position on the Attorney General’s proposal?
The requirement that data center customers meet the 90 percent clean energy threshold to
qualify for tax exemptions under MCL 205.54ee is reasonable and appears to be consistent
with state law. Regarding the proposed 60 percent renewable energy target, achieving this
goal may be feasible provided there are no constraints related to time to market. However,
prior to committing large-load customers to this accelerated target, it would be prudent to
obtain further clarity on the implementation framework, associated timelines, and
operational implications. A comprehensive understanding of these factors is essential to
ensure informed decision-making and to avoid unintended impacts on market dynamics
and project viability.
What is the Clean Energy Organizations’ clean energy proposal?
The Clean Energy Organizations propose a clean energy framework to ensure that large
data center customers comply with statutory requirements while limiting cost impacts on
other utility customers. They recommend that data centers seeking sales and use tax
exemptions under Public Acts 207 and 181 of 2024 be required to procure at least 90

percent of their electricity from clean energy sources, as defined in Section 51 of the Clean
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and Renewable Energy and Energy Waste Reduction Act. Additionally, they propose that
all new data center load be served by a portfolio that includes at least 60 percent renewable
energy. To meet these targets, they suggest Consumers Energy offer options such as
voluntary green pricing, long-term power purchase agreements, and on-site renewable
generation, tailored to each data center’s load profile.
What is your position on the Clean Energy Organizations’ proposal?
My position is consistent with my view on the Attorney General’s proposal. I support the
requirement that data center customers meet the 90 percent clean energy threshold to
qualify for sales and use tax exemptions, as it is a reasonable standard and appears to be
consistent with state law.

With respect to the proposed 60 percent renewable energy procurement
requirement, achieving this target could be feasible if there are no constraints on time to
market. However, it would be premature to impose this standard on data center customers
without first obtaining greater clarity on how the requirement would be implemented,
enforced, and integrated into existing planning and procurement processes.

What is the MEIU’s clean energy proposal?

MEIU proposes a clean energy framework that emphasizes customer flexibility,
innovation, and market-based procurement. Instead of imposing fixed renewable energy
procurement requirements, MEIU recommends offering data center customers a range of
clean energy options. These include behind-the-meter solutions such as on-site solar and
battery storage, participation in demand-side flexibility programs, and deployment of grid-

enhancing technologies.
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MEIU also proposes allowing customers to reduce their effective contract capacity,
which determines minimum demand charges, if they commit to serving part of their load
through on-site resources. In addition, customers should be permitted to enter into third-
party power purchase agreements (“PPAs”) without being required to participate in
Consumers Energy’s Voluntary Green Pricing (“VGP”) program.

To meet any remaining capacity needs, MEIU recommends that Consumers Energy
conduct competitive all-source requests for proposals (“RFPs”), evaluated by an
independent administrator to ensure fairness and transparency. Customers would also have
the option to pay a premium to prioritize certain resource types, such as solar or storage, in
Consumers’ resource planning.

What is your position on MEIU’s proposal?

I support MEIU’s clean energy proposal. Allowing customers to reduce their effective
contract capacity in exchange for deploying on-site resources promotes flexibility and
recognizes distributed energy investments. The recommendation to permit third-party
PPAs outside of the VGP program enhances market access and customer choice.

Requiring Consumers Energy to issue competitive, independently evaluated all-
source RFPs for unmet needs improves transparency and cost control. Providing customers
the option to pay a premium for prioritizing specific resource types further supports
alignment between sustainability goals and utility planning. Overall, MEIU’s proposal
offers a balanced and practical framework for advancing clean energy while maintaining

customer choice and protecting ratepayers.
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What is the MNSC’ clean energy proposal?
MNSC’s proposal is similar to the Attorney General’s proposal which includes a
requirement for data center customers to procure at least 60 percent of their incremental
energy use from renewable sources and a requirement to demonstrate compliance with the
statute’s 90 percent clean energy threshold for sales and use tax exemptions.
What is your position on the MNSC’s proposal?
As stated previously, the requirement that data center customers meet the 90 percent clean
energy threshold to qualify for tax exemptions under MCL 205.54ee is reasonable and
appears to be consistent with state law. Regarding the proposed 60 percent renewable
energy target, achieving this goal may be feasible provided there are no constraints related
to time to market. However, prior to committing large-load customers to this accelerated
target, it would be prudent to obtain further clarity on the implementation framework,
associated timelines, and operational implications. A comprehensive understanding of

these factors is essential to ensure informed decision-making and to avoid unintended

impacts on market dynamics and project viability.

Section II: Recommendation to the Commission

Q.

A.

What is your clean energy recommendation to the Commission?

I recommend that the Commission adopt a balanced and pragmatic approach that
incorporates the most reasonable and flexible elements from the proposals submitted by
various stakeholders. Specifically, I support policies that allow data center customers to
reduce their effective contract capacity through investments in on-site renewable
generation. I also support enabling third-party PPAs outside of the VGP program, requiring

competitive all-source RFPs evaluated by an independent administrator, and providing
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customers the option to pay a premium to prioritize specific renewable resource types.

These mechanisms, as proposed by MEIU, offer essential flexibility and are well aligned
with the operational and procurement needs of large-load customers.

With respect to the proposed 60 percent renewable energy procurement
requirement, I am not in a position to fully support its adoption at this time. While the target
may be technically achievable and consistent with the clean energy goals of many large-
load customers, there is currently insufficient clarity regarding how such a requirement
would impact project development timelines. Time to market is a primary concern for data
centers. If not carefully structured, accelerated renewable mandates could introduce delays,
uncertainty, or additional barriers that are incompatible with the rapid deployment
schedules typical of data center development.

Accordingly, I recommend that the Commission direct Consumers Energy to
conduct further analysis and engage with stakeholders to evaluate the feasibility,
implementation pathways, and timing of such a target. The results of this process should
be reviewed by the Commission at a later date before any binding commitments are
established.

Finally, any clean energy requirements or associated cost allocation mechanisms
adopted by the Commission should be applied equitably across all large-load customers. A
consistent, technology-neutral policy framework is essential to ensure regulatory fairness,
encourage continued investment, and support Michigan’s broader transition to a clean
energy economy.

Does this conclude your testimony?

Yes.
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JUDGE TALBOT: Now go ahead, M. Elkin, go
ahead.

MR. ELKIN: Thank you. And apol ogies for
t hat .

CRCOSS- EXAM NATI ON

BY MR ELKIN

Q

Good afternoon, Ms. Ramrez. The first piece of
testinony you filed in this case was your rebuttal
testinony; is that right?

Yes.

And your rebuttal testinony addressed, in part, the
proposal s nmade by parties related to clean and
renewabl e energy; is that right?

Yes.

And one of the proposals that you responded to was
made by MNSC W tness Douglas Jester; is that also
right?

Correct.

M. Jester had proposed that Consuners' revised Rate
GPD i nclude a requirenent that data centers neet the
statutory 90 percent clean energy threshold to qualify
for the enterprise data center tax exenptions. In
your rebuttal testinony you said that this proposal
was reasonabl e and appeared to be consistent with

state law;, is that right?
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Yes.

And because the proposal was reasonable and appeared
consistent with state |law, your testinony did not
object to the inclusion of such a termin Rate GPD for
data centers seeking those tax exenptions; is that
right?

| didn't really offer a position either way. It is
part of state law, so | don't have any reason to

di sagree with that.

In your testinmony -- | think this was in related to
the CEO s proposal. |It's on page 29, lines 7 to 9 of
your testinony -- you said that you "support the

requi rement that data center custoners neet the 90

percent clean energy threshold to qualify for sales

and use tax exenptions"; is that right?
Yes.
And is that still your position today?
Yes.

Okay, good. Thank you.

| m sspoke earlier. | was |looking at nmy -- part of
the testinmony for MMSC, and it didn't have that
statenment in it.

Under st ood, thank you. And | guess just to clarify,

t he statenment of your supporting that requirenent, to

the extent that that also applies to MNSC s w t ness
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testinony would you al so say that you support that
requirenment ?

Yes.

Thank you. Your rebuttal testinony, you also
responded to the question, "What are the clean energy
applications relevant to electric utilities in the
state of Mchigan"; is that right?

Yes.

MR. VIJAYKAR. M. Elkin, if it's possible
for you to just direct us to a portion of the
testinony. That would just help ne follow al ong.

MR. ELKIN: 1'd be happy to. This is page

25, line 3 to 4, that's where the question is.

BY MR ELKIN:

Q

And your answer on the sane page, you identified

M chi gan's renewabl e energy standard as one such cl ean
energy obligation; is that right?

Yes.

Thank you. The renewabl e energy standard requires
that at |east 15 percent of the electricity that
Consuners provides to its custonmers cones from
renewabl e resources through 2029; is that right?

Yes.

And 50 percent starting in 20307

Yes.
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And 60 percent starting in 20357

Correct.

Thank you. And in your view, the addition of
substantial anmpbunts of new | oad, would that inpact the
amount of renewabl e generation Consunmers would have to
build or acquire to conply with the renewabl e energy
st andar d?

So it does state that conpliance is tracked through
RECs, so you can get RECs a couple of ways, but one of
the ways is through procuring generation or building
generation. O you could buy RECs fromthe market, so
not necessarily only building generation.

Understood. And just so the record' s clear, you laid
out three ways to conply then, building generation,
procuring or through acquiring RECs otherw se; is that
right?

Yes, yes.

Thank you, just to give an exanple then, if we assuned
that a data center that uses 1 mllion negawatt hours
of electricity a year cones online in Consuners'’
service territory at the beginning of 2028, excuse ne,
woul d it be correct that in a conparison w thout that
data center, Consuners would need 150, 000 negawatt
hours? So 15 percent nore renewabl e energy or RECs

each -- in each of 2028 and 2029 to conply with the
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renewabl e energy standard?

It depends on the headroom of the anmount of renewabl e
energy capacity in Consuners' territory currently.
And |'m not sure what that is and whether they would
need to procure or build or buy nore RECs to conply.
And if there -- assumng a scenario in which there is
headroom if a 1 mllion nmegawatt data center --
sorry, nmegawatt hours of electricity a year data
center came online and was receiving energy that was
bel ow 15 percent renewabl e energy, would that decrease
t he headroom avail abl e for other custoners?

If it's a new custoner, yes.

It would, thank you. Just to -- and let's assune a
scenario in which there is no headroom avail able. |If
that same data center came online, then would it be
correct that Consunmers would need 150, 000 nore
megawatt hours of renewabl e energy a year?

Yes. But | also believe that's true of any new
customer com ng on. There would be that sane

15 percent equivalent that would be needed. And so
not necessarily only data centers, other |arge
custoners and other smaller custoners, as well.
Understood. If | can -- |I'Il junp to a question about
that and we'll junp back to this hypothetical in a

second. Wuld you say that data center projects
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and correct me if this characterization is not to your
under st andi ng, but which often cost hundreds of
mllions to billions of dollars, would those projects
be better positioned to help procure substanti al
anmpunts of additional renewabl e generation than, say,
existing renew -- existing residential, excuse ne, or
smal | commercial custoners?

"' m not sure what you nean by that question. So woul d
you mnd restating it?

Happy to. |If you take a new data center custoner, you
know, on the one hand, or for now let's say existing
residential custonmers on the other, which of those two
custoners woul d have nore of an ability to procure
substantial anmpbunts of additional renewabl e generation
t hensel ves? Does that clarify?

Yes. Obviously a |arge commercial customer would be
able to do that easier than a residential custoner.
However, |I'm not sure we were discussing the data
center's procuring their own renewabl e generation to
conply with the renewabl e energy standard.

That's fair. And perhaps | shouldn't have junped to
this question now, but if we can just stick to this
question for another mnute, would you al so say --
speaking in terns of procurenment fromthe custoner

woul d you say that large -- a data center custoner
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woul d have nore of an ability to do the same than,
say, a small commercial custoner?

| don't think that | can answer that question on the
behal f of any specific data centers. | don't run a
data center. And so, you know they're a very diverse
group of custonmers. And sone may be able to do so,
sone may not. | don't know the answer to that

guesti on.

Understood. And do you have a position, say, for an
average data center custoner, whether it would be nore
true of them than, say, the average small comrerci al
cust oner ?

| -- I really don't know. | don't -- you know, it's
hard to say what the average data center custoner is,
they're a very diverse group of custoners. So w thout
nore information, | really -- | can't -- | don't want
to speculate if they could or not.

Understood. Junping to the point you just said a
nonment ago about -- tal king about custoner
procurenent. Wuld you agree that data center
procurenent of renewabl e energy would be one option

for helping to nmeet the renewabl e energy standard?

Yes.
Thank you. | know we -- | just took us on a bit of a
roundabout, | want to junp back to the hypothetical
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that we were tal king about a second ago. And I|'|
sort of refresh that question. |1'd raised the

hypot heti cal about a 1 mIlion nmegawatt hour of
electricity a year custoner comng online in
Consuners' service territory. And the question that
|'"d asked was, assum ng that there was no headroom
within Consuners for renewable energy, would it be
correct that in conmparison to a scenario w thout that
data center, Consumers would need 150, 000 negawatts
nore renewabl e energy in each of 2028 and 2029 to
conply with the renewabl e energy standard? Can you
rem nd me of your answer to that?

In that hypothetical situation where there is zero
headr oon? Yes.

Al'l right, thank you. And |ooking at the 50 percent
standard by 2030, would it be correct that Consuners
woul d need 500, 000 negawatt hours nore renewabl e
energy per year to conply with that standard?

In this sanme hypothetical situation, yes.

And | ooki ng at 2035, 60 percent Consuners woul d need
600, 000 nmore negawatt hours renewabl e energy a year to
conply; is that right?

Yes.

Thank you. So we were just tal king about the

renewabl e energy standard. | want to return to your
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response to M. Jester's testinony.

Is it your understanding that M. Jester
proposed that new data centers be served with a
portfolio of resources that is at |east 60 percent
renewabl e so as to avoid making it nore difficult for
Consuners to conply with M chigan's renewabl e energy
st andar d?
Yes, that is my understanding. Can you just point nme
to where in the testinony we're tal king about?
| can. So |I have both where we are in your testinony,
but also where it's referring to M. Jester's
testinony. But for your testinony, | aml ooking at
page 28, lines 12 to 15. Sorry, those are the lines
for your response, but | think that's the same page.
Does that situate you?
Yes, yes, thank you.
And you respond -- so | guess just to, now that you're
there, restate my question, is it your understanding
that M. Jester proposed that new data centers be
served with a portfolio of resources that's at | east
60 percent renewabl e?
Yes.
And in those lines that | just directed you to, you
responded that M. Jester's recomendati on --

responded to his recommendation by stating that "Prior
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to commtting large | oad custoners to this accel erated
target, it would be prudent to obtain further clarity

on the inplenmentation framework, associated tinelines,

and operational inplications”; is that an accurate
readi ng?

Yes.

Thank you. 1'mgoing to turn to a data response that

|"ve premarked in the SharePoint. Do you have access
to the -- the hearing SharePoint currently?

Yes.

And |'m going to be pointing you to a response that's
i n MNSC folder "hearing exhibits" and then your nane.
Coul d you just let ne when you're there?

Yes, | have it.

Great, thank you. |[If you could pull up what's |abeled
MEC- 447

| have it up

Great, thank you. Do you recognize this docunent?
Yes, | do.

And is this exhibit a response that you provided to a

di scovery question | abel ed MNSC- DCC- 3. 17

Yes.
Thank you. | want to focus on your -- on subpart G
And you were asked -- and the question is on the first

page of the pdf. You were asked in what ways the
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60 percent renewabl e energy target is an accel erated
target.

And then on the final page of the pdf you
responded as follows, "it is my understanding, based
on di scussion with counsel and review of the testinony
by interveners in this proceeding, that Mchigan | aw
subj ects Consunmers Energy to a 60 percent renewable
energy standard which the Conpany nust nmeet by 2035.
It is my understanding that MNSC and ot her parties
propose a 60 percent renewabl e energy target to be
achi eved for a subset of custoners at an earlier date.
The phrase accelerated target refers to the difference
bet ween 2035 and the earlier date"; is that an
accurate readi ng?

Yes.

And so based on this response, am| correct in
under st andi ng that your concern with M. Jester's
proposal is that you believe he was calling for |arge
| oad custoners to be required to achieve the 60
percent renewabl e energy target prior to 20357

Yes.

And that is because the standard requires 60 percent
renewabl es by 2035, rather than prior to it?

Correct.

And so would you not have the sanme concern about
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i mpl enenting tariff |anguage saying that 60 percent of
energy for a large | oad custoners nust be from
renewabl e resources by 20357

So just so |I'm understanding, you re asking would I --
wel |, maybe actually, if you could just rephrase that
woul d be hel pful.

Yeah, happy to. So a second ago, and correct ne if

"' m m scharacterizing, you said that the concern with
M. Jester's proposal was that it required |arge |oad
custoners to be required to achieve the 60 percent
renewabl e energy target prior to 2035. And ny
gquestion is, would that sanme concern about

I mpl enenting tariff |anguage not apply if it required
60 percent of the energy for a large |oad custoner to
be fromrenewabl e resources by 2035, rather than prior
to it?

Right. Yes, that would be consistent with the
renewabl e energy standard law. So that, | believe

Is -- | wouldn't have a concern with that.

And just to clarify, you wouldn't have a concern with
I mpl enenting that in the Rate GPD tariff |anguage?

| don't know that if it's a law it necessarily needs
to be in the tariff. But either way, Consuners wll
have to -- have to conply with that. So there's not

really a lot to -- you know, |I'm not against it.
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Understood. So | guess simlarly then, would you not
be against inplenmenting tariff |anguage saying that 50
percent of energy for a large | oad custoner nust be
fromrenewabl e energy sources by 20307?

Again, if it's consistent with what Consunmers wi ||

have to do regardless, | don't have an opinion either
way .
And then would it be -- would you have the sane

response about 15 percent of the energy for a |arge

| oad custonmer needing to be fromrenewabl e resources
upon taking service, assum ng that service is prior to
20307

Upon taking service? No, | would not agree, because
we don't know how that would be inplenented and if
that woul d i npede speed to market, which is the nost

I mportant thing for data center custoners.

Just to clarify -- or just to follow up on that, |

want to make sure that | phrase ny question correctly
and that | understand your response. |Is it your
under st andi ng that Consuners, prior to 2030, including
starting today, needs to conply with the renewabl e
energy standard, have 15 percent of its energy be
renewabl e or through renewable energy credits?

15 percent in 2029. You said right now.

Bear with ne one nonent. | want to take -- did you

VERITEXT LEGAL SOLUTIONS




o o0 b~ W DN

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

529

o >» O P

still have your rebuttal testinony avail abl e?

Yes.

Can we go to page 257

Yes.

Lines 8 to 9? It says, "RES: Utilities nust source at
| east 15 percent of electricity fromrenewable
resources through 2029"; is that right?

Oh. Yes, I'msorry, | msinterpreted that. | thought
it said "at" 2029. You're correct.

Under st ood, thank you. And so junping back to where
we just were, and | need a second to situate nyself.
But with that in m nd, would you have concern about

i mpl enenting tariff |anguage saying that upon taking
service, assumng that is prior to 2030, 15 percent of
energy for a |large |oad custonmer would need to be from
renewabl e energy resources?

It's the sane answer. | don't have an opinion either
way, it is the state aw. Yeah, | don't have an
opi ni on either way.

Thank you. And so | was just asking about tariff

| anguage. Woul d your answer be the sanme about

I mpl enenting those targets in the service contract

bet ween Consuners and a data center custoner under
Rat e GPD?

It's -- yeah, again, |I don't -- | don't know that
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that's necessary, as Consunmers has to conply. And

whet her that needs to be included in the service

agreenent, | don't have an opinion.

Thank you. If it was -- actually, let nme rephrase

that. Do you have an opinion about requiring the

custonmer and Consuners to develop a plan for achieving

t hose benchmarks in the tariff? O having a
requirement in the tariff to require the custonmer and
Consuners to develop a plan to neet those targets?

| believe -- you know, I'mnot a | awyer, but | believe

the I aw applies to Consunmers and not to the custoner.
However, | amnot a |l awer, so that's not a | egal
opinion. | think that that, you know, should be left

to the utility to conply.

Under st ood,

t hank you.

MR. ELKIN: At this tine,

to admt Exhibit MEC-44.

I'd like to nove

JUDGE TALBOT:

Any objection to the

adm ssi on of MEC 447
MR. VI JAYKAR:

JUDGE TALBOT: Okay,

No obj ection, your Honor.

so hearing none, it's

adm tted.
EXH BIT MEC-44 ADM TTED
3:30 p. m
JUDGE TALBOT: Go ahead.
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MR. ELKIN:  Thank you. | think |I'm about
wr apped up, but if | could have five mnutes just to
review nmy notes and consult.

JUDGE TALBOT: All right, let's go off the
record for five mnutes. Thank you.

(Of the record at 3:31 p.m)

(On the record at 3:36 p.m)

JUDGE TALBOT: Okay, all right, let's go
back on record. W' re on the record in M chigan
Public Service case No. U-21859.

Go ahead, M. ElKkin.

MR. ELKIN: Thank you, your Honor. No
further questions at this tine.

JUDGE TALBOT: Great. Thank you very nuch.

Did anyone el se have cross-exam nation for
Ms. Ramrez? No.

MR. VI JAYKAR: Yes, your Honor.

Luke, you're on nmute.

JUDGE TALBOT: ©h, okay.

MR. WOLLENZIEN: Onh, ny bad, ny bad.

JUDGE TALBOT: Like |I said, don't worry
about speaki ng up.

Al right, if I didn't say we're back on
record, we're back on the record.

Go ahead, M. Wl I enzi en.
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MR. WOLLENZI EN: Great.

CROSS- EXAM NATI ON

BY MR. WOLLENZI EN

Q

And thank you, Ms. Ramirez. By the way, |I'm Luke
Wl | enzien with the M chigan Attorney General.

So | had some questions wth background
materials, but just to kind of expedite this a little
bit, |I understand we're late in the day here. You
have prior work as an insurance actuary; aml
understanding that correctly?
|'ve been to (phonetic) school in actuarial analysis.
My undergraduate degree is in actuarial science and
statistics.

Okay. And how long did you work in the insurance
sector?

It was about seven years.

So at seven years, in that tinme you have sone
experience dealing with risk assessnment, am | reading
that correctly here?

Yes.

And did you carry that forward? Were did you work
after that?

|'"ve done -- continually done statistical nmodeling in
my previous positions in the energy. But yeah, | have

al so done sone risk assessnent in special contracts
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with |arge | oad custoners.
And so in your sort of risk assessnment experience, has
that involved experience -- strike that.

In your experience with risk assessnent,
has that involved eval uati ng busi ness risk?
Busi ness risk, by you nean |arge | oad custoners
specifically or --
" mtal ki ng about your background. |'mtalking about
your background. Do you have experience eval uating
busi ness risk in your work experience?
| stated just a second ago that | have evaluated | arge
| oad custoners' risks for special contracts.
And so is that a yes --
Yes.
-- to ny question? Geat, thank you. And in fact,
think at |east at one point in your rebuttal testinony
you enphasi ze you purport to approach this subject
matter with a "risk-based franmework”; aml
under standing that correctly?
Yes.
Okay. You work as a witness for DCC in other
jurisdictions as well, right?
Yes.
And DCC, that stands for Data Center Coalition, right?

Yes, it does.
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Okay. And so |I'm assum ng that the work you do for
DCC in other cases also involves to sonme degree, data
centers; am | understanding that correctly?

Yes, it does.

And is it fair to assune that you have sonme experience
| ooki ng at the operations of data centers?

| have general know edge of the operations of data
centers fromny experience. | don't claimto be an
expert in their operations.

Okay. Is it fair to say that you have sone know edge
of looking at the data center industry overall?

Yes.

Okay. So I'mjust going to wal k through sonme of the
materials you' ve reviewed. So | believe counsel for
MNSC confirnmed you only filed -- sorry, you only filed
rebuttal testinony in this case, right?

That's correct.

Okay. And did you review the direct testinony of the
other parties' witnesses in this case in preparing
rebuttal ?

| did.

OCkay. And |I'm assum ng you reviewed DCC Wt ness

Bi eber's direct testinony as well, correct?

Yes, | did. Yes.

And did you review his rebuttal testinony in
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o » O P

preparation for your testinony here today?
| have seen it. | have not reviewed it in depth.
Okay. And | believe there were some work papers
produced in discovery, | think, for both you and
W t ness Bi eber, does that sound accurate?
Yes.
And did you review Wtness Bieber's work papers?
No, | did not.
Okay. And you also reviewed a couple |large | oad or
data center tariffs fromother jurisdictions, right?
Yes, | did.
Okay. And in fact, you responded in discovery that
you have not reviewed Ohio Power's current effective
data center tariff, correct?
Yes, | have.
Okay, great. And do you have access to the SharePoi nt
in front of you, right now?
Yes.
Okay. |If you go in there, there's a docunent titled
Exhibit 1 -- AG 1.22 DCC response to AG s second set
of discovery; can you open that for ne?
Yes, one second.

MR. VI JAYKAR: Counsel, can | have the
nunber of that one agai n?

MR. WOLLENZI EN:  Yeah, it's AG 1.22.
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believe that's sequenti al.

MR. VI JAYKAR: CGot it, thank you.

THE WTNESS: Sorry, | had it open and then
it closed. Sorry, one nore second.

MR. WOLLENZI EN: You're fine.

THE W TNESS: Ckay.

BY MR. WOLLENZI EN

Q

o > O P

And so this is discovery request and response where
the AG asked if you reviewed the Ohio schedul ed DCT
tariff; is that correct?

Yes.

Okay. And you're the responding w tness here?

Yes, | was.

Okay. And you understand it to be the response that
you hel ped to prepare, correct?

I"m sorry, | mssed that question.

You understand this docunent we're |ooking at to be
the response that you hel ped to prepare, correct?
Yes.

Okay.

MR. WOLLENZIEN: At this tinme, | nove to
admt this docunent as Exhibit AG 1.22, DCC response
to AG s second set of discovery.

JUDGE TALBOT: Any objection to the

adm ssion of AG 1.22?
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MR. VIJAYKAR: No objection, your Honor.

JUDGE TALBOT: Thank you --

BY MR. WOLLENZI EN:

Q

Okay. Going back --
JUDGE TALBOT: Hearing none, it's admtted.
Hold on. It's admtted.

EXH BIT AG 1.22 ADM TTED

3:43 p.m
MR. WOLLENZIEN: I'msorry. |'msorry.
We're running late in the day here. I'mtrying to not

waste any tine.

BY MR. WOLLENZI EN:

Q

If you go right back into the SharePoint, there's also
Exhi bit AG 1.23; do you see that?

Yes.

And this is the sane docunent that was attached to
that discovery request. This is Ohio schedul ed DCT
tariff as it nmade effective. Do you recognize this
document ?

Yes.

Ckay.

MR. WOLLENZIEN: At this time, I'd like to
nove to admt this as Exhibit AG1.23, titled "Chio
Power Conpany's Schedul e DCT."

JUDGE TALBOT: Thank you
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Any objection to the adm ssion of AG 1.23?
Heari ng none, it's admtted.

EXH BIT AG 1. 23 ADM TTED

3:44 p. m

JUDGE TALBOT: Go ahead.

BY MR. WOLLENZI EN

Q

o » O P

Okay, Ms. Ramirez, let's go to your rebuttal testinony
here, and let's go down to page so 10. Do you have

t hat open in the SharePoint?

| have it open. | amgoing to page 10.

Oh, | think I didn't get quite the right page. Keep
on scrolling down to page -- | apologize -- page 20.
Are you there?

I am now.

Awesonme, awesone. And so here there is a table 2, do
you see that?

Yes.

And it lists a series of utility conpanies, correct?
Yes.

Okay. And let's go through these real quick. So did
you review -- Indiana M chigan Power Conpany's tariff
I n advance of preparing your rebuttal testinony?

Yes.

Okay. Evergy Kansas and M ssouri that's |isted next,

is that two cases or one case?
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It's two separate cases. Evergy in Kansas and Evergy
in Mssouri.

Okay.

But the proposal is the sane.

The proposal is the same. And do you have testinony
in either one of those cases?

| have testinony in the Evergy M ssouri case.

Okay. And when you say the proposal is the sane, does
that nmean -- what does that mean exactly, for both
cases?

That Evergy is proposing the sanme ternms of the

collateral piece that | reviewed.

Is -- is the Evergy Kansas case finished? O is it
pendi ng?
It's pending.

Both of these cases are pendi ng?

Yes.

Okay. Al right, 1'd like to go back to the

Shar ePoi nt real quick. And open up what's | abel ed
AG 1.24 Ramrez Mssouri, or MO testinony.

Al right.

And do you recognize this to be your testinony in the
M ssouri Evergy case?

Yes, it is.

Okay. And is this rebuttal testinony?
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A Yes.

Q Did you file direct testinony in that case?
A. No.

Q Okay.

MR. WOLLENZIEN: At this time, I1'd like to

nove to admt this docunent as Exhibit AG1l.24 Ramrez

MO testi nony.
JUDGE TALBOT: All right, any objection

the admi ssion of AG 1.24? Exhibit 1.247?

MR. VIJAYKAR: No objection, your Honor.

MR. BZDOK: Thank you.
Hearing none, it's admtted.
EXH BIT AG 1.24 ADM TTED
3:47 p.m
JUDGE TALBOT: Go ahead.
BY MR, WOLLENZI EN:
Q Wtness Ramrez, do you have a reference for the

Kansas Evergy case, a case reference that we could

| ook at?

A A case nunber?

Q Yes.

A. Yes, it's EO 2025-0154.

Q Awesone, thank you, okay. Now, let's keep noving
here. The next one lined up is ConEd. |Is that in
[11inois?

to

VERITEXT LEGAL SOLUTIONS




N

A W

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

541

o >» O > O 2»
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" msorry, ConmEd. Are you back at table 2?

| apol ogize. Yes, |I'mback at table 2.
Yes, ConEd.

That's in Illinois?

Yes.

And there is an existing tariff for that? O is that
one pending as well?
| amnot sure if it's proposed or existing, off the
top of ny head.
So what did you review when you put that in there?
| reviewed the tariff |anguage that is proposed, or
was maybe proposed at that tinme. | don't renenber if
it's -- if it has been conpleted or not. The case.
And when you say "proposed,” do you nmean proposed by
the utility?
Yes. Proposed by the utility.
Okay. Did you file testinony in that case?
No, | did not.
Do you have a case reference for that case?
Not off the top of my head.
Coul d you get one?
| could | ook it up.
And | don't need you to do it right now.

MR. WOLLENZIEN: But could | get a

stipulation fromcounsel that we can receive a
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reference to cases referenced in Ms. Ramrez's
rebuttal testinony here?
MR. VI JAYKAR: Yes.
MR. WOLLENZI EN: G eat.
BY MR. WOLLENZI EN
Q And the | ast one was your --
JUDGE TALBOT: All right --

MR. WOLLENZI EN: Go ahead.

JUDGE TALBOT: Well, | was just going to

say, all right, that solved itself. Go ahead.

MR. VI JAYKAR: Your Honor, just a quic

k

poi nt of |ogistics, perhaps? W're, of course, happy

to stipulate as counsel requested and provide the

I nformati on requested. |s that sonmething you'd

i ke

us to just send to your Honor and the parties? |Is

that sonething that you'd like us to put on the
e-docket for the case? How would you like us to

provide that information?

JUDGE TALBOT: Well, M. Wl lenzien, you're

just | ooking for the cite?

MR. WOLLENZIEN: | just want to have a
reference to where the public docket is avail able
can evaluate the terns were as proposed, and whet
there is a final tariff. | could not find it

I medi ately | ast night readily, but that doesn't

so |

her

nmean
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it's not out there. | just want to be able to see
what it is. And insofar as it's referenced, |'d just
appreciate to have sonme sort of ability to look it up

JUDGE TALBOT: Okay. Then why don't | just
ask you to forward the information to all counsel, not
necessarily as an exhibit, but sinply as information.
Does that work?

MR. VIJAYKAR: It works for nme, your Honor.

JUDGE TALBOT: Does that work, okay?
Everybody' s noddi ng.

MR. WOLLENZIEN: That's fine by nme, for the

record.

JUDGE TALBOT: Yeah, we'll do it
informally. If there's any issue we'll address it on
Monday.

Go ahead.

BY MR. WOLLENZI EN

Q

> O >» O >

Al'l right, so the |l ast one was secured, Ms. Ramrez,

I's Dom nion Energy, right? W're back to table 2, I'm
sorry.

Oh. Yes.

Okay. And is that case pending, as well?

Yes, it is.

And you have testinony in that case?

| do.
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Okay. Would you m nd going back to the SharePoint and
opening up exhibit AG 1.25 Ramrez VA testinony?

Yes.

Okay. Does this appear to be your testinony in the
Dom ni on case?

Yes, it does.

Okay.

MR. WOLLENZIEN: At this time, | would nove
to admt that document as Exhibit AG 1.25, Ramrez VA
testinony.

JUDGE TALBOT: Any objection to the
adm ssi on of AG 1.25?

MR. VIJAYKAR: No objection, your Honor.

JUDGE TALBOT: Hearing none, it's admtted.

EXH BIT AG 1.25 ADM TTED

3:52 p.m

JUDGE TALBOT: Go ahead.

BY MR. WOLLENZI EN

Q

Okay. Let's go down to -- okay, so going back to your
rebuttal testinony, Ms. Ramirez, let's go back to --
let's go down to page 21

"' mthere.

Okay. And you set out your summary of recommendati ons
for collateral, right?

Yes, | did.
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Okay. So going from Al here, you say, Collateral
anmount in duration, "Custonmer should post collateral
equal to two years of nonfuel revenue."” What does
nonfuel revenue refer to?

It's all of the revenue in a bill associated -- that's
not associated with the energy charge.

Okay. So for reference, you have in your chart here
on table 2, Indiana M chigan Power Conpany as 24x max
monthly bill, right?

Yes.

Do you consider that to be the sanme as your
recommendation for a two-year nonfuel revenue charge?
Yes. It can be interpreted as the sane.

Okay. So that calculation is less restrictive for a
col l ateral requirenment than what was included in the
Ohi o Power tariff, correct?

Yes.

Okay. Let's go down to the next paragraph bel ow Al.
It says, "This level of collateral"™ -- this is line
13, "This level of collateral provides skin in the
gane to denonstrate the custoner's conmtnent to
product devel opnment. Maintaining the collateral
during the ranp period al so serves as an incentive for
the custonmer to achieve full |oad ranp, thereby

mnimzing the risk of cost shift to other custoners.”
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VWhat costs are you avoi ding cost shifting

for when you say "mnimzing the risk of cost

shifting"?
So mnimzing the -- it's the -- if there is
generation -- a generation asset, it's mnimzing the

under-utilization of that asset, as well as the T&D
system

What is T&D?

Transm ssion and distribution.

Okay. So would that cost shift risk you're referring
to, would that include interconnection costs?

| don't believe so, because | believe that the

I nterconnection cost is paid, or a portion of it is
paid up front.

How is it paid up front?

l"'mnot very famliar with it. That's just in ny
experience, the interconnection is paid up front by
custonmers for their facilities. They're specific to
t hem

Okay. Well, that's okay. Let's look here, if you go
to the SharePoint Exhibit AG 1.9.

Ckay.

And you'll see here question 19, "Pl ease describe and
I dentify the range of total interconnection cost for

prospective new custoner |oad of 100 negawatts or

a
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| arger"”; do you see that?

Mm hmm  yes.

And if you go to the mddle of the response paragraph
it says, "Consuners Energy estimtes a range of

46.5 mllion to 96 mllion total cost for

i nterconnection facilities for a new 100 negawatt

| oad"; do you see that?

Yes.

Okay. And to go back to your testinony here at the
sanme point, you don't include -- or let me ask you, do
you include any cal culations in your testinony here as
to how two years of nonfuel charge would m nim ze the
risk of cost shifting?

No, because this is not -- you know, | don't have
specifics of a custonmer or any of the revenue

requi rement associated with that.

So you have no idea how much costs it would cover?

It would cover two years of nonfuel revenue, which I
don't -- which would cover that cost for those two
years if a custoner did not pay their bills, in order
to then interconnect a new custoner. And then
therefore that cost does not get shifted to remaining
rat epayers.

Revenue is different fromcosts, right? W're talking

about busi ness risk?
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Ri ght .

Okay. So do you have any idea what portion of the
costs, either to interconnect these custoners or the
potential stranded asset costs for generation, two
years of nonfuel revenue would cover?

It would cover the two years -- the two years of
revenue woul d cover -- whatever ampunt that is, it
woul d cover that amount of cost. | don't have |

speci fic nunber.

VWhat is the anount of mnimzation that occurs of the
risk of cost shifting?

| don't -- can you restate the question?

Well, you say a mninmum-- thereby mnim zing the risk
of cost shift to other custoners. Wat is the anount
of mnim zation that occurs?

So what this is doing, in ny proposal, is |I'm saying
that two years of nonfuel revenue would be enough to
cover the cost of that custoner having -- if they left
or did not pay their bills -- would be enough tine for
t hen Consuners to have another custoner take that
capacity. And then therefore that customer would be
paying for the cost at that time past the two years.
So there would therefore be no shift to remaining

rat epayers.

So you said it would cover -- it would be enough to
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cover. \What is enough to cover? What is that anmount
you're referring to when you're | ooking at enough to
cover?
So, right. This -- what | amrecomending is a
bal ance between what Consuners reconmended of the ful
term and stating that this is nmore in line with the
actual risk that a custoner, or set of custoners --
the two years is enough to cover any risk of them--
of that cost not being recovered by the utility and
being shifted to other custoners.
VWhat cal cul ations did you include in your rebuttal
testinony that evaluates that risk?
| did not do any calculations. This was a
gquantitative -- or qualitative analysis. There is no
data at this tinme to do that. This is a fairly new
paradigmin the -- in industry. And when |'mthinking
about risk and bal ance of attracting |arge |oad
customers to Consuners' territory, a 15-year or -- or
a collateral of the entire contract termis not
comrensurate with the risk that these custonmers pose.
And so therefore |I identify two years as a
bal ance. It's not a science. It could be nore, or it
could be | ess, because we don't have the data. And |
woul d actually state that | think Consuners should do

that risk assessnent when they have that data.
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So you just picked a period of years to use?

It is based off of my own experience with |arge |oad
custoners, as well as the collective experience of E3
with large | oad custoners, with utilities, with

regul ators. We wanted to bal ance this framework that
woul d bal ance the need of -- or balance the stated
goal of Consumers of having |arge |oad custonmers cone
into the territory versus protecting remaining
ratepayers. That is an a very inportant piece of
this.

So does soneone at E3 have cal cul ati ons that show why
this is an appropriate amount of revenue, including
collateral, for the purposes of Mchigan's tariff
case?

No, | just stated that this is a qualitative exercise.
And that, you know, as things nove along, there wll
be nore data. And at that point when there is nore
data, | do think that the -- that it needs to be
quantified. But at this time, when there's not, we
have to strike a balance. And this is what we canme up
with as a bal ance for protecting ratepayers versus --
as well as incentivizing |large | oad custoners to site
I n Consunmers' territory.

When you say it's a balance, are you saying it's a

bal ance of a nunber of years?
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No, |I'm saying the balance is not disincentivizing

| arge | oad custonmers fromcomng to the system which
woul d -- which they do have a benefit on the system
versus protecting other ratepayers. And the |arge

| oad custoners paying their share. That's the

bal ance.

Okay. So let's go back into the SharePoint here and
you'll see an exhibit | abeled AG Exhibit 1.26.

Okay.

And so this is a discovery response from DCC where you

are listed as one respondent; do you see that?

Yes.
And you'll see on the bottom of page 2 here it says,
"suppl enental response.”™ And subresponse B it says,

"Pl ease see attached work paper of Wtness Ranirez"
and it gives the docunent nane, right?
Yes.
Okay. Do you recognize this to be the response you
hel ped to prepare here?
Yes.
Ckay.

MR. WOLLENZIEN: At this time, I'd like to
move to admt that exhibit as Exhibit AG1.26, ECC
suppl enent to second MNSC VR

JUDGE TALBOT: Any objection to the
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adm ssion of AG 1.267?
Hearing none, it's admtted, thank you.
EXH BIT NO. AG 1.26 ADM TTED
4:05 p. m
JUDGE TALBOT: Go ahead.

MR. WOLLENZIEN: Great.

BY MR. WOLLENZI EN

Q

And if you go back to the SharePoint again, there's an
Excel file titled AG 1.27; do you see that, Wtness
Ram rez?

Yes.

Okay. So if you open that up, there are a series of
tabs in this exhibit, right?

Correct.

And |l et nme back up for a second, I'msorry. That's --
t he docunment title on this exhibit, does that match to
your understandi ng the docunment title that was

I ncluded in the suppl enental discovery response we
just | ooked at?

Yes.

And so you understand this Excel file to be the

attachnent to that discovery response we just | ooked

at, right?
Yes.
Okay. So I'mlooking at this right now |Is there any
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calculation in here that would explain how -- would
expl ain what anmount of cost -- what anmount or what
portion of costs you' re |ooking at would be covered by
two years of nonfuel revenue?
So this calculation is -- excuse nme -- is the
collateral cash flowillustrative exanple, table 3, in
my rebuttal testinony on page 24. This is just
show ng the anpbunt of capital that it would take if a
custonmer paid the collateral in cash, and what that
cost would be over tine.

And that's just an exanple of the fact that
I f Consuners -- if their proposal was, you know, put
into the tariff, that a custonmer woul d have to post
this amount of noney in collateral in cash if they did
it in cash, that they would not be able to use this
cash for any other reasons within their business. And
It's just show ng the difference between ny proposal,
nmy recommendati on versus the Conpany's proposal.
So this -- this tab in this Excel sheet this is not --
am | understanding you correctly, this is not intended
to denonstrate or show a cal cul ati on of how your
proposed collateral calc would m nim ze cost shifting?
Ri ght, that's correct.
OCkay. So there are a couple other tabs on here. The

next one after "results" is "dashboard."” And it says
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up here data center, it says FAC (phonetic) FACOR
(phonetic) or Factor. Wat is this -- what is thi
show ng?

This is just show ng the calculation of the two

years -- or the calculation of -- the nonfuel reve
for a year. This -- it's just the different bill
pi eces.

S

nue

ng

Okay. And the next tab over says "cal cul ati ons” and

this is just a blank tab, just saying -- then the
tab says "year 1 8760 standard.” What is this

i nformati on?

This is the cost based off of the hourly -- the ho
cost cal culation for a hypothetical 100-nmegawatt |
| oad custoner.

You're saying this is a cost estimte?

This woul d be the revenue that they would pay --
Ch.

-- to the Conpany.

So this is a revenue estimte?

It's cost to the custoner, but it's revenue to the
utility.

Okay. Just want to be clear on that. And to the
one we go over, it says "data center |oad shape";
you seeing that tab?

Yes.

next

urly

ar ge

next

are
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And is this information from Dom ni on?

No, it's not. That is an incorrect title --

Okay.

-- on line 5.

VWhere is that information fron? And what is this

i nformati on?

This is E3'"s -- basically the | oad shape of a -- the
nmont hly | oad shape of a high |oad factor custoner.

Is this representative of a data center |oad shape?
We're just seeing a 100-negawatt custoner with a | oad

factor of 80 percent basically. So any custoner that

woul d fall into that category.

Okay. Let's go back to the "results" tab. | want to
| ook at sonething here. It |looks like the total
right-nmost colum, in colum F we're |ooking at. It

| ooks like it includes some sort of purported total
revenue total yearly, right?

Yes, correct.

Do these amounts line up at all with the revenue
nodel i ng that was done by Wtness Bieber in this case?
This is -- yes, we conpared and were -- we were very
cl ose, we weren't exact, but it was very cl ose, yes.
So what does this total here for 2025 represent in
ternms of size of custonmer and renewable billing

demand?

VERITEXT LEGAL SOLUTIONS




o o0 b~ W DN

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

556

o > O P

A 100- negawatt custonmer at an 80 percent |oad factor.
Okay. Didn't Wtness Bieber, isn't he recommending a
70 percent, you know, billing demand?

This is based off of what the Conpany's proposal is,
not M. Bieber's proposal.

Okay. Well, one second. So |I'mgoing to bring
these -- Bieber's work papers here. | just dropped it
in the -- in your -- the SharePoint here, if you want
to open that up. It says "DCC Bi eber direct work
paper" as was titled in production.

Okay.

So if you'd go to table JB-1 here.

Okay.

And you change the contract capacity to 100, because
what we're tal king about, it spits out a different
annual m ni nrum demand; are you sealing that? Demand
revenue?

Like | stated, | did not review M. Bieber's work
papers, so | don't know. And like |I also stated, our
proposed -- what the table 3 was supposed to show is
just based off of Consuners' mninmumbilling demand,
not any proposal or recommendation by DCC. It was
just to show the difference of what a custoner would
pay -- or post in collateral under Consuners'

proposal, and under my recomrendati on. Nothing nore
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t han that.

Okay. And let's -- one second. And so you say that
there's sonme uncertainty as to what costs are known in
this case. Did you say that earlier?

|"msorry, | couldn't -- you cut out a little bit.
|"'msorry. | think earlier you said about uncertainty
as to what costs have been forecasted in this case;
did I recall that correctly?

No.

Okay, so -- well, that's fine. W had also | ook

t hrough, a m nute ago, a Conpany data response where

t hey indi cated sone estimated anount of

I nterconnection costs, right?

Yes.

Okay. And that amount was between 46.5 mllion and
96 mllion estimated, right?

Yes.

Okay. So if we go back into your work paper and the
resul ts page?

Okay.

And so you'll see two years -- the first two years of
revenue, even as predicted here, that's with an

80 percent load factor, it conmes out to what?

$51 million in total?

Yes. Correct.
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Okay. So even assuming that that's correct, that is
barely scraping the bottom of this range that
Consuners estimated for interconnection costs, right?
Yes. But those two things -- I'mstruggling to see
how t hose two things are connected at all. This is
just to show the anount of collateral that would have
to be posted by the custoner under Consuners' proposal
and under nmy recomrendati on.

So you're saying that the collateral shouldn't cover

I nt erconnection costs?

| did not say that.

I"'mtrying to conpare revenues to costs, does that
make sense?

Sure, yes.

So I'm | ooking at the costs that we know about, or at
| east have been estimated by the Conpany, and
conparing themto the revenue you're | ooking at in the
collateral, right?

Yes, this is for one hypothetical custoner, not a
whol e class of custonmers with a -- you know, the whole
class of revenue. So that's why |I'm saying these
things can't be conpared.

Okay. And to be clear, the results table that we're

| ooking at in your work paper, that's based on an

80 percent |oad factor, right?
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Correct.
Okay. All right, one second.

And as far as a recomendati on of a
t wo-year nonfuel charge as a collateral calculation
you made that sanme recommendation to M ssouri, right?
| believe so, subject to check
And you made the sanme recommendation in Virginia; am|
under standi ng that correctly? O subject to check?
Subj ect to check.
Okay. Let's go back to your testinony here.
Okay.
Back to Al. And so you include this calculation
recommendati on, and you al so include recomendati on of
sonething |like a ranp-up for collateral, right?
Correct.
s there any kind of -- was this ranp-up provision
I ncorporated into INMs final |arge custoner tariff?
| don't know specifically.
Okay. Was it included in Ohio's tariff?
No, | don't believe so.
Do you know of any other jurisdictions that use the
ranp-up you're recomrending for their |arge custoner
tariffs or data center tariffs?
| don't know of any specifically. However, this is a

framework that we came up with that is risk-based.
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There is -- and so as the Conpany invests, the

coll ateral should increase with that investnent
approximate. It should be held through the ranp
period to incentivize the custoner to fully ranp so
there is no under-utilized assets.

And then as they pay on-tinme paynments over
the years, it should ranp down as the risks to the
utility and renmaining ratepayers goes down as well.
Okay. Did you recommend this ranp-up in the M ssour
case you provided testinony in?

Yes, | did.

And you provided the same recomendation in Virginia?
Yes, | did.

Okay. Let's go down to A2. You have a ranp-down
schedule. Are you seeing that in your testinony,
rebuttal testinony?

Yes, | do.

Okay. And you were tal king about taking, what is it?
10 percent reduction off of the two-year coll ateral
cal c?

Correct. Per year.

Per year?

Yes.

10 percent per year?

Yes.
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Okay. And you say, | believe, that it mrrors reduced
risk?

Correct.

And you don't have any cal culations in your rebuttal
testinony to explain how it reduces risk, right -- or
mrrors reduced risk, right?

| don't have a cal cul ation. However, it -- when a
custonmer is being -- is paying revenue to the utility
that's covering the cost of investnents, so as the
time noves along there's | ess costs associated with
that group of custonmers, so the risks to renmaining
rat epayers of it being shifted to them goes down as
time goes down and revenue is coll ected.

But you don't know what portion of the costs are
collected by the -- are covered by the two years
revenue to begin with, right?

That's going to depend on all types of things. So
nobody knows at this point.

Okay? The INM settlenment -- or sorry -- well,

strike -- well, one thing, DCC was a party to the INM
settlement, right?

| believe so.

Okay. The INMtariff doesn't include a 10 percent
reduction like this, right?

Like | said earlier, | don't knowif it did or not.
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And I'msorry, | think that that's right, but | would
ask instead, do you know if the INMtariff includes a
10 percent reduction termlike this?

| do not know.

Do you know if the Chio -- the scheduled DCT incl udes
a provision |like that?

| don't believe so, as | stated earlier.

Okay. COkay, are you aware of another jurisdiction
that has a 10 percent yearly reduction netric for its
collateral in the context of a -- you know, | arge
custoner or data center tariff?

| don't. However, ny recommendation is based off of a
framework that we believe balances the risk to
remai ni ng ratepayers, the mtigation of that risk to
remai ni ng ratepayers, and while still -- while not

di sincentivizing large custoners fromsiting in
Consuners' territory.

And so it's based on your belief, am| understandi ng
that correctly?

No, it's based off of ny experience. It's based off
of the E3's holistic experience over 30 years. It is
a risk-based franmework.

How di d your experience |lead you to establishing a

10 percent netric for that yearly reduction?

The 10 percent metric showed -- the reason we canme up
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with 10 percent was that then at the end of the term
there would be zero collateral. So it ranmps down as
the custonmer pays nore revenues to the utility each
year.

Okay. Do you neke the recommendation for a 10 percent
ranp down in Mssouri -- in your Mssouri testinony?

| don't know if it was a certain percent, but there
was a ranp-down period in ny Mssouri testinony.

Okay. Do you nmke a ranp-down recommendation in your
Virginia testinony that's pending?

| did, yes.

Was it a 10 percent annual ranp-down?

| don't renmenber if there was a specific percentage or
just a ranp-down period to reach zero by the end of
the contract term

Okay. And | tal ked about any cal cul ati ons in your
rebuttal. |'massumng there's no calculations in
your work as provided that explain or specifically
articulate the reasoning behind the 10 percent

ranp- down?

| thought | just stated that it was because then it
woul d get to zero. The collateral held by the Conpany
woul d get to zero by the end of the term over those
ten years after the -- after they're fully ranped. So

there is no -- you are correct, there is no
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calculation, it just is with the root -- the risk to
remai ni ng ratepayers being reduced because of the

revenue collected therefore it released that same, you

know -- the commensurate | evel of collateral back to
the custoner -- or credit based off of that
col |l ateral .

Okay. So let's nove on in your rebuttal to section A3
here on page 22. And this is credit rating-based
exenmptions. So the credit -- the mninmmcredit
rating you include in your recommendation is at |east
BBB from S&P of Baa3 from Moody's; is that correct?
Yes.

And Baa3 from Moody's, that is -- correct nme if I'm
wrong, my understanding is that is |like the |owest
tier of investnment grade credit that Mody's includes
inits designations; is that right? Lowest tier of

I nvest nent grade --

It is investnent-grade credit.

Okay. VWhat are the mnimumcredit ratings required
for the exenptions under INM | arge custoner tariff?

| don't know, off the top of ny head.

Wul d you -- okay, I'mrealizing | didn't drop the
Ohio -- the INMtariff in the SharePoint, but | wll.
OCkay, | just included in the SharePoint Exhibit

AG 1.12.
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Ckay.

OCkay, so if you kind of control-F for collateral,
that' Il nmake that go nmore quickly. It should. On,
that's right, the SharePoint doesn't have search
functionality, for sone reason. So I'll find the
reference for you here.

Okay, page 8 of 8 in the exhibit.
|"msorry, | don't know why, but I'mnot able to open
t he docunent. |Is there another way --

You probably need to refresh your page or sonething.
Okay.

Because |I'mopening it fromthat SharePoint.

Yeah | -- I"'mstill not -- | don't know what's
happening, |I'msorry.

OCkay. Well, can you try to open the Ohio schedul ed
DCT that's Exhibit AG 1.23?

Ckay.

Ckay. So in that tariff if you scroll down to sheets
2235 t hrough 67

Okay.

And actually on 6, so in nunbered paragraph 2 on page
6, it includes a mninmumcredit rating; do you see

t hat ?

Yes.

And it includes a credit rating of at |east A- from
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S&P and A3 from Moody's, right?
Yes, that's correct.
So that would be sort of a nore restrictive exenption
provision fromthe perspective of custoners than the
one you proposed in your rebuttal testinmony, right?
Correct.
Okay. And you actually recomended -- well, one
second, strike that.

Do you explain in your testinmny why the
BBB S&P or Baa3 Moody's mnimumcredit rating is
appropriate for M chi gan?
It is investor-grade credit. | don't think
specifically said why it is appropriate for M chigan,
but it is -- you know, investor-grade credit is, |
woul d say, a nmeasure of risk, a neasure of a
customer's risk, an investnent grade shows that they
have | ess risk
Is there a difference between -- and do these
custonmers have different risks in different
jurisdictions?
The utilities have different risks in different
jurisdictions, yes.
But these provisions apply to custoners, not the
utilities, right?

Right. Right. But these provisions are there to
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protect the utility and the remai ning ratepayers from
cost shift.

These col |l ateral provisions apply to designations by
the custoners for basically agreenents to pay; am
under standi ng that correctly? This applies to the
custonmers, not utilities, right?

Correct, yes.

Okay.

Yes, that is correct.

Al right. 1s there a difference between an A3 from
Moody's and a Baa3 from Moody's, as far as their
system goes?

Yes.

Vhat is the difference?

| don't know the specifics of the difference, but it
Is a lower credit rating. However, it is still

I nvestment - grade credit.

Ckay. So in -- one second. MWhat mninmumcredit
rating do you propose in your Virginia testinony?
The sanme credit rating as the one at Consuners.

Okay. And if you're |ooking at page 6 of your
testinmony in that case, you have a sinmilar chart to
one you include here where you show Dom nion's
proposal and your recommendation, right?

Correct.
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And in that case, at least as it states here, Dom nion
proposed this BBB-/Baa3 mninumcredit rating for an
exenmption, right?

Correct.

Okay. So in your Mssouri rebuttal testinony, what

m ninmumcredit rating do you propose for an exenption?
So are we talking partial exenption |like | am
recommendi ng i n Consuners' territory? O ful

exenpti on? Because we have two separate
reconmmendations in the Mssouri Evergy case.

Do both refer to a credit rating?

Both do -- no, only the full exenption has a credit
rating of A- from S&P and A3 by Mody's, as well as
liquidity of 10x.

So --

But they would get a full exenption fromcoll ateral.
VWhere in Consuners | am not recomendi ng a ful
exenption from coll ateral

And why aren't you recommending a full exenption from
coll ateral here as you are in Mssouri?

| am agreeing with Evergy's proposal, their
recommendation to have a full exenption, because |I do
believe that very high credit ratings, very high
liquidity custonmers should -- could or should get a

full exenption.
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1 I did not think it was appropriate in

2 Consuners because of the -- because (a), Consuners did
3 not think that that was appropriate for their risk

4 and so | did take that into account. But also there
5 is very -- you know, Consuners has very little to no
6 history with these very large custoners. So | didn't
7 think it would be appropriate fromthe onset to

8 include that. It may be, once they have data to then
9 go and do a risk assessnent.

10 So then if we go back to Mssouri -- testinony in

11 M ssouri and that table on page 6.

12 Yes.

13 Do you reconmend the sanme mininumcredit rating there
14 because that's what -- is what you say here that the
15 utility proposed?

16 That's not a mnimumcredit rating. That's a --

17 that's a -- to get a full exenption they have to have
18 an A- or A3. | did not include any credit rating

19 requirements in the partial exenption which would be
20 nore simlar to Consuners' proposal

21 Okay. And | think I was -- | think I was m sreading
22 which one | was |ooking at. | was | ooking at

23 Virginia's --

24 Oh.

25 | apol ogize for that, |I've got two docunents open, |
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wasn't -- and maybe your answer is simlar --
substantially simlar, but I was just |ooking at in
Virginia, you' re saying Dom nion proposed this

BBB-/ Baa3 and you also included that? But | wll

say --

Yeah.

Okay. Go ahead.

That is the -- in nmy opinion, to get a partial
exenmption, that is the credit rating that should apply
for a large partial exenption. There could be a
reduced partial exenption with other factors. But
they -- | do believe that a custoner should have

I nvestment-grade credit to get a partial exenption of
the collateral.

Okay. And part of this, as well, is a liquidity
conponent -- or strike that.

One second.

JUDGE TALBOT: This seens |like a good tine
to break in. W are getting near 5:00, and you don't
have to wap up, but can we get to a stopping point
soon? Because | prom sed we'd be done by 5:00.

MR. WOLLENZI EN:  Yes.

Can | have a two-m nute -- two m nutes,
your Honor?

JUDGE TALBOT: Sure, we'll go off the
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record for two m nutes.

MR. WOLLENZI EN:  Yeah, thanks.

(OFf the record at 4:39 p.m)

(On the record at 4:47 p.m)

JUDGE TALBOT: All right, so let's go back
only the record. W're back on the record in M chigan
Public Service case No. U-21859.

Go ahead M. Wbl | enzien.

MR. WOLLENZIEN: So previously we were
di scussi ng what was | abel ed in the SharePoi nt as
exhibit AG1.27. At this tinme, | nove for adm ssion
of that document as Exhibit AG1 -- sorry, | nove for
adm ssion of that docunment as Exhibit AG 1.27, | abeled
MNSC- DCC- 2. 1B- (SUPP) _attach_1.

JUDGE TALBOT: Thank you. Any objection to
that the adm ssion of Exhibit 1. -- AG1.27?

Al right, hearing none, it's admtted.

EXH BIT AG 1.27 ADM TTED

4:48 p. m

JUDGE TALBOT: While we were off the
record, we sort of -- | should have probably said this
first. But we set the schedule for kind of what we're
doi ng on Monday. W had all agreed that we woul d
concl ude today by 5:00. Well, | agreed, | guess.

So anything el se before we go off the
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record?
Al'l right, hearing none, we'll go back off
t he record.

(Proceedi ngs adjourned at 4:49 p.m)
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CERTI FI CATE OF REPORTER

STATE OF M CHI GAN)

) SS

COUNTY OF MONRCE )

| hereby certify that | reported
st enographically the foregoing proceedi ngs and
testinony under oath at the tine and pl ace
herei nbefore set forth; that thereafter the sane was
reduced to conputer transcription under ny
supervision; and that this is a full, true, conplete

and correct transcription of said proceedings.

Lei sa Pastor, CSR-3500, CRR
Notary Public
Monroe County, M chigan

My Comm ssion expires: 9/7/2027
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